Genetic Risk Factors of Parkinson's Disease

Thesis submitted as requirement to fulfill the degree "Doctor of Philosophy" (Ph.D.)

at the

Faculty of Medicine Eberhard Karls University Tübingen

> by Lisa Yuan, Wang

> > from

Nanjing, China

Dean:

Professor Dr. I. B. Autenrieth

1. Reviewer:

Dr. M. Sharma Professor Dr. L. Schöls

2. Reviewer

Table of Contents

Chapter 1 Introduction4
Outlook4
History of Disease
Genetics of PD10
Synucleinopathies and tauopathies25
Epidemiology of PD28
Future directions
Chapter 2 Results
Part 1: Large Scale Assessment of Polyglutamine Repeats Expansions in Parkinson's disease 34
Part 2: Evaluation of the interaction between LRRK2 and PARK16 loci in determining risk of
Parkinson's disease: analysis of a large multicenter study46
Part 3: Parkinson's disease and type 1 diabetes – An analysis on 19,864 patients from the DPV
registry
Chapter 3 Discussion
Chapter 4 Summary
English Summary
Chapter 5 Bibliography
Chapter 6 German Summary 116
Chapter 7 Declaration of contribution of others 118
Index of Abbreviations, Tables, Figures
List of Abbreviations
Tables
Figures
Funding
Acknowledgements 121

Chapter 1 Introduction

Outlook

Parkinson's disease (PD) is one of the most common neurodegenerative diseases, second only to Alzheimer's disease (AD) in prevalence. Approximately 1-2% of the population older than 65 years of age are affected, with prevalence reaching 4% by the age of 95 (de Lau and Breteler, 2006). Age adjusted incidence rates are similar between countries of Asian ethnicity versus countries with Caucasian ethnicity (Asian versus Europe and the Americas), while African countries have lower prevalence, adjusted both for mortality and incidence, than in Europe or North and South America (de Lau and Breteler, 2006). As the average age of the population in many developed and developing nations increases, the number of PD cases is also expected to increase dramatically in the next two decades, from approximately four million cases to over nine million cases worldwide (Dorsey et al., 2007).

PD is a heterogeneous disease, both genetically and clinically. Physicians diagnose PD based on a series of clinical characteristics and exclusion criteria as developed by the United Kingdom Brain Bank (UKBB), with the diagnostic criteria focusing on motor symptoms including resting tremor, bradykinesia, and rigidity (Gibb and Lees, 1988). In addition to the motor symptoms, non-motor symptoms such as hyposmia, depression, sleep disorders, and constipation have also proven useful as prodromal symptoms with predictive qualities to determine the progression of PD before the onset of motor symptoms in patients (Witjas et al., 2002, Schrag et al., 2000). The more recent Movement Disorder Society Clinical Diagnostic criteria also increased recognition to non-motor

systems, while maintaining motor parkinsonism as the central feature of the disease (Postuma et al., 2015).

Technological advancements over the last 20 years along with the availability of comprehensive catalogue of genetic variations from multi-ethnic populations available in various publically available data bases such as the HapMap project and the 1000 Genomes project have enabled researchers to decipher the genetic landscape of complex diseases including PD (Lander et al., 2001, Genomes Project et al., 2010, International HapMap, 2005, Simon-Sanchez et al., 2009, Lill, 2016). The development of PCR amplification allowed for the processing of multi-allelic markers to map disease loci in families using linkage-based studies. (Elston, 1998, Singleton et al., 2003). This approach led to successful identification of a number of genes involved in monogenic forms of PD (Shulman et al., 2011). However, monogenetic forms of PD only explain a fraction of PD cases. Out of the diagnosed PD cases, approximately 5-10% of patients develop PD as a result of either autosomal dominant or autosomal recessive forms of PD. In contrast, the development of array based approaches led to start of genome wide association studies (GWAS). GWAS followed an unbiased approach in identifying novel loci for a given phenotype (Mullin and Schapira, 2015). This approach examines a genome-wide set of genetic variants across individuals to identify loci associated with a given trait, successfully leading to the identification novel loci for PD (Lill, 2016). Despite the success of GWAS, the majority of genetic architecture still remains elusive, and thus indicating the complex genetic architecture of PD (Obeso et al., 2017). The thesis presented herein aims to plug this gap by following a multi-dimensional strategy that investigates the complex disease origins of PD.

Scope of the thesis:

The scope of this thesis has three broad sections. The first section, Chapter 1, describes the current status of PD literature, and explores the possible avenues of influence on risk of disease as the literature currently stands. The second section, Chapter 2, presents the original work of the thesis,

the projects undertaken in investigating the varied risk factors of PD, consisting of parts 1, 2, and 3. Part 3 investigated the influence of genes on possible cross-phenotype effect, by investigating the effect of ataxia genes on PD risk. Recent evidence has shown that although the various late-onset neurodegenerative diseases such as ataxias, AD, and PD present with clinically heterogeneous characteristics, for example differential pathogenesis and degeneration of the motor system, they may have common genetic risk factors that influence the predisposition to disease development. Previous clinical and pathologic findings have emphasized the need to evaluate the significance of polyglutamine repeat expansions in PD worldwide (Gwinn-Hardy et al., 2001, Wang et al., 2009). Of particular interest is the possible connection between SCA genes, including SCA2 (ATXN1), SCA3 (ATXN3), SCA6 (CACNA1A), and SCA17 (TBP) and their influence on the probability of developing idiopathic PD (Charles et al., 2007, Furtado et al., 2004, Lim et al., 2006, Kim et al., 2009). Previous studies have screened for SCA2, SCA3, SCA6 and SCA17 genes in cohorts of autosomal dominant PD and identified carriers, suggesting that intermediate repeat structure may influence the clinical variability in autosomal dominant forms of PD and cerebellar ataxia. We address the question of possible risk due to intermediate polyglutamine repeats in idiopathic PD.

Part 2 addresses the influence of genetic interaction by investigating how known PD risk-affecting variants encompassing the LRRK2 and PARk16 loci mediate each other and thus in turn modulate total disease risk. Recent studies have demonstrated a functional interaction between the retromer and lysosomal pathways in PD pathogenesis, and interestingly two genes, namely LRRK2 and RAB7L1 have shown to functionally interact (MacLeod et al., 2013). Studies have also demonstrated that overexpression of the RAB7L1 gene rescues the LRRK2 mutant phenotype, thus suggesting that both RAB7L1 and LRRK2 genes are bound together and functionally interact with each other in regulating neurite length both in vitro and in-vivo (Chuang and Gitler, 2013). Chapter 4 dealt with this issue to understand the impact of interaction in world-wide populations using the tagged single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) encompassing these two loci.

Part 3 of the results investigated the epidemiological interaction between PD and diabetes, a disease of the adaptive immune system. As more is learned about PD pathogenesis, researchers have also found evidence that the neuronal degeneration may result from destructive immune responses. There is a compelling argument that PD pathogenesis is modulated and influenced by the adaptive immune system (Surendranathan et al., 2015). Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus (T1DM) is also characterized by an autoimmune response, thereby destroying the body's capability of insulin production (Singh et al., 2011). Due to the similarities in the two diseases and their relationships to immune dysfunction, we utilized the largest German diabetes database to investigate possible differential disease pathogenesis between T1DM patients with PD and neurologically normal T1DM patients.

History of Disease

Parkinson's disease (PD) was mentioned in medical writings as early as Galen's documents (Larner, 2014). The first unambiguous description of the disease is attributed to James Parkinson, an English doctor who published in 1817 a set of six case studies titled "An Essay on the Shaking Palsy" (Parkinson, 2002). Parkinson characterized the disease of his namesake, describing in detail the abnormal posture, altered gait, paralysis, weakness, and resting tremor observed in his six cases, focusing on the physical manifestation of the disease, with limited hypothesis regarding its origins (Parkinson, 2002). Nonetheless, his seminal essay contains the first definitive expositions about this debilitating neurodegenerative disease. In 1912, Frederic Lewy discovered the common presence of protein bundles in the brains of PD patients, later called "Lewy bodies", advancing the pathological characterization of the disease (Rodrigues e Silva et al., 2010). Later on in 1997, Spillantini, Trojanowski, and Goedert et al found that the main component of Lewy bodies is alpha-synuclein (SNCA), thus bringing our understanding of PD into modern times (Goedert et al., 2017).

PD primarily affects the elderly population, with prevalence at approximately 1-2% for patients older than 65, rising to 4% for patients older than 85 (Brooks, 2012). Mean age of diagnosis is mid 60's, with range of disease diagnosis from the 2nd to the 8th decade (Baumann, 2012). The main pathology of PD is the defining loss of neurons in the substantia nigra pars compacta (SNPc), the reduction in neurons leading to striatal dopamine deficiency (Obeso et al., 2017).

Non-motor symptoms develop first, with degradation of the olfactory system, constipation, and sleep problems. Non-motor symptoms of PD can be grouped into the following categories: neuropsychiatric symptoms, sleep disorders, autonomic symptoms, gastrointestinal symptoms, and sensory symptoms (Chaudhuri et al., 2006). Depression affects up to 45% of PD patients (Schrag et al., 2000). Causes of depression include both disease pathogenesis and psychological reactions due to the progressive debilitation. Excessive daytime sleepiness and disruption of REM sleep is also commonly observed, affecting up to 50% of patients (Schapira, 2004). Most likely, disease

advancement, levodopa therapy, and nighttime sleep disruption together cause the sleep disorders seen in PD patients (Schapira, 2004). Dementia is much more prevalent in PD cases, with patients 6 times more likely to develop dementia than in a healthy population, affecting approximately 40% of patients (Titova et al., 2017b). Constipation, pathologically linked to loss of colonic and central dopaminergic neurons, is a common pro-dromal PD symptom that has been linked to PD prediction (Singaram et al., 1995). Hyposmia, the most common prodromal symptom affecting up to 90% of patients, also increases the risk of a person receiving a PD diagnosis within 2 years follow-up (Lee and Koh, 2015).

Further neuronal degeneration causes the characteristic motor symptoms of bradykniesia, rigidity, and resting tremor (Gelb et al., 1999). Bradykinesia is strongly correlated with dopamine deficiency and is strongly related to basal ganglia disorders (Berardelli et al., 2001, Vingerhoets et al., 1997). Rigidity, defined as stiff or inflexible muscles, is another primary motor symptom, manifesting itself by severely limiting movement such as turning or standing from a seated position, or causing a fixed or mask-like facial expression. Often initially appearing as a stiff shoulder, the increased resistance that characterizes rigidity goes on to also affect locomotion and axial coordination of the trunk. A prospective study of 6038 persons (mean age 68.5) found a hazard ratio of 2.11 relating the presence of stiffness to the risk of developing PD (de Lau et al., 2006). Resting tremors in PD are characterized by unilateral onset in the fingers at a frequency between 4 and 6 Hz, and progression to bilateral symptoms as disease progresses. In a prospective study with autopsy proven disease, 100% of autopsy certified patients at some point also experienced tremors (Rajput et al., 1991). In another study, Hughes et al found that 69% of patients exhibited resting tremor at point of disease onset, and 75% of patients experienced the symptom at some point over the course of the disease (Hughes et al., 1993). Response to levodopa treatment is the third tenet of PD characterization, a defining trait of PD and used in the determination of disease (Baumann, 2012).

Parkinson's disease staging system

The traditional staging system of PD as laid out by the United Kingdom Brain Bank (UKBB) diagnostic criteria focuses on the motor symptoms of PD (Gibb and Lees, 1988). The important indications of PD include pathological degeneration of the projection neurons of the substantia nigra pars compacta. The disease progression of idiopatic PD is well-documented, with well-defined induction sites that develop in a predicable sequence (Gibb and Lees, 1988). The traditional disease pathogenesis with on-set characterized by degeneration of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra has been challenged by Braak and colleagues, who developed from autopsy studies a PD pathogenesis trajectory composed of a six-stage process with clearly defined induction sites of Lewybody formation (Braak et al., 2002, Braak et al., 2003), with full manifestation of the motor symptoms occurring in the last two stages, and pre-motor symptoms dominating in the initial staging. Diagnosis of idiopathic PD is relatively accurate when using the conventional criteria of asymmetrical onset of akinesia rigidity and tremor in conjunction with lack of atypical symptoms (93%) (Hughes et al., 1993). However, atypical features such as several early dementia, lack of response to levodopa, confusion, or early autonomic degeneration was also found in 12% of autopsy confirmed idiopathic PD cases (Hughes et al., 1992)

Genetics of PD

Twin Studies

Twin and familial studies allowed for the studying of both shared genetic or environmental components prior to the "genomics era". Monozygotic twins share complete genetic information while dizyogtic twins share approximately 50% of their genetic information (Wirdefeldt et al., 2011b). Because both types of twins share environmental and familial factors, one can differentiate between the genetic inheritability of the disease versus the influence of environmental factors on the disease. Twin studies compare the concordance rates in monozygotic versus dizygotic twins; a higher rate of concordance in monozygotic twins demonstrates a genetic component to the disease. While cross-sectional twin studies did not demonstrate different concordance rates by zygosity in

normal onset PD cases, several studies including the National Academy of Sciences/National Research Council World War II veteran twin registry and the Swedish Twin Registry found increased concordance rates in early (before age 50) onset (Wirdefeldt et al., 2011b). A prospective longitudinal study by Mayo Clinic Rochester also followed monozygotic and dizygotic twin pairs for clinical PD and found evidence suggesting a substantial role in inheritance in sporadic PD (Piccini et al., 1999).

Autosomal dominant forms of PD

SNCA (PARK1)

The first autosomal-dominant gene, SNCA, was discovered in 1997 in 4 separate families of Greek and Italian/American origins (Polymeropoulos et al., 1997). All families presented with autosomaldominant mode of inheritance. Since then, a number of families have been identified across different populations, which led to the identification of additional missense mutations. The SNCA mutations (A53T, A30P, E46K, G51D, H50Q, and A53E), located the long arm of chromosome 4q21 (Kalinderi et al., 2016).

The different SNCA missense mutations present with a wide range of clinical symptoms, from classical PD to atypical PD including severe autonomic dysfunction and dementia in addition to Parkinsonism (Kalinderi et al., 2016). Phenotypes also differentiate by mutations. The A53T mutation typically presenting with earlier age of onset and rapid progression in addition to high prevalence of psychiatric and dementia symptoms (Goedert, 2001). The A30P mutation is associated with milder disease and later age of onset (Kruger et al., 1998). The E46K mutation presents with a phenotype more typical of diffuse Lewy body (DLB) disease (Zarranz et al., 2004). A dosage effect has also been demonstrated in the mutation, with duplicates and triplicates showing earlier age of onset, more rapid disease progression, and a higher prevalence of dementia (Singleton et al., 2003, Chartier-Harlin et al., 2004). SNCA triplicates experience on average ~10 year earlier age of onset as opposed SNCA duplicates (Lill et al., 2016).

SNCA is the main component of Lewy bodies, which are one of the characeristic neuropathological biomarkers of PD (Goedert, 2001). Additionally, glial cytoplasmic inclusions as observed in multiple system atrophy (MSA) have also been shown to be strongly immunoreactive for alpha-synuclein (Goedert, 2001). It is hypothesized that aggregation of the protein plays an important role in the neurodegeneration seen in Lewy body diseases and MSA. Mitochrondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress has also been associated with mutations in SNCA gene (Smith et al., 2005).

The concentration of alpha-synuclein increases with the number of replicates of the gene: duplicates present with 150% concentration of the protein, while triplicates present with 200% concentration of the protein (Farrer et al., 2004). Point mutations of SNCA appear to lead to increased aggregation behavior of the proteins (Conway et al., 1998). Synuclein expression has also been found to be substantially increased in PD patients versus neurologically normal patients, with one study recording levels of on average 4 times in PD patients despite substantial loss and degeneration of the substantia nigra (Chiba-Falek et al., 2006). The development of alpha-synuclein filaments has been hypothesized to be both necessary and sufficient for dopamine nerve cell degeneration, a defining pathology of PD (Goedert, 2001).

LRRK2 (PARK8)

The second autosomal dominant gene discovered was LRRK2 (leucine-rich repeat kinase 2). Appearing with much higher frequencies than SNCA, the gene has 6 confirmed highly penetrant pathogenic mutations (R1441C, R1441G, R1441H, Y1699C, G2019S, and I2020T) (Healy et al., 2008a, Healy et al., 2008b). The LRRK2 protein encodes a large multi-domain protein containing guanosine triphosphatase (GTPase), kinase, and protein-protein interaction domains (Zimprich et al., 2004). While the exact function is not known, emerging evidence indicates that it plays a role in the intracellular signaling pathways and vesicle formation and transport (Tan et al., 2007). Widely expressed throughout the brain and other systems, it has also been the subject of many functional

and genetic interaction studies that have investigated the synergistic interaction between itself and the PARK16 locus (Chuang and Gitler, 2013, MacLeod et al., 2013). LRRK2 appears with higher frequency than SNCA, with the G2019S mutation exhibiting frequency of up to 20% in Ashkenazi Jews and 40% in North African Arabs (Healy et al., 2008a). Average frequencies range between 5-15% in familial cases and approximately 1% in the general Caucasian population (Berg et al., 2005). Penetrance in general is considered moderate due to the large number of neurologically normal individuals with the mutation.

The G2019S mutation is of particular interest within the LRRK2 loci. It is the most common genetic risk factor to date identified for PD (Bouhouche et al., 2017). The G2019S mutation is defined by its high penetrance, between 30% to 70% in certain familial populations (Li et al., 2015, Goldwurm et al., 2007). In the African Berber population, where a recent study found the prevalence among autosomal dominant patients at 76% and up to 28% within sporadic patients, the clinical phenotype of the disease was marked by less severe tremor but higher degree of dystonia and dyskinesia and sleep disturbances (Bouhouche et al., 2017). The clinical phenotype from the Moroccan study are in line with findings in other clinical studies of LRRK2 associated PD (Pont-Sunyer et al., 2017).

Two Asian population-specific LRRK2 mutations have also been identified: G2385R and R1628P (Di Fonzo et al., 2006, Ross et al., 2008). The clinical phenotype of LRRK2 patients is typical for lateonset PD, with average age of onset of 59 with predominant symptom of tremor (Zimprich et al., 2004, Berg et al., 2005). While individual cases present non-differentially from sporadic idiopathic PD cases, LRRK2 PD cases as a whole trend towards less severe disease pathogenesis and lower rates of dementia and psychiatric symptoms (Berg et al., 2005). The G2019S kinase mutation, the most common mutation of the LRRK2 domain, is at the activation segment of the MAPKKK domain of LRRK2; thus mutations in G2019S alter the kinase activity of LRRK2 (Smith et al., 2006). Mutant LRRK2 is neuronally toxic and has been clinically shown to lead to neural degeneration (Smith et al., 2006).

EIF4G1 (PARK18)

Genome-wide analysis of a multi-incident autosomal-dominant PD family led to the discovery of a missense mutation (R1205H) in eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4-gammon (EIF4G1) (Chartier-Harlin et al., 2011). Linkage and disease segregation followed by sequencing and genotype analysis differentially identified 6 different missense mutations in affected patients with familial Parkinson's disease and idiopathic Lewy body disease versus none in control patients. Disease pathogenesis appears to be related to increased vulnerability of mutant cells to oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction under duress. Further studies have found EIF4G1 to be a very rare cause of PD, and a large scale study in European cohorts found it to be a benign variant, neither a common nor high-risk locus for Parkinson's disease (Huttenlocher et al., 2015).

VPS35 (PARK17)

Vacuolar protein sorting 35 (VPS35) is an autosomal dominant PD gene discovered using wholeexome sequencing (WES) (Vilarino-Guell et al., 2011, Zimprich et al., 2011). Two groups both positively identified a mutation (D620N) in an Austrian and a Swiss kindred and it has been confirmed by additional independent datasets that the D620N mutation of the VPS35 gene is a causal autosomal dominant PD gene (Lill, 2016). The VPS35 protein functions as part of the retrograde transport of proteins from endosomes to the trans-Golgi network. Furthermore, VPS35 has been found to be active in the dopamine signaling pathway, interaction with the dopamine receptor D1 (Tian et al., 2015, Tang et al., 2015b). Accounting for approximately 1% of PD cases worldwide, the clinical profile of VPS35 patients resembles typical sporadic idiopathic PD patients, with average age of onset of 53 years and low rates of psychiatric and dementia symptoms in the disease pathogenesis.

DNJAC13 (PARK21)

Exome analysis within a large North American family identified the DNJAC13 mutation. The mutation was observed in all case family members of the identifying family, and further genotype analysis in a

multi-ethnic case control series also identified the mutation in cases (Vilarino-Guell et al., 2014). Carriers present with late age of onset and common motor symptoms (Rajput et al., 2015). Pathological studies showed staining consistent with LB disease. Preliminary functional analysis suggests that the mutation leads to difficulties in endosomal and retromer trafficking, a common theme among PD risk-mutations (Vilarino-Guell et al., 2014).

CHCHD2 (PARK22)

A genome wide linkage analysis followed by next-generation sequencing on a Japanese family with 8 affected individuals and 5 unaffected individuals identified the coiled-coil-helix-coiled-coil-helix domain containing 2 (CHCHD2) mutation (Funayama et al., 2015). Patients presented with late-onset autosomal dominant PD and typical parkinsonian symptoms. CHCHD2 mutations are associated with autosomal dominant PD (Funayama et al., 2015). CHCHD2 belongs to a protein family with small proteins that localize in the mitochondrial intermembrane space and are involved in mitochondrial respiration. Disruptions of the CHCHD2 gene results cause disruptions in mitochondrial respiration and oxidative activity (Funayama et al., 2015). However, functional studies are needed to understand the pathophysiology of CHCHD2 mutations within PD, and genetic studies in other populations are also need to confirm the results.

TMEM230

Transmembrane protein 230 (TMEM230) is the most recent autosomal-dominant gene discovered is TMEM230. The controversy surrounding it exemplifies the complexity of disentangling the genetic architecture of PD. A recent study in 2016 identified a novel missense variant in TMEM230 within a family with northern European ancestry located in North America, a gene that encodes a primarily transmembrane protein that localizes in synaptic vesicles (Deng et al., 2016). The same family was also used for the identification of DNAJC13 (Olszewska et al., 2016). TMEM230 signal was also found

to overlap with VPS35 signal, indicating that perhaps VPS35 and TMEM230 share a pathogenic pathway that results in defective synaptic vesicle transport. However, the results have not been reproduced since the original study in several large European and Chinese ancestry population studies with sporadic PD cases (Ibanez et al., 2017, Yan et al., 2017, Giri et al., 2017). Further studies are needed to determine the validity of TMEM230 gene, but the evidence thus far does not support the conclusion that it is a disease-causing mutation.

Autosomal Recessive Inheritance

PARKIN (PARK2)

PARKIN was first identified in Japanese families. Its subsequent mapping led to the identification of gene and has been shown to cause autosomal recessive PD cases. The protein PARKIN is an ubiquitin E3 ligase that interacts with the ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes E2s to mark proteins for autophagy (Shimura et al., 2000). Mutations (including A574G, A633T, C823T, G235T, G500A, C718T, C1319T), including deletions, insertions, and point mutations disrupt the function of the protein, causing loss of function of the catalytic activity of the parkin protein (Dawson and Dawson, 2014, Foroud et al., 2003). PARKIN is the most common cause of early onset PD, with average age of onset at 32 years for the Caucasian population and accounting for 50% of familial autosomal recessive early onset cases younger than 50 years of age (Periquet et al., 2003). It accounts for 0.4-0.7% of all non-familial PD cases in general. Prevalence of the PARKIN mutation in cases with onset younger than 25 years has been observed to up to 50%, while prevalence in the age category 30-45 years is observed to be 3-7% (Periquet et al., 2003, Bonifati et al., 2001). The mutation has been observed in sporadic cases as well as familial cases, and penetrance is observed to be 100% for homozygous carriers or compound heterozygous. First observed in a cohort of Japanese families with early-onset autosomal recessive PD, it has since then been seen in sporadic patients and in populations from all ethnic origins (Hattori et al., 1998).

PARKIN was first discovered in European and North African families with autosomal recessive juvenile parkinsonism (Lucking et al., 2000), and the majority of PARKIN mutations have been found in the early onset or juvenile cohort early on. However, subsequent studies have discovered that the heterozygous mutations of PARKIN in normal age on of onset patients and families with pseudodominant inheritance patterns (Sun et al., 2006). Thus, the current range of age of onset for PARKIN mutations now range from juvenile to post-70 years of age (Sun et al., 2006). New evidence suggests that homozygous and multiple heterozygous mutations result in early onset PD whereas single heterozygous mutations result in increased risk of late-onset PD (Sun et al., 2006). It has also been observed that there is a high frequency of heterozygous mutations in the general population (Klein et al., 2007). While their role as risk factors is less clear, it is hypothesized that effect of heterozygous mutations on conferring PD phenotype is a result of interactions with other genetic, epigenetic, and environmental factors (Klein et al., 2007).

PINK1 (PARK6)

PINK1 (PTEN-induced kinase 1) is another autosomal recessive PD gene. First discovered in two Italian and one Spanish family, it was subsequently found to have prevalence rates between 0.5-9% in the general population, and 3.7% in early onset PD (<50 years of age) (Valente et al., 2004, Valente et al., 2001). Autosomal recessive mutations include G309D, W437X, and L347P (Beilina et al., 2005).

The clinical profile of PINK1 is similar to that of homozygous PARKIN, with earlier onset paired with slower disease progression (Bonifati et al., 2005, Li et al., 2005). Heterozygous mutations of PINK1 (such as A339T, Y431H, N451S, C575R) showed a similar clinical profile to idiopathic PD regarding age of onset, asymmetrical motor degeneration, and L-dopa responsive (Gandhi et al., 2006). PINK1 patients, however, show increased incidences of psychiatric disorders such as anxiety and depression (Bonifati, 2012).

The pathology of PINK1 cases is relatively unestablished, however, Lewy bodies typical for PD was found in the few cases that were investigated (Gandhi et al., 2006). The PINK1 protein is found in the mitochondrial membranes of cells across all organ systems, not just limited to the brain, and it plays a role in the mitochondrial response to cellular and oxidative stress and mitochondrial quality control (Valente et al., 2004). Mutations and deletions to the gene decreases the functional ability of the protein. Like PARKIN, PINK1 has highly penetrant, with homozygous and compound heterozygous mutation carriers showing 100% penetrance (Li et al., 2005).

DJ1 (PARK7)

DJ1 is an autosomal recessive gene identified using kindred families (one Dutch and one Italian family)(Bonifati et al., 2003). It accounts for 0.4% of early onset cases (<50 years), and shows similar disease pathogenesis profile to PINK1 and PARKIN (Bandopadhyay et al., 2004). Unlike PARKIN and PINK1, it is theorized that DJ1 is involved in the mechanism to protect neurons from oxidative stress (Takahashi-Niki et al., 2004). Originally identified through a point mutation and a large deletion (both homozygous), the list of known DJ1 mutations now comprise of several splice-site mutations, missense mutations and exonic deletions (Schulte and Gasser, 2011, Abou-Sleiman et al., 2003). The phenotype for DJ1 patients is similar to other autosomal recessive disease pathogenesis, with earlier than average onset (20-40 years) and slower progression (Bonifati et al., 2003, van Duijn et al., 2001). Some patients have also presented with more psychiatric symptoms, shorter stature, and brachydactyly, and one family in addition presented with dementia and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (AML) (Annesi et al., 2005).

ATP13A2 (PARK9)

This mutation related to juvenile onset Parkinsonism was first found in a Jordanian consanguineous family with Kufor-Rakeb disease (PARK9) with Parkinsonism and dystonia (Najim al-Din et al., 1994). Further studies used linkage analysis to confirm the mutation in a pedigree from Chile (Ramirez et al., 2006). A study with 46 patients with juvenile onset familial or sporadic PD also confirmed the

findings and discovered additional novel missense mutations of the same coding region (Di Fonzo et al., 2007). The ATP13A2 gene encodes a lysosomal protein active in the family of transmembrane active transporters (Di Fonzo et al., 2007). There is increasing evidence of the importance of lysosomes and cellular waste transport, in particular of alpha-synuclein, in playing a central role in PD pathogenesis and etiology (Ramirez et al., 2006).

FBX07 (PARK15)

Mutations in the F-box only protein 7 (FBXO7) gene causes autosomal recessive juvenile onset Parkinsonism with pyramidal disturbance (PARK15) (Bonifati, 2012). The mutation of the gene was characterized using a Dutch and an Italian family, and the protein isoforms were confirmed to be differentially expressed between affected PARK15 patients and WT proteins (Di Fonzo et al., 2009). Age of onset was in the teenage years, and patients presented with classic motor symptoms in additional to dysphagia and slowed saccades that responded to levodopa treatment (Di Fonzo et al., 2009). Functionally, it has been demonstrated that FBXO7 mutations disrupts mitophagy, leading to toxic aggregation of the FBXO7 protein in the mitochondria and decreasing cellular (and dopaminergic cellular) viability (Zhou et al., 2015).

DNAJC6 (PARK19)

DNAJC6 is an autosomal recessive PD gene also discovered using WES methods on two symptomatic brothers from a consanguineous family in Palestine (Elsayed et al., 2016, Edvardson et al., 2012). Additional familial studies found the mutation in 2 other juvenile onset families, confirming the mutation (Elsayed et al., 2016). Average age of onset for DNAJC6 PD patients with atypical symptoms is 10 years from the 7 cases across 3 families (range 7-11), while carriers of DNAJC6 mutations with typical PD symptoms had an average age of onset of 31 years (Koroglu et al., 2013, Olgiati et al., 2016). It is hypothesized that DNAJC6 encodes a protein auxilin that is important for vesicle trafficking, thus suggesting that PD pathology is strongly affected by this cellular mechanism(Eisenberg and Greene, 2007).

SYNJ1 (PARK20)

This novel missense mutation in SYNJ1 is the most recent discovery of an autosomal recessive gene causing Parkinsonism. It has been reported in Italian, Iranian, and Indian consanguineous families with autosomal recessive juvenile Parkinsonism (Quadri et al., 2013, Krebs et al., 2013, Kirola et al., 2016). While the mutations are rare, the mutation discovered in the Indian family was absent in 570 additional PD samples, the gene is highly conserved across species and missense mutations are highly damaging. SYNJ1 encodes a phosphatase highly expressed in brain nerve terminals and facilitates endocytosis in the adult brain; it also interacts with proteins responsible for signaling, actin nucleations, and synaptic vesicle recycling (Kirola et al., 2016). It has also been implicated in Alzheimer's disease and Down syndrome, with higher levels reported in patient brains versus healthy controls (Voronov et al., 2008, McIntire et al., 2012).

VPS13C (PARK23)

VPS13C is an autosomal recessive early-onset PD gene that is associated with early-onset parkinsonism defined by severe disease with rapid disease progression and cognitive decline (Lesage et al., 2016). It was first discovered using whole-exome sequencing in conjunction with whole-exome linkage mapping using a patient population with early-onset non-familial and familial PD across European, North African, Turkish, and Lebanese origins (Lesage et al., 2016). The three subjects in which the mutation was discovered all presented with Levodopa-responsive parkinsonism marked by accelerated degeneration. Disease pathology also showed Lewy body disease in the brain. The VPS13C silencing mutation is associated with changes to the mitochondrial function, namely decreased membrane potential, increased mitochondrial fragmentation, and increased cellular respiration (Lesage et al., 2016).

Candidate gene studies

Discovery of the aforementioned genes occurred through a variety of different genetic methods, in step with the technological status of genetic studies at a given time. The earliest of the genetic

studies used the candidate gene approach. Candidate gene studies use preselected groups of genes in case-control studies to determine if there exists correlation between the gene(s) and the disease factor. This early genetic study design identified the first set of risk genes, including variants in SNCA, LRRK2, MAPT (microtubule-associated protein tau). More recently, glucocerebrosidase (GBA) mutations linked to PD were also identified after noting the presence of parkinsonism in a cohort of Gaucher's disease patients (Lwin et al., 2004, Bembi et al., 2003). SNCA was first studied via the candidate gene approach after its discovery as a risk variant in the early familial studies (Kruger et al., 1998).

Multiple candidate gene studies confirmed the significant correlation between SNCA and PD, and studies have shown that multiple single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) spanning the SNCA gene are significantly involved with association (Kruger et al., 1998). The majority of SNCA studies focused on Rep1, a multi-allelic polymorphism located upstream from the SNCA transcription starting point. German and Japanese groups confirmed SNCA as a risk gene in respective candidate gene studies and also showed found associations for the same SNP rs356165 across their different ethnic populations respectively (Mueller et al., 2005, Mizuta et al., 2006), and Soldner et al found in 2016 that the transcriptional deregulation of SNCA is related to the neurotranscription factors EMX2 and NKX6-1 (Soldner et al., 2016). SNCA has been confirmed and established as a risk gene with numerous candidate gene studies following its original discovery.

A missense mutation in LRRK2 in an autosomal dominant Japanese family first indicated that it is a potential risk gene for PD (Funayama et al., 2005). Candidate gene sequencing also confirmed the findings in German-Canadian and American family (Zimprich et al., 2004). In 2009, LRRK2 candidate gene studies in Asian populations identified one of the strongest risk variants p.G2385R (rs3477838348) (Webber and West, 2009). Later studies found non-overlapping variants in Caucasian cohorts, although further GWA studies did not present strong statistical support (Healy et al., 2008b). More recently, studies using patients with G2019S mutations have identified common

genes for future candidate studies (Liu et al., 2011). LRRK2 is one of the most established PD risk genes, and has also become a gene of interest in genetic interaction studies, with the recent investigations by Macleod et al, and also by this thesis, into the functional and statistical interaction between PARK16 and LRRK2.

MAPT, a gene that encodes the microtubule associated protein tau was also discovered using candidate gene studies (Lill, 2016). Several neurodegenerative diseases, including "tauopathies", named as such due to the presence of tau inclusions in the diseased brain (Alzheimer's disease, progressive supranuclear palsy, corticobasal degeneration, and frontotemporal dementia) and PD, show increased concentration and deposits of intraneuronal hyperphosphorylated tau (Schulte and Gasser, 2011). The mutation only affects Caucasian populations, due to the existence of two haplotypes H1 and H2, where the primary haplotype H1 associated with PD risk is found only in Caucasians (Kwok et al., 2004). While MAPT has not been shown to be a monogenic cause of PD, genetic causality between frontotemporal dementia-17 (FTD-17) and MAPT has been demonstrated (van der Zee et al., 2006).

Candidate gene studies also identified GBA, the gene that encodes the enzyme glucocerebrosidase as PD risk variant. First noted as a candidate gene due to the increased incidence of PD in families with cases of type 1 Gaucher disease, clinicians discovered that certain mutations in GBA increases risk for PD (Bembi et al., 2003). Following meta-analysis studies also found that rare GBA variants were also risk factors for sporadic PD (Aharon-Peretz et al., 2004, Sidransky et al., 2009). The GBA mutation N370S is the one most commonly observed in PD, leading to a 3 fold risk of developing PD per allele (Schapira, 2015). The L144P mutation has also been observed in multiple cohorts, replicated in a Chinese and in French-Canadian cohort. Patients with GBA mutations show the typical clinical profile of PD, with also comparable age of onsets to the general patient population. It is hypothesized that degenerate lysosomal function due to GBA mutations may lead to SNCA aggegration and Lewy body formation, thus resulting in Parkinsonism and cognitive degeneration

(Mazzulli et al., 2011, Tsuang et al., 2012, Yap et al., 2013). While Gaucher's disease is an autosomalrecessive disorder caused by defective mutations in both copies of GBA alleles, the familial PD and autosomal-dominant PD cases carried one healthy GBA allele. This is in line with recently studies that show that a partial loss of function of the GBA mutation is causally related to PD development (Alcalay et al., 2014). Of note, the GBA mutations associated with Parkinson's are not observed in Gaucher disease patients, one hypothesized explanation is that the mutations are homozygous embryionically lethal, and thus only observed in PD cases with one functioning gene (Petrucci et al., 2014).

Candidate gene studies successfully identified the first set of PD risk variants. However, the studies also had a high rate of false positives when the genes were further investigated inside of GWAS studies. Many findings from the over 800 studies were later found to be false positives from GWAS studies. Candidate gene studies were limited by lack of power, bias from the patient cohort, and inappropriate statistical significance thresholds. Therefore, while candidate gene studies were able to successfully identify four major genetic risk genes, the usage of GWAS studies opened the doors to a deeper and more accurate understanding of the genetic landscape of PD.

GWAS

The genetic understanding of PD developed in step with the advancement of genotyping technology and analysis methods. The foundational projects of the human genome mapping provided the genetic maps necessary to design powerful, high resolution microarrays (Kalinderi et al., 2016). As of today, the most recent and largest GWAS PD study confirmed 26 PD risk loci, with moderate odds ratios ranging from 1.10 to 1.82 (Deng et al., 2017). GWA studies have been extremely useful in confirming and establishing previously identified SNPs of interest from candidate gene studies.

The previously discovered SNCA, LRRK2, MAPT, and GBA genes have all also been confirmed across the GWA studies (Lill et al., 2012). For SNCA, two independent SNPs were identified recently, one in the promoter region of the gene (rs7681154) and a more significant SNP approximately ~19 kb

downstream from SNCA (rs356182) (Pihlstrom et al., 2015, Mueller et al., 2005). The most recent GWAS found that the increased odds ratio for SNCA to be around 1.30 (Nalls et al., 2014), and SNCA as a risk factor has been consistently validated by GWAS studies (Lill, 2016).

GWAS also identified two rarer additional variants for GBA (minor allele frequency (MAF) is ~0.01) (Sidransky et al., 2009). One other important finding recently associated the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) region with PD risk, thus suggesting for the first time through genetic evidence that the immune system plays a pathogenic role in PD disease development and progression (McGeer and McGeer, 2011, Little et al., 2016). Lastly, GWAS recently also found a correlation between PD risk and a variant in intron 1 of GCH1, a known causative gene for levodopa-responsive parkinsonism (Mencacci et al., 2014). It also been demonstrated to have an effect across different ethnicities.

More recently, a group of Chinese researchers found rare GTP cyclohydrolase (GCH1) heterozygous variants with a risk association with PD (Xu et al., 2017). They identified 7 rare heterozygous variants (R57Q, S77C, S80N, M137V, R198Q, G203E, and G232D) in the GCH1 gene. The GCH1 gene is implicated in interactions with proteins within the same biosystem as PD; but more research is needed to understand the functionality and genotype-phenotype pathways.

The non-candidate-driven phenotypic approach of GWAS allows for the discovery of completely novel variants, as opposed to previous candidate-gene studies (Obeso et al., 2017). While GWAS studies have been instrumental in the confirmation and identification of new variants and SNPs in known regions of interest, there are still limitations to the study designs. GWAS require genotype imputation to estimate genotypes or genotype probabilities at markers that are not directly processed by a GWAS. Thus, by using a reference panel such as the 1000 Genomes project or the International HapMap Project or more densely sequencing only a subset of study participants as examples of complete genotypes, genotype imputations are utilized to include coverage of genotypes at positions not assayed in study samples and increase the proportion of common markers between different datasets (Martin et al., 2014). However, imputation also limits GWAS

studies from identifying rare, high-risk variants since it relies on finding shared haplotype segments between study participants. Another point of difficulty regarding GWAS is that the signals found tend to cover a relatively large region that includes many correlated SNPs, and thus it is difficult to tease out the pathogenic SNP from the region of interest identified by the studies.

GWAS has also been commonly used to identify and confirm susceptibility loci in AD (Bertram, 2009). The GWAS results have not been very consistent in validating previously discovered genes, with the exception of the ε 4-allele of the apolipoprotein E gene (*APOE*) (Bertram and Tanzi, 2009). Until now, GWAS studies in AD have identified 23 risk loci (Lambert et al., 2013). The low degree of penetrance and diffuse findings suggest that sporadic late-onset AD has a complicated genetic architecture with many low-risk common alleles.

Next generation sequencing, including WES and whole-genome sequencing (WGS), are able to better grapple with rare variants and address many of the short comings of GWAS in identifying rare, highrisk variants (Bras et al., 2012). In particular. Whole genome studies provide increased coverage and reduces bias due to fewer amplification steps, and is given the current methods, the optimal method of identification of rare, high-risk variants (Jansen et al., 2017). It is our best method moving forward for discovering new genetic defects, although GWAS studies and candidate based exome-chip studies are still useful for the right questions, and much less resource-intensive.

Synucleinopathies and tauopathies

PD belongs to a larger diverse group of neurodegenerative proteinopathies defined by the presence of alpha-synuclein lesion formation. The major pathological characteristic of alpha-synucleinopathies (AS) is the presence of AS-positive lesions in the neuronal and glial cells. The protein was first discovered to be related to PD in 1998, when Spillantini et al. demonstrated that Lewy bodies, one of the defining histological traits of PD, displayed high immunoreactivity for AS (Goedert et al.,

2017). Additional studies demonstrated that Lewy bodies and Lewy body filaments obtained from PD patients also tested positive for alpha-synuclein through antibody staining. Lewy body formation without symptoms, believed to be prodromal for diseases with Lewy bodies, is observed in 5-10% of the generation population over 60 years of age (Gibb and Lees, 1988, Forno, 1969). Thus, the prevalence of neurodegenerative diseases correlated to alpha-synuclein is quite high in the elderly population and in neurodegenerative diseases, representing a significant disease burden.

MSA

MSA is another neurodegenerative disease characterized by alpha-synuclein deposits. However, the deposits in MSA are not Lewy bodies. Instead, the defining pathological features are alpha-synuclein-immunoreactive filamentous lesion deposits in primarily glial cells (Fellner and Stefanova, 2013). It is characterized by a diverse set of extrapyramidal, pyramidal, autonomic, and cerebellar symptoms, with parkinsonism seen in almost all patients as disease progresses (Jellinger, 2003). Genetic associations have been reported between MSA and alpha-synuclein, in particular with the cerebellar subtype of MSA (Al-Chalabi et al., 2009). GWAS failed to identify any genome wide significant risk loci but did find several regions of interest including SNPs in MAPT, FBXO47, EDN1, and ELOVL7 (Sailer et al., 2016).

Tauopathy

While alpha-synuclein is the primary protein associated with PD, the tau protein also features prominently in neurodegenerative diseases such as AD, CBD, Pick's disease (PiD), and FTD (Goedert, 2004). Tau is a protein that assists in the stabilization and assembly of microtubules. Commonly found on the axons of nerve cells, it also appears in diseased brains on cell bodies and dendrites. AD, the most prevalent neurodegenerative disease, is defined by the presence of beta-amyloid neuritic plaques and intraneuronal neurofibrillary lesions comprised of tau proteins (Hernandez and Avila, 2007). Tau lesions without the presence of beta-amyloid plaques are also the defining characteristic

of other neurodegenerative diseases such as progressive surpranuclear palsy (PSP), Pick's disease (PiD), and corticobasal degeneration (CBD) (Lee et al., 2001).

CBD is a neurodegenerative disorder, characterized by adult-onset, progressive disease pathogenesis, and marked neuronal achromasia, that affects the cerebral cortex, substantia nigra, and deep cerebellar nuclei (Goedert, 2004). Affected regions feature high concentrations of glia and neuronal intracytoplasmic filamentous tau deposits. One of the defining features of CBD is the extensive presence within the cortical and subcortical areas of tau-immunoreactive neuropil filaments. PSP is a related disease of CBD; both diseases display similar biochemical tau profiles. PSP is characterized by the symptoms of postural instability and supranuclear gaze palsy (Goedert, 2004). Its neurological disease profile includes neuronal atrophy, gliosis, and degradation of the basal ganglia, subthalamus, and brainstem. Genetic studies have demonstrated substantial correlation between the two diseases and the same A0 allele of the tau gene (Soto-Ortolaza and Ross, 2016). In particular, GWAS studies have identified shared variants between PSP and CBD in the myelin-associated oligodendrocyte basic protein (MOBP) and MAPT loci (Kouri et al., 2015). Given the similar biochemical profile and genetic correlation, it is possible that the two diseases are actually different physical manifestations of the same neurological disease pathogenesis (Soto-Ortolaza and Ross, 2016).

PiD is a variant of FTD, and is defined by the appearance of tau-immunoreactive Pick bodies (Goedert et al., 2001). The neurological disease pathogenesis is characterized by degradation of the frontotemporal lobes and the limbic system, with neuronal loss, gliosis, spongiosis, and Pick bodies. The tau found in PiD exhibits a different biochemical profile from the tau protein found in AD, CBD, and PSP (Lee et al., 2001).

The last group of tauopathies discussed is FTDP-17 with parkinsonism. Comprised of autosomaldominant neurodegenerative diseases that all present with extensive tau filaments in nerve cells and in some cases also glial cells, the disease family is linked to a series of mutations in the same region

of chromosome 17 (Foster et al., 1997). Depending on the site of the disease burden in the brain, patients present with different syndromes and disease phenotypes of FTDP-17. However, all FTDP-17 syndromes present with neuronal atrophy in the affected area and extensive hyperphosphorylated tau filament pathology in neuronal and also possibly glial cells (Foster et al., 1997). This develops phenotypically with progressive degeneration of cognitive, motor, and executive neuronal functions. A GWA study for FTD identified risk variants in the HLA locus across entire and a new locus at RAB36/CTSC (related to lysosomal biology) in the FTD behavioral subtype (Ferrari et al., 2014).

Epidemiology of PD

MPTP

Langston and colleagues established in 1983 that 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetra hydropyridine (MPTP) breaks down in the body into a pre-parkinsonian molecule, 1-methyl-4-phenyl pyridnium (MPP⁺), and resulted in chronic parkinsonism and dopaminergic neural degeneration(Langston and Ballard, 1984). Furthermore, drug addicts accidentally injected with MPTP, a by-product of meperidine synthesis, showed clinical symptoms and pathology in-line with PD(Davis et al., 1979). Environmental epidemiology has also linked the pesticide paraquat and Maneb, containing a chemical structured similar to MPTP, with PD (Desplats et al., 2012). The majority of the epidemiological pesticide studies treat exposure as a dichotomous variable; with most studies

reporting ORs between 1.3-3.7 in increased risk of PD after exposure. Interaction effects between Paraquat and Maneb and the LRRK2 G2019S mutation has also been demonstrated (Desplats et al., 2012). Studies have found a 3-fold increase in risk of PD development in workers that carry one of the susceptibility alleles in the dopamine transport gene *SLC6A3* (rs2652510, rs2550956, VNTR) and a 4-fold increase in workers with more than risk allele (Ritz et al., 2009).

Smoking

PD is also inversely related to smoking through the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor, with smoking reducing risk of disease by up to 70% (Ritz et al., 2009). The nicotine receptor activates signaling molecules downstream, thus possibly slowing the progression and severity of PD by protecting the cells and decreasing cellular death, increasing neuronal survival, and also possibly attenuating immune activity (Quik et al., 2012). Thus, the resulting adaptations in the immune system responsiveness appears to ameliorate the damage from PD, reducing the severity of symptoms (Quik et al., 2012). Additionally, nicotine itself both improves cognition and attention and also has antidepressant characteristics, thus countering the mental health and cognitive symptoms of PD (Quik et al., 2012). The protective effect has been confirmed by meta-analyses, and modeling methods have also observed a correlation between reduced risk and time-since-cessation, specifically that the protective effect diminishes the longer the time since cessation (Hernan et al., 2002). There have also been indications of gene-environment interaction between PD and smoking, with evidence that one or more GSTP1 polymorphisms modulates the risk of PD in conjunction with smoking, where carriers of the GSTP1*C haplotypes are more prevalent in PD patients that smoke (Checkoway et al., 1998). Additionally, the MAO-B gene displayed only male gender-specific interactions between smoking and the A/G polymorphism (OR=0.27, 95% CI (0.13-0.58) for smokers versus non-smokers, and OR=1.26 (0.60-2.63) for men of genotype A (X2=8.14, p=0.004)) (Polito et al., 2016). The epidemiological relationship with cigarette smoke and PD has been established. However, more research needs to be done to understand the functional relationship between cigarette smoke and PD.

Coffee

Coffee consumption has also been shown to significantly decrease PD risk, with consistent findings across multiple studies. Caffeine is a commonly consumed methylxanthine, thus belonging to a class of pharmacological molecules that have an antagonistic effect on the adenosine receptors (Yamada-Fowler and Soderkvist, 2015). Adenosine receptors modulate the nigrostriatal dopamine system, and

it has been shown that adenosine A2A antagonists reduce the amount of awake OFF time in PD patients with motor control issues (Nicoletti et al., 2015). Furthermore, it appears that caffeine attenuates the toxicity of alpha-synuclein aggregates, thus possibly reducing the impact of alphasynuclein related gene mutations (Yamada-Fowler and Soderkvist, 2015). A dose effect where increasing cups leads to decreasing risk has also been observed. Odds ratio on the order of 0.44 (95% CI 0.23-0.83, P=0.01) were observed, with a further reduction in risk when the number of cups per day increases (1-3 versus more than 3) (Polito et al., 2016). A recent GWAS identified GRIN2A, an N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDA) glutamate-receptor subunit that is a part of the excitatory pathways, as another disease modifier that reduces risk in conjunction with caffeine intake(Yamada-Fowler and Soderkvist, 2015). In an ethnically homogenous Swedish cohort, there were both strong joint effects of gene and caffeine on PD risk, and also a gene-caffeine interaction affect, which was very mildly protective but significant (joint effect OR=0.38 95% CI (0.20-0.70), p=0.002 for TC heavy caffeine versus CC light caffeine and gene-caffeine interaction (OR=0.998 95% CI (0.991-0.999) pvalue<0.001) (Polito et al., 2016, Hernan et al., 2002). The effect of caffeine also manifests itself in tea consumption. However, contradictory findings between the protective effect of either black or green tea indicate that further studies are needed to substantiate and clarify the role that tea plays on the risk of developing PD.

Uric Acid

Uric acid (Urate) is found at high concentrations in the body. The metabolic end product of purines, studies have shown it to have protective effects from degeneration of dopaminergic neurons. One study investigated the effect of serum urate levels on PD risk, finding a protective effect from higher serum urate levels on the likelihood of PD development. Mendelian Randomization (MR) has also been utilized in the epidemiology of PD and serum urate levels (Simon et al., 2014). Using 80 patients with 3 SLC2A9 genotyped SNPs related to lower urate concentrations, Simon et al found an increased hazard ratio for progression to dopaminergic treatment for patients with more minor alleles of the three loci, thus tying more rapid progression of PD to lower serum urate levels.

Iron Levels

Pathological studies from post-mortem PD patients have found increased levels of iron in the SN and lateral globus pallidus (Dusek et al., 2012). MR is a powerful tool that that uses the genetic variant tied to a specific phenotype as an instrumental variable in epidemiological studies. Pichler et al use three genetic variables that affect iron levels, HFE rs1800562, HFE rs1799945, and TMPRSS6 rs855791 (Pichler et al., 2013). The three alleles are known to increase iron levels, confirmed with large scale meta-analyses of GWAS in general population (Pichler et al., 2013). Using MR, the study found a protective effect on the risk of PD development with one standard deviation unit increase in serum iron levels, with overall OR found to be 0.88 (95% CI: (0.82, 0.95), p=0.001). With a study size of over 21,000 individuals of European and Australia descent, the findings using MR suggest a causal relationship between iron levels and PD development (Pichler et al., 2013). The functional relationship remains unclear, but theories suggest that the reduction in free ferritin in the brain could decrease neuronal iron usage by lowering the amount of iron available for neuronal enzymes, thus possibly linking the commonly observed lower levels in the substantia nigra of iron in neurons in PD patients to a lower concentration of free iron (Zecca et al., 2004a, Zecca et al., 2004b). Mice studies similarly demonstrated that an iron-restricted diet related to the decline in the levels of striatal dopamine (Jellen et al., 2013). Thus, using MR, the study suggests a causal relationship between iron exposure and outcome, with more robust inference than one can make from a purely observational study.

Future directions

The epidemiology of PD has matured since its inception, however, we still only can account for a small fraction of the causality of PD cases. From the environmental perspective, while we have found strongly effective compounds that either increase or decrease disease risk, causality still remains an open question in many cases. Environmental factors do not have complete penetrance. From the genetics angle, only approximately 10% of sporadic PD cases are explained by monogenic

inheritance patterns of known genes. The incomplete penetrance of the mutations demonstrates that it is highly unlikely that the genes act alone to instigate disease. Unlike monogenic diseases such as Huntington's, one sees that the genetic basis of PD is complex and multi-faceted. Thus, further research in the field should not only concentrate on the discovery of novel SNPs, but also on the possibilities of genetic pleiotropy, cross-disease effects, gene-gene interactions, and geneenvironment interactions and their modulation of the effect of the single SNPs.

Chapter 2 Results

The results section consists of the two published manuscripts, the relevant supplementary materials pertaining to the publication, and the 3rd submitted manuscript. All results presented are first author publications.

Large-scale assessment of polyglutamine repeat expansions in Parkinson disease

ABSTRACT

Objectives: We aim to clarify the pathogenic role of intermediate size repeat expansions of SCA2, SCA3, SCA6, and SCA17 as risk factors for idiopathic Parkinson disease (PD).

Methods: We invited researchers from the Genetic Epidemiology of Parkinson's Disease Consortium to participate in the study. There were 12,346 cases and 8,164 controls genotyped, for a total of 4 repeats within the SCA2, SCA3, SCA6, and SCA17 genes. Fixed- and random-effects models were used to estimate the summary risk estimates for the genes. We investigated between-study heterogeneity and heterogeneity between different ethnic populations.

Results: We did not observe any definite pathogenic repeat expansions for SCA2, SCA3, SCA6, and SCA17 genes in patients with idiopathic PD from Caucasian and Asian populations. Furthermore, overall analysis did not reveal any significant association between intermediate repeats and PD. The effect estimates (odds ratio) ranged from 0.93 to 1.01 in the overall cohort for the SCA2, SCA3, SCA6, and SCA17 loci.

Conclusions: Our study did not support a major role for definite pathogenic repeat expansions in SCA2, SCA3, SCA6, and SCA17 genes for idiopathic PD. Thus, results of this large study do not support diagnostic screening of SCA2, SCA3, SCA6, and SCA17 gene repeats in the common idiopathic form of PD. Likewise, this largest multicentered study performed to date excludes the role of intermediate repeats of these genes as a risk factor for PD. **Neurology**® **2015;85:1283-1292**

GLOSSARY

AAO = age at onset; CI = confidence interval; GEO-PD = Genetic Epidemiology of Parkinson's Disease; PD = Parkinson disease; SCA = spinocerebellar ataxia.

Spinocerebellar ataxias (SCAs) represent a clinically and genetically diverse group of neurodegenerative diseases, which share degeneration of the cerebellum and its afferent and efferent connections, besides variable degeneration of multiple neurologic systems.¹ Expansions of trinucleotide repeats in the coding or untranslated regions of various genes cause several SCAs; these expansions also account for most of the clinical and genetic heterogeneity.² Emerging evidence provides tangible support to the growing consensus that clinically heterogeneous yet biologically overlapping late-onset neurodegenerative disorders may have common genetic risk factors that might change predisposition to the diseases.^{2,3}

Whether polyglutamine repeat expansions in SCA genes such as SCA2, SCA3, SCA6, and SCA17 wield a similar effect in idiopathic Parkinson disease (PD) needs to be determined. Previous clinical and pathologic findings emphasize the need to evaluate the significance of polyglutamine repeat expansions of these genes in PD worldwide.⁴⁻⁹ Most studies performed to date, including this study, are biased by case selection at specialist movement disorders clinics. However, to get a better estimate of the frequency of repeat expansions in such a setting, their relative contribution to disease worldwide, we performed a large multicenter study with members of the Genetic Epidemiology of Parkinson's Disease (GEO-PD) Consortium.

Author list continued on next page

© 2015 American Academy of Neurology

© 2015 American Academy of Neurology. Unauthorized reproduction of this article is prohibited.

Lisa Wang, MSc Jan O. Aasly, MD Grazia Annesi, PhD Soraya Bardien, MD Maria Bozi, MD Alexis Brice, MD Jonathan Carr, MD Sun J. Chung, MD Carl Clarke, MD David Crosiers, MD Angela Deutschländer, MD Gertrud Eckstein, PhD Matthew J. Farrer, PhD Stefano Goldwurm, PhD Gaetan Garraux, MD Georgios M. Hadjigeorgiou, MD Andrew A. Hicks, PhD Nobutaka Hattori, MD, PhD

Christine Klein, MD Beom Jeon, MD Yun J. Kim, MD, PhD Suzanne Lesage, PhD Juei-Jueng Lin, MD Timothy Lynch, MD Peter Lichtner, PhD Anthony E. Lang, MD Vincent Mok, MD Barbara Jasinska-Myga,

MD

George D. Mellick, PhD Karen E. Morrison, MD Grzegorz Opala, MD Lasse Pihlstrøm, MD Peter P. Pramstaller, MD Sung S. Park, MD Aldo Quattrone, MD Ekaterina Rogaeva, PhD Owen A. Ross, PhD Leonidas Stefanis, MD

Authors' affiliations are listed at the end of the article.

GEO-PD Consortium coinvestigators are listed on the Neurology® Web site at Neurology.org.

Go to Neurology.org for full disclosures. Funding information and disclosures deemed relevant by the authors, if any, are provided at the end of the article.

Joanne D. Stockton, MD Peter A. Silburn, MD Jessie Theuns, PhD Eng K. Tan, MD Hiroyuki Tomiyama, MD, PhD Mathias Toft, MD PhD Ryan J. Uitti, MD Karin Wirdefeldt, MD, PhD Zbigniew Wszolek, MD Kuo-Chu Yueh, MD Yi Zhao, MD Thomas Gasser, MD Demetrius M. Maraganore, MD Rejko Krüger, MD Manu Sharma, PhD On behalf of the GEO-PD Consortium

Correspondence to Dr. Sharma: manu.sharma@ uni-tuebingen.de

Supplemental data at Neurology.org

1284

METHODS Participants and samples. The GEO-PD Consortium includes researchers from 59 investigative sites, across 30 countries and 6 continents (http://www.geopd.org/ about/); we invited all sites to participate in the study. Twentyfive sites from 20 countries and 4 continents contributed DNA samples and clinical data, resulting in 20,528 participants. Patients were diagnosed with PD by a movement disorders specialist using the standard criteria.¹⁰⁻¹² Controls at the date of Christine Van Broeckhoven, examination were neurologically healthy, unrelated individuals free of PD or another associated movement disorder. Local sites collected demographically similar and sex-, age-matched neurologically healthy individuals as controls. Not all controls were given a detailed neurologic examination, but all were questioned about previous diagnoses or familial history of a neurologic disease. After quality control of data, a total of Georgia Xiromerisiou, MD 20,510 samples were included (12,346 cases, 8,164 controls). The Caucasian series consisted of 16,819 (10,204 cases and 6,615 controls), and the Asian series consisted of 3,691 patients (2,142 cases and 1,549 controls). Patients with missing data were excluded from the relevant analysis. There were a total of 508 patients missing SCA2 genotype information, 445 missing SCA3, 861 missing SCA6, and 608 missing SCA17.

> Genotyping. The SCA2, SCA3, SCA6, and SCA17 loci containing the CAG repeats were amplified with PCR using fluorescently labeled primers (primer sequences are available upon request). PCRs for SCA2, SCA3, and SCA17 were performed in one multiplex assay, SCA6 in a singleplex. All amplicons of one individual were pooled and separated by size using capillary electrophoresis on an ABI3730 sequencer. Data analysis was performed with GeneMapper 4.0 software. This included automatic sizing and allele calling. A total of 8 individuals (2 for each locus) were Sanger sequenced and the number of triplet repeats was counted. This information was used to convert amplicon lengths to repeat numbers.

> Standard protocol approvals, registrations, and patient consents. The local ethics committee approved the study. All participants signed an informed consent.

Statistical analysis. We first generated distribution plots for SCA2, SCA3, SCA6, and SCA17 genes (see figure e-1 on the Neurology® Web site at Neurology.org) to estimate the repeats' cutoffs in our cohort. Based on our observation, expanding repeats for each gene were categorized into short, intermediate, and long repeats. Using the Monte Carlo simulation method (1,000 simulations) as implemented in the CLUMP, we compared the distribution of allele length of SCA genes to determine the significance of departure from the expected values between cases and controls.13 Because CLUMP uses the Monte Carlo simulation method, all significances should be unbiased and robust to small expected values or continuity corrections.13 We also assessed the correlation between age at onset (AAO) (5,310 cases) and polyglutamine repeats in our cohort. Likewise, in a subset of the data with the age at study available (14 sites, 4,400 controls, 5,310 cases), we analyzed the data with age at study as a covariate in the models. Finally, the association between SCA CAG expansion repeats and PD was evaluated using a logistic regression model with sex included as a covariate. Datasets from countries that included only cases were not included in the modeling because they lacked a proper control set, and thus could not be modeled using logistic regression. Fixed- and random-effects models estimated the odds ratios. Fixed-effect models assume that populations from different sites have the same risk effect from the repeat expansions and that observed differences are due to random chance. For datasets containing between-study heterogeneity, fixed-effect estimates provide smaller confidence intervals (CIs) and p values, relative to random-effects models.¹⁴⁻¹⁶ If, however, heterogeneity exists, the effects may diverge substantially across the populations. Random-effects models allow for random variation between the sites, therefore adjusting for genuine heterogeneity that may exist across different sites. We used the inverse variance method for fixed-effects models and the DerSimonian and Laird method for random-effects models.¹⁷ To evaluate the between-site heterogeneity, we used the Cochran Q test of homogeneity and the I^2 metric. The I^2 parameter is bounded by 0 and 1 and estimates the proportion of heterogeneity that is highly unlikely due to random variation. A larger I^2 value implies more heterogeneity, with I^2 more than 0. 75 or 75% indicating large heterogeneity. However, given that there exists significant imprecision in the estimation of I^2 , particularly for variants with low minor allele frequency, we also provided the 95% CI of P.16 The overall analysis considered all sites and populations regardless of ancestry. We then separately modeled the Caucasian and Asian sites. All statistical analyses were performed using R version 3.0.2, with package "metafor" for the random-effects logistic regression models. The p values are 2-tailed.

RESULTS A total of 25 sites contributed 12,346 patients with PD and 8,164 neurologically normal controls. Table 1 displays the characteristics of all participating sites. Nineteen sites contributed patients of Caucasian descent; 6 sites were from countries of Asian descent. The proportion of males ranged from 46% to 63% over the participating sites (table 1). The mean AAO of PD in this investigated population was 60 years. We excluded 2 sites that contributed only cases to avoid the influence of population substructuring (Japan and South Africa, 519 patients). Nevertheless, these 2 sites were analyzed independently to assess the expanded repeats. One German site contributed only cases, and allelic repeat density analysis did not show differences in repeat length between different German sites. Therefore, we decided to merge German sites into one data site titled "Germany" for further analyses, thus combining data from Deutschländer, Klein, and Gasser sites.

Expanding repeats of SCA genes in PD. Of 20,528 participants who were successfully genotyped, we did not observe any definite pathogenic repeat expansion for SCA2 (>32), SCA3 (>61), SCA6 (>19), and SCA17 (>47) genes in our cohort, thus excluding the role of definite pathogenic repeat expansion of these genes in PD.

Intermediate repeats and PD. The distribution of the cutoff repeat length of SCA genes as observed in the density distribution plots in our study is in agreement with previously published studies.^{2,18-20} Furthermore, the histogram plots showed that the distribution of intermediate repeat length are similar for SCA2, SCA3, SCA6, and SCA17 genes independent of ethnicities.20

Using CLUMP, we did not observe differences in allele length distribution between cases and controls

Neurology 85 October 13, 2015

© 2015 American Academy of Neurology. Unauthorized reproduction of this article is prohibited.

Table 1 Characterization of sites and overall database											
Site	Country	Total	Cases	Controls	Male (%)	Mean AAO	Diagnostic criteria				
Annesi	Italy	394	197	197	204 (51.8)	61.5	UKPDBB				
Bardien/Carr	South Africa	398	398	0	246 (61.2)		UKPDBB				
Bozi	Greece	218	114	104	105 (46.1)	69.9	UKPDBB				
Brice	France	504	272	232	301 (59.7)	47.6	UKPDBB				
Chung	Korea	1,900	1,200	700	876 (46.1)		UKPDBB				
Deutschländer	Germany	140	70	70	80 (57.1)	69.7	UKPDBB				
Garraux	Belgium	77	64	13	40 (51.9)	62.1	UKPDBB				
Goldwurm	Italy	3,798	2,795	1,003	1,992 (52.4)		UKPDBB				
Hadjigeorgiou	Greece	641	313	328	339 (52.9)	63.4	UKPDBB				
Hattori	Japan	121	121	0	62 (51.2)		UKPDBB				
Jeon	Korea	737	397	340	427 (57.9)		UKPDBB				
Klein	Germany	320	317	3	185 (59.3)		UKPDBB				
Krüger/Sharma/Gasser	Germany	1,909	1,219	690	1,149 (60.4)		UKPDBB				
Lin	Taiwan	320	160	160	160 (50.0)	62.0	UKPDBB				
Lynch/Ross	Ireland	700	339	361	322 (46.0)	50.5	UKPDBB				
Mellick	Australia	1,809	893	916	929 (51.4)	59.0	Bower				
Mok	China	390	214	176	232 (60.1)		UKPDBB				
Morrison	United Kingdom	1,072	723	349	577 (53.9)	66.1	UKPDBB				
Opala/Ross	Poland	614	352	262	358 (58.3)	50.2	UKPDBB				
Rogaeva	Canada	562	391	171	296 (53.7)	49.7	UKPDBB				
Tan	Singapore	344	171	173	217 (63.1)	59.7	UKPDBB				
Toft	Norway	816	364	452	484 (59.3)		UKPBDD				
Van Broeckhoven	Belgium	1,011	501	510	500 (49.6)	60.5	Pals/Gelb				
Wirdefeldt	Sweden	260	67	193	128 (49.2)	65.8	Gelb				
Wszolek/Ross	United States	1,455	69,4	761	764 (52.5)	64.4	UKPDBB				
Total		20,510	12,346	8,164							

Abbreviations: AAO = age at onset; UKPDBB = United Kingdom Parkinson's Disease Brain Bank.

in the overall cohort (table e-1). Likewise, stratifying the analysis by ethnicity did not reveal associations; this suggests that intermediate repeats in SCA2, SCA3, SCA6, and SCA17 genes are not a major risk factor for PD (table e-2A).

intermediate repeat length for the SCA2, SCA3, SCA6, and SCA17 genes. The odds ratio ranged from 0.93 to 1.01 in the overall cohort (table 2, figure 1). We observed no heterogeneity for SCA3, SCA6, and SCA17 loci in our cohort, while SCA2 showed moderate heterogeneity; however, all heterogeneity 95% CIs contained 0 (table 2). Of note, we observed a p value of 0.013 (uncorrected) in our CLUMP

Overall analysis. In the overall cohort, we observed no statistically significant associations between PD and

Table 2	Overall analysis irrespective of ethnicity and influence of between-study heterogeneity									
Locus	Gene name	Q test p value	OR (95% CI)	 2	RE p value	FE p value				
SCA2	ATXN2	0.03	1.01 (0.78, 1.28)	37 (0, 82)	0.93	0.76				
SCA3	ATXN3	0.66	0.93 (0.69, 1.26)	0 (0, 63)	0.64	0.64				
SCA6	CACNA1A	0.87	1.00 (0.93, 1.06)	0 (0, 26)	0.90	0.90				
SCA17	TBP	0.97	0.97 (0.56, 1.70)	0 (0, 6)	0.92	0.92				

Abbreviations: ATXN2 = ataxin 2; ATXN3 = ataxin 3; CACAN1A = calcium channel, voltage dependent, P/Q type, alpha 1A subunit; CI = confidence interval; FE = fixed effects; OR = odds ratio; RE = random effects; <math>TBP = TATA box binding protein.

Neurology 85 October 13, 2015

© 2015 American Academy of Neurology. Unauthorized reproduction of this article is prohibited.
Figure 1 Forest plot of effect sizes of SCA2, SCA3, SCA6, and SCA17 loci in the overall cohort



Boxes indicate the summary effect estimate. Germany site is a combination of Deutschländer, Klein, and Gasser sites. Axis scaled in relation to Cls. Cl = confidence interval; OR = odds ratio; RE = random effects.

analysis for SCA6 in the overall cohort, but it was not significant after correcting for multiple testing (table e-1). The I^2 estimates ranged from 0% to 37% in the overall cohort. The Q test was not statistically significant for all SCA loci (table 2). Restricting the analysis to the Caucasian and Asian populations did not reveal an association between PD and intermediate repeat length. The odds ratio ranged from 0.97 to 1.09 for the Caucasian population, while for the Asian population, effect estimates ranged from 0.52 to 1.04 for SCA loci (figures 2 and 3 and table e-2A). We observed a trend for association for the SCA2 locus

1286

Neurology 85 October 13, 2015

© 2015 American Academy of Neurology. Unauthorized reproduction of this article is prohibited.



Figure 2 Forest plot of SCA2, SCA3, SCA6, and SCA17 loci in the Asian population

Boxes indicate the summary effect estimate. Germany site is a combination of Deutschländer, Klein, and Gasser sites. Axis scaled in relation to Cls. Cl = confidence interval; OR = odds ratio; RE = random effects.

only in the Asian population with large heterogeneity, but this was not significant (table e-2A).

AAO analysis. In a subset of data with AAO available, we did not find any significance correlation between the SCA2, SCA3, SCA6, or SCA17 repeats and the AAO of PD (table e-2D). Likewise, stratifying by ethnicity, we did not observe any association between intermediate repeats. The effect estimates of SCA loci on AAO ranged from -0.79 to 2.13 for the overall cohort, and for the Caucasian population, effect estimates ranged from -0.13 to 4.76 (table e-2D). In addition, the age-adjusted analysis did not yield any significant association between SCA repeats and PD (table e-2C). We also performed random-effects models with the Student t test comparing the mean repeat length between cases and controls, and logistic regression models using repeat length as a quantitative trait. We did not observe a significant association between disease and repeat length (p > 0.05).

DISCUSSION The expansion of trinucleotide repeats has provided mechanistic explanations for human disorders. Besides defining autosomal dominantly inherited disease genes, variability in the distribution of repeat length as well as composition has remarkable influence on the disease phenotype; the longer the expansion, the earlier the AAO and the more aggressive the disease course.¹ Therefore, we performed a large-scale multicenter evaluation to assess the role of SCA2, SCA3, SCA6, and SCA17 gene repeats in PD. Our study excluded a major role of poly-(Q) repeat expansions for these genes in the causation of PD, at least in typical PD.

So far, there is no clear consensus on the appropriate threshold to understand the influence of

Neurology 85 October 13, 2015 1287

© 2015 American Academy of Neurology. Unauthorized reproduction of this article is prohibited.





Boxes indicate the summary effect estimate. Germany site is a combination of Deutschländer, Klein, and Gasser sites. Axis scaled in relation to Cls. Cl = confidence interval; OR = odds ratio; RE = random effects.

intermediate repeat expansions in PD. We used our large cohort to estimate the global distribution of repeat length for SCA genes in PD. The allelic density as well as histogram distribution plots showed the threshold for intermediate repeats

Neurology 85 October 13, 2015

ranges from 24 to 32 for SCA2, 36 to 61 for SCA3, 11 to 19 for SCA6, and 42 to 47 for SCA17 in the PD cases. The intermediate range as observed in our study is in agreement with previously published studies.²¹⁻²⁶

© 2015 American Academy of Neurology. Unauthorized reproduction of this article is prohibited.

In contrast, a recently published study from a Japanese population suggested that a population-specific SCA2 intermediate repeat cutoff length could influence the PD outcome.27 Using a cutoff of 25, the authors observed a significant association for the autosomal dominant form of PD in their population.27 By using this repeat length cutoff, as suggested by Yamashita et al.,27 we did not observe significant association for the SCA2 locus, and thus our study did not support the notion that variability in cutoff repeat length varies from population to population (table e-2B). Likewise, our study excluded the role of population-specific intermediate repeat length variability on the risk of PD, at least in sporadic forms of PD. Of note, using the cutoff as observed in our study, we observed a trend (nonsignificant) for SCA2 locus in the Asian population. The proportion of intermediate carriers for SCA2 in our Asian population cohort is small (1.5%) and thus these results need to be interpreted cautiously.

Most, if not all, studies that have been published so far screened the SCA2, SCA3, SCA6, and SCA17 genes only in cohorts of autosomal dominant forms of PD,²¹⁻²⁶ and identified carriers for SCA2, SCA3, SCA6, and SCA17 repeats in different ethnic populations, which suggests that intermediate repeat structure influenced the clinical variability in autosomal dominant forms of PD and autosomal dominant cerebellar ataxia. For example, a previous French study identified 9 patients with PD who are carriers for SCA2 repeats.28 They observed interrupted repeats for SCA2 as compared to the patients with autosomal dominant cerebellar ataxia who carry pure CAG repeats suggesting that differences in the repeat structure may lead to different phenotypes. Likewise, a study in Asian patients identified 7 SCA2 carriers that showed overlapping phenotype with ataxia such as dysarthria and postural instability.7 However, such patients would not have been included in this study because the inclusion criterion was diagnosis of PD. Our study also did not investigate the role of interruptions in the repeats on PD, thus we cannot draw any conclusions for this subcategory of patients. It is worthwhile to mention that most of the participants in our cohort showed intermediate repeats in the normal range, and hence it will be unlikely that intermediate repeats will have an important role in PD. Nevertheless, deep sequencing of intermediate repeats should be pursued to resolve the role of intermediate repeats in PD, as emerging evidence has shown that genetic variations in these regions have an important role in explaining the missing heritability.29,30

Taken together, we examined the role of poly-(Q) repeats in PD using the largest sample size until now, and our results unequivocally show that polyglutarnine repeats in SCA2, SCA3, SCA6, and SCA17 are

unlikely to be clinically important risk factors for typical, idiopathic PD, without evidence of a family history of neurodegenerative disease (parkinsonism) or atypical signs (e.g., ataxia). Nevertheless, emerging genetic and functional evidence suggest that further studies of these genes in the context of other neurodegenerative diseases are justified.

AUTHOR AFFILIATIONS

From the Centre for Genetic Epidemiology (L.W., M.S.), Institute for Clinical Epidemiology and Applied Biometry, University of Tubingen, Germany; Department of Neurology (J.O.A.), St. Olavs Hospital and NTNU, Trondheim, Norway; Institute of Molecular Bioimaging and Physiology (G.A.), National Research Council, Section of Catanzaro, Italy; Division of Molecular Biology and Human Genetics (S.B., J.C.), University of Stellenbosch, Cape Town, South Africa; General Hospital of Syros (M.B.); Hygeia Hospital (M.B.), Clinic of Neurodegenerative Disorders, Athens; 2nd Neurology Clinic (M.B., L.S.), University of Athens, Attikon Hospital, Greece; INSERM U 1127 (A.B., S.L.), CNRS UMR 7225, Sorbonne Universités, UPMC Univ Paris 06 UMR S 1127, Institut du Cerveau et de la Moelle épinière, ICM, Paris, France; Department of Neurology (S.J.C.), Asan Medical Center, University of Ulsan College of Medicine, Seoul, Korea: School of Clinical and Experimental Medicine (C.C., K.E.M.), College of Medical and Dental Sciences, University of Birmingham and City Hospital, Birmingham, UK; Neurodegenerative Brain Diseases Group (D.C., J.T., C.V.B.), Department of Molecular Genetics, VIB, Antwerpen; Institute Born-Bunge (D.C., J.T., C.V.B.), University of Antwerp; Department of Neurology (D.C.), University Hospital Antwerpen, Belgium; Department of Neurology (A.D.), Max Planck Institute for Psychiatry, Munich; Helmholtz Zentrum München (G.E., P.L.), German Research Centre for Environmental Health (Gmbh), Neuherberg, Germany; Djavad Mowafhagian Centre for Brain (M.J.F.), University of British Columbia, Vancouver, Canada; Parkinson Institute (S.G.), Istituti Clinici di Perfezionamento, Milano, Italy; Cyclotron Research Centre (G.G.), Department of Neurology, University of Liège, Belgium; Department of Neurology (G.M.H., G.X.), Faculty of Medicine, University of Thessalv and Institute of Biomedical Research and Technology, CERETETH, Larissa, Greece; Center for Biomedicine (A.A.H., P.P.P.), EURAC Bolzano, Italy; Department of Neurology (N.H., H.T.), Juntendo University School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan; Institute of Neurogenetics (C.K.), University of Luebeck, Germany; Department of Neurology (B.I., S.S.P.), Seoul National University Hospital; ILSONG Institute of Life Science (Y.J.K., K.-C.Y.), Hallym University, Hallym Institute of Translational Genomics & Bioinformatics, Department of Neurology, Hallym University Sacred Heart Hospital, Korea; Department of Neurology (J.-J.L.), Chushang Show-Chwan Hospital, Nantou and Chung-Shan Medical University Hospital, Taichung, Taiwan; The Dublin Neurological Institute at the Mater Misericordiae University Hospital (T.L.), and Conway Institute, University College Dublin, Ireland: Movement Disorders Centre (A.E.L.), Toronto Western Hospital, University of Toronto, Canada; Clinical Neurology Research Centre (V.M.), Department of Medicine & Therapeutics, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, 10/F, Clinical Sciences Building, Prince of Wales Hospital, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong; Department of Neurology (B.J.-M., G.O.), Medical University of Silesia, Katowice, Poland; Eskitis Institute for Cell and Molecular Therapies (G.D.M.), Griffith University, Australia; Neurosciences Department (K.E.M., I.D.S.), Queen Elizabeth Hospital Birmingham, University Hospitals Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust; Department of Neurology (L.P., M.T.), Oslo University Hospital, Norway; Institute of Neurology (A.Q.), Department of Medical Sciences, University Magna Graecia, Catanzaro; Institute of Molecular Bioimaging and Physiology (A.Q.), National Research Council, Section of Catanzaro, Italy; Tanz Centre for Research in Neurodegenerative Diseases (E.R.), Department of Medicine, University of Toronto, Canada: Departments of Neuroscience (O.A.R.) and Neurology (R.J.U., Z.W.), Mayo Clinic, Jacksonville, FL; Divisions of Basic Neurosciences & Cell Biology (L.S.), Biomedical Research Foundation of Academy of Athens, Greece; University of Queensland Centre for Clinical Research (P.A.S.), Herston, Australia; Department of

Neurology 85 October 13, 2015 1289

© 2015 American Academy of Neurology. Unauthorized reproduction of this article is prohibited.

Neurology (E.K.T., Y.Z.), Singapore General Hospital, National Neuroscience Institute, and Duke NUS Graduate Medical School, Singapore; Department of Medical Epidemiology and Biostatistics (K.W.), Karolinska Institute, Stockholm, Sweden; Department of Neurodegenerative Diseases (T.G., R.K., M.S.), Hertie Institute for Clinical Brain Science Research, University of Tubingen, Germany; Department of Neurology (D.M.M.), North Shore University Health System, Evanston, IL; and Clinical and Experimental Neuroscience (R.K.), Luxembourg Centre for Systems Biomedicine, University of Luxembourg, and Centre Hospitalier de Luxembourg, Luxembourg.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Lisa Wang, MSc: Ms. Wang performed statistical analysis and wrote the draft. Jan O. Aasly, MD: Dr. Aasly contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Grazia Annesi, MD: Dr. Annesi contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Soraya Bardien, PhD: Dr. Bardien contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Maria Bozi, MD: Dr. Bozi contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Alexis Brice, MD: Prof. Brice contributed to sample collection and collected phenotypic data. Jonathan Carr, MD: Dr. Carr contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Sun Ju Chung, MD: Dr. Chung contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Carl Clarke, MD: Dr. Clarke contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. David Crosiers, MD: Dr. Crosiers contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Angela Deutschländer, MD: Dr. Deutschländer contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Gertrud Eckstein, PhD: Dr. Eckstein contributed analysis or interpretation of data, accepts responsibility for conduct of research and will give final approval and acquisition of data. Matthew J. Farrer, PhD: Dr. Farrer contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Stefano Goldwurm, PhD: Dr. Goldwurm contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Gaetan Garraux, MD, PhD: Dr. Garraux contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Georgios M. Hadjigeorgiou, MD: Dr. Hadjigeorgiou contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Andrew A. Hicks, PhD: Dr. Hicks contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Nobutaka Hattori, MD: Dr. Hattori contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Christine Klein, MD: Dr. Klein contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Beom Jeon, MD: Dr. Jeon contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Yun Joong Kim, MD: Dr. Kim contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Suzanne Lesage, MD: Dr. Lesage contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Juei-Jueng Lin, MD: Dr. Lin contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Timothy Lynch, MD: Dr. Lynch contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Peter Lichtner, PhD: Dr. Lichtner contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Anthony E. Lang, MD: Dr. Lang contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Vincent Mok, MD: Dr. Mok contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Barbara Jasinska-Myga, MD, PhD: Dr. Jasinska-Myga contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. George D. Mellick, PhD: Dr. Mellick contributed samples and collected phenotypic data and critically reviewed the manuscript. Karen E. Morrison, MD: Dr. Morrison contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Grzegorz Opala, MD: Dr. Opala contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Lasse Pihlstrøm, MD: Dr. Pihlstrøm contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Peter P. Pramstaller: Dr. Pramstaller contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Sung Sup Park, MD: Dr. Park contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Aldo Quattrone, MD: Dr. Quattrone contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Ekaterina Rogaeva, PhD: Dr. Rogaeva contributed samples and collected phenotypic data and participated in writing of the manuscript. Owen A. Ross, PhD: Dr. Ross contributed samples and collected phenotypic data, Leonidas Stefanis, MD; Dr. Stefanis contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Joanne D. Stockton, PhD: Dr. Stockton contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Peter A. Silburn, PhD: Dr. Silburn contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Jessie Theuns, PhD: Dr. Theuns contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Eng King Tan, MD: Dr. Tan contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Mathias Toft, MD, PhD: Dr. Toft contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Dr. Hiroyuki Tomiyama, MD, PhD: Dr. Tomiyama contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Christine Van Broeckhoven, PhD: Dr. Van Broeckhoven contributed samples and collected phenotypic

data, Rvan J. Uitti, MD: Dr. Uitti contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Karin Wirdefeldt, MD: Dr. Wirdefeldt contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Zbigniew Wszolek, MD: Dr. Wszolek contributed samples and collected phenotypic data, Georgia Xiromerisiou, MD: Dr. Xiromerisiou contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Kuo-Chu Yueh, MD: Dr. Yueh contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Yi Zhao, MD: Dr. Zhao contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Thomas Gasser, MD: Dr. Gasser contributed samples and collected phenotypic data and participated in writing of the manuscript. Demetrius M. Maraganore, MD: Dr. Maraganore contributed to the administrative leadership and coordination of this study as the overall principal investigator of the Genetic Epidemiology of Parkinson's Disease Consortium and he provided critical review of the manuscript. Dr. Maraganore contributed samples and collected phenotypic data. Rejko Krüger, MD: Dr. Krüger contributed samples and collected phenotypic data and participated in writing of the manuscript. Manu Sharma, PhD: Dr. Sharma contributed to drafting and revising the manuscript for content, study concept and design, analysis and interpretation of data, acquisition of data, statistical analysis, study supervision and coordination, and obtained funding.

STUDY FUNDING

The samples were obtained from the Parkinson Institute Biobank (http:// www.parkinsonbiobank.com), member of the Telethon Network of Genetic Biobank (project GTB12001) funded by TELETHON Italy, and supported by Fondazione Grigioni per il Morbo di Parkinson.

DISCLOSURE

L. Wang reports no disclosures relevant to the manuscript. J. Aasly is supported by the Norwegian Research Council and Reberg's Legacy. G. Annesi, S. Bardien, M. Bozi, A. Brice, J. Carr, S. Chung, C. Clarke, D. Crosiers, A. Deutschländer, and G. Eckstein report no disclosures relevant to the manuscript. M. Farrer reports grants from the Canadian Federal Government, Cunhill Foundation, and BC Leading Edge Endowment, during the conduct of the study; also personal fees from Gentech and Teva, outside the submitted work; In addition, Dr. Farrer has a patent on genetic variability in LRRK2 and Parkinson disease (US8409809, US8455243B2) and on LRRK2 mouse models subsequently developed with royalties paid. S. Goldwurm, G. Garraux, G. Hadjigeorgiou, and A. Hicks report no disclosures relevant to the manuscript, N. Nobutaka Hattori has been serving as an advisory board member for Boehringer Ingelheim and as a result of attending advisory board meetings he received personal compensation. Nobutaka Hattori also has been serving as an advisory board member for FP Pharmaceutical Company and by attending these advisory meetings he received personal compensation. He has been consulting with Otsuka Pharmaceutical Company, Kyowa Hakko Kirin Pharmaceutical Company, GlaxoSmithKline, Novartis, and Schering-Plough, and when he attended these advisory board meetings, he received personal compensation. C. Klein reports no disclosures relevant to the manuscript. B. Jeon has received funding for travel from GlaxoSmithKline Korea and Novartis Korea, and has received research support as principal investigator from Novartis, Boehringer Ingelheim, Ipsen Korea, the Korea Health 21 R&D Project, Ministry of Health & Welfare, Republic of Korea (A030001), ABRC (Advanced Biometric Research Center), KOSEF (Korea Science and Engineering Foundation), Seoul National University Hospital, the Mr. Chung Suk-Gyoo and Sinyang Cultural Foundation, and the Song Foundation. Y. Kim, S. Lesage, and J. Lin report no disclosures relevant to the manuscript. T. Lynch has served on an advisory board for Biogen and Novartis and has received honoraria from Lundbeck, Biogen, and Boehringer Ingelheim. P. Lichtner reports no disclosures relevant to the manuscript. A. Lang has served as an advisor for Abbott, Allon Therapeutics, AstraZeneca, Biovail, Boehringer Ingelheim, Cephalon, Ceregene, Eisai, Medtronic, Lundbeck A/S, Novartis, Merck Serono, Solvay, and Teva, and received grants from Canadian Institutes of Health Research, Dystonia Medical Research Foundation, Michael J. Fox Foundation, National Parkinson Foundation, and Ontario Problem Gambling Research Centre and has served as an expert witness in cases related to the welding industry. V. Mok reports no disclosures relevant to the manuscript. B. Jasinska-Myga was partially supported by the Robert

1290

© 2015 American Academy of Neurology. Unauthorized reproduction of this article is prohibited.

and Clarice Smith Fellowship Program and the Pacific Alzheimer Research Foundation grant C06-01. G. Mellick reports no disclosures relevant to the manuscript. K. Morrison serves on the editorial board of Neurodegenerative Disease Management and previously served on the editorial board of Journal of Neurology and Neuromuscular Disorders. She has received grant support from Parkinson's UK, The Medical Research Council UK, the Wellcome Trust, and the Midlands Neurological Teaching and Research Fund. G. Opala was partially supported by the Robert and Clarice Smith Fellowship Program and the Pacific Alzheimer Research Foundation grant C06-01. L. Pihlstrøm, P. Pramstaller, S. Park, A. Quattrone, and E. Rogaeva report no disclosures relevant to the manuscript. O. Ross serves on the editorial board of the American Journal of Neurodegenerative Disease, PLoS One, and Parkinsonism and Related Disorders journals. He is funded by NIH grant R01 NS078086 and the Mayo Clinic Udall Center of Excellence for Parkinson's Disease Research (P50 NS072187), and received research support from the Michael J. Fox Foundation. L. Stefanis has received a grant for genetic studies of PD from the Hellenic Secretariat of Research and Technology (PENED 2003), in which Novartis Hellas acted as a cosponsor. J. Stockton, P. Silburn, and J. Theuns report no disclosures relevant to the manuscript. E. Tan serves as an editor of Parkinsonism and Related Disorders, European Journal of Neurology, and Basal Ganglia, and is the chief editor of Annals Academy of Medicine. He is funded by the National Medical Research Council, Duke-NUS Graduate Medical School, and Singapore Millennium Foundation. He has received honoraria from Novartis,

Comment: CAG repeats in idiopathic Parkinson disease-To screen or not to screen

In this large study within the Genetic Epidemiology of Parkinson's Disease Consortium, Wang et al.1 examined the relationship between idiopathic Parkinson disease (PD) and CAG repeat expansions in ataxia genes. They examined, on a larger scale, an issue that has been examined by several authors. The rationale for the study is that parkinsonian phenotypes, and even L-dopa-responsive PD, occur in carriers of SCA mutations, mainly in Asians, and that intermediate poly-Q expansions are predisposing factors for dominant PD.^{2,3} The authors studied 12,346 patients with PD from Caucasian and Asian populations and 8,164 controls, seeking CAG expansions in SCA2, SCA3, SCA6, and SCA17 genes. The study is "negative" since they did not identify causative mutations or increased risk of PD attributable to long normal repeat alleles.

The major strength of the study is that this is the largest screening of ataxia loci in idiopathic PD and takes advantage of large samples of cases and controls from multiple international sites. The study is technically well executed: all samples were tested in one facility; quality monitored; internal standards run; and some samples were sequenced to confirm repeat length. Limitations of the study are that a similar number of patients and controls from the different centers would have been advisable, and that the full range of disease-associated CAG expansions (i.e., Huntington disease and SCA1) was not investigated.

These results suggest that the previously reported association between these loci and parkinsonism probably refers to familial or atypical forms and not to typical idiopathic PD.^{3,4} The study therefore does not support genetic screening of SCA2, SCA3, SCA6, and SCA17 in idiopathic PD and excludes the role of intermediate alleles of these genes as risk factors for PD; this may redirect the field away from association studies of CAG repeats in ataxia genes and PD, a valuable contribution in and of itself.

- Wang L, Aasly JO, Annesi G, et al. Large-scale assessment of polyglutamine repeat 1. expansions in Parkinson disease. Neurology 2015;85:1283-1292.
- 2 Gwinn-Hardy K, Chen JY, Liu HC, et al. Spinocerebellar ataxia type 2 with parkinsonism in ethnic Chinese. Neurology 2000;55:800-805.
- 3 Yamashita C, Tomiyama H, Funayama M, et al. Evaluation of polyglutamine repeats in autosomal dominant Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol Aging 2014;35:1779. e17-1779.e21.
- 4. Ross OA, Rutherford NJ, Baker M, et al. Ataxin-2 repeat-length variation and neurodegeneration. Hum Mol Genet 2011;20:3207-3212.

Alessandro Filla, MD

From the Department of Neurosciences, Reproductive Sciences, and Odontostomatology, Federico II University, Napoli, Italy. Study funding: No targeted funding reported. Disclosure: The author reports no disclosures. Go to Neurology.org for full disclosures.

Boehringer Ingelheim, and GSK. M. Toft serves on the editorial board of PLoS One and is supported by research grants from the Research Council of Norway and South-Eastern Norway Regional Health Authority. H. Torniyama received a grant from the Japanese Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology, Grants-in-Aid for Scientific Research (to H.T.: 21591098) and Grants-in-Aid from the Research Committee of CNS Degenerative Diseases and Perry syndrome (to HT: 22140901). C. Van Broeckhoven reports no disclosures relevant to the manuscript. R. Uitti, MD, has received research funding from the NIH, PARRF, PSG, Noscira, Inc., and Advanced Neuromodulation Systems, Inc. Dr. Uitti has served as a Continuing Medical Educator for the AAN. His institution has received annual royalties from the licensing of the technology related to PARK8/LRRK2 greater than the federal threshold for significant financial interest; Dr. Uitti has not received any royalties. Dr. Uitti receives an honorarium as associate editor of Neurology.[®]. K. Wirdefeldt reports no disclosures relevant to the manuscript. Z. Wszolek serves as co-editor-in-chief of Parkinsonism and Related Disorders, associate editor of the European Journal of Neurology, and on the editorial boards of Neurologia i Neurochirurgia Polska, Advances in Rehabilitation, the Medical Journal of the Rzeszow University, and Clinical and Experimental Medical Letters. Dr. Wszolek holds and has contractual rights for receipt of future royalty payments from patents re: A novel polynucleotide involved in heritable Parkinson's disease; received royalties from publishing Parkinsonism and Related Disorders (Elsevier 2012, 2013, 2014) and the European Journal of Neurology (Wiley-Blackwell 2012, 2013, 2014); receives educational research support from Allergan, Inc., research support from NIH/NINDS P50NS072187, and the gift from Carl Edward Bolch, Jr., and Susan Bass Bolch (MCF 90052031/PAU 90052). G. Ximerisiou, K. Yueh, and Y. Zhao report no disclosures relevant to the manuscript. T. Gasser serves as an editorial board member of Movement Disorders and Parkinsonism and Related Disorders and is funded by Novartis Pharma, the Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF) (NGFN-Plus and ERA-Net NEURON), the Helmholtz Association (HelMA, Helmholtz Alliance for Health in an Ageing Society), and the European Union (MeFoPa, Mendelian Forms of Parkinsonism). He received speakers honoraria from Novartis, Merck Serono, Schwarz Pharma, Boehringer Ingelheim, and Valeant Pharma and royalties for his consulting activities from Cephalon Pharma and Merck Serono. Dr. Gasser holds a patent concerning the LRRK2 gene and neurodegenerative disorders. D. Maraganore has received research funding support from the NIH (R01-ES10751), the Michael J. Fox Foundation (LEAPS award, Edmond J. Safra Global Genetics Consortia award), Alnylam Pharmaceutical and Medtronic, Inc. (study of α-synuclein genotypes and outcomes in Parkinson disease), and GE Healthcare (imaging biomarker studies of delayed sequelae of mild traumatic brain injury). He is on the editorial board of Parkinsonism and Related Disorders. He has a patent filed for a method to treat Parkinson disease. It has been licensed to Alnylam Pharmaceuticals and he has received more than \$10,000 in royalty payments. R. Krüger serves as editor of European Journal of Clinical Investigation, Journal of Neural Transmission, and Parkinsonism and Related Disorders and associate editor of BMC Neurology; has received research grants of the German Research Council (DFG; KR2119/8-1), the Michael J. Fox Foundation (USA), the Fritz Thyssen Foundation (Germany), and the Fond National de Recherche (Luxembourg), as well as speakers honoraria and/or travel grants from AbbVie, St. Jude, and Medtronic. M. Sharma received funding support from the Michael J. Fox Foundation USA and the EU-JPND program of neurodegenerative diseases. Dr. Sharma serves on the editorial board of the American Journal of Neurodegenerative Disease and PLoS One. Dr. Sharma reports no disclosures related to this study. Go to Neurology.org for full disclosures.

Received October 8, 2014. Accepted in final form May 21, 2015.

REFERENCES

- 1. Schols L, Bauer P, Schmidt T, Schulte T, Riess O. Autosomal dominant cerebellar ataxias: clinical features, genetics, and pathogenesis. Lancet Neurol 2004;3:291-304.
- 2. Orr HT, Zoghbi HY. Trinucleotide repeat disorders. Annu Rev Neurosci 2007;30:575-621.

Neurology 85 October 13, 2015

© 2015 American Academy of Neurology. Unauthorized reproduction of this article is prohibited.

- Ross OA, Rutherford NJ, Baker M, et al. Ataxin-2 repeatlength variation and neurodegeneration. Hum Mol Genet 2011;20:3207–3212.
- Simon-Sanchez J, Hanson M, Singleton A, et al. Analysis of SCA-2 and SCA-3 repeats in parkinsonism: evidence of SCA-2 expansion in a family with autosomal dominant Parkinson's disease. Neurosci Lett 2005;382:191–194.
- Gwinn-Hardy K, Singleton A, O'Suilleabhain P, et al. Spinocerebellar ataxia type 3 phenotypically resembling Parkinson disease in a black family. Arch Neurol 2001; 58:296–299.
- Wang JL, Xiao B, Cui XX, et al. Analysis of SCA2 and SCA3/MJD repeats in Parkinson's disease in mainland China: genetic, clinical, and positron emission tomography findings. Mov Disord 2009;24:2007–2011.
- Lu CS, Wu Chou YH, Kuo PC, Chang HC, Weng YH. The parkinsonian phenotype of spinocerebellar ataxia type 2. Arch Neurol 2004;61:35–38.
- Kim JM, Hong S, Kim GP, et al. Importance of low-range CAG expansion and CAA interruption in SCA2 parkinsonism. Arch Neurol 2007;64:1510–1518.
- Socal MP, Emmel VE, Rieder CR, Hilbig A, Saraiva-Pereira ML, Jardim LB. Intrafamilial variability of Parkinson phenotype in SCAs: novel cases due to SCA2 and SCA3 expansions. Parkinsonism Relat Disord 2009;15: 374–378.
- Bower JH, Maraganore DM, McDonnell SK, Rocca WA. Incidence and distribution of parkinsonism in Olmsted County, Minnesota, 1976–1990. Neurology 1999;52: 1214–1220.
- Gelb DJ, Oliver E, Gilman S. Diagnostic criteria for Parkinson disease. Arch Neurol 1999;56:33–39.
- Hughes AJ, Daniel SE, Kilford L, Lees AJ. Accuracy of clinical diagnosis of idiopathic Parkinson's disease: a clinico-pathological study of 100 cases. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1992;55:181–184.
- Sham PC, Curtis D. Monte Carlo tests for associations between disease and alleles at highly polymorphic loci. Ann Hum Genet 1995;59:97–105.
- Higgins JP, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, Altman DG. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. BMJ 2003;327:557–560.
- Higgins JP, Thompson SG. Quantifying heterogeneity in a meta-analysis. Stat Med 2002;21:1539–1558.
- Ioannidis JP, Patsopoulos NA, Evangelou E. Uncertainty in heterogeneity estimates in meta-analyses. BMJ 2007; 335:914–916.

- DerSimonian R, Laird N. Meta-analysis in clinical trials. Control Clin Trials 1986;7:177–188.
- Lim SW, Zhao Y, Chua E, et al. Genetic analysis of SCA2, 3 and 17 in idiopathic Parkinson's disease. Neurosci Lett 2006;403:11–14.
- Butland SL, Devon RS, Huang Y, et al. CAG-encoded polyglutamine length polymorphism in the human genome. BMC Genomics 2007;8:126.
- Hussey J, Lockhart PJ, Seltzer W, et al. Accurate determination of ataxin-2 polyglutamine expansion in patients with intermediate-range repeats. Genet Test 2002;6: 217–220.
- Furtado S, Farrer M, Tsuboi Y, et al. SCA-2 presenting as parkinsonism in an Alberta family: clinical, genetic, and PET findings. Neurology 2002;59:1625–1627.
- Huynh DP, Nguyen DT, Pulst-Korenberg JB, Brice A, Pulst SM. Parkin is an E3 ubiquitin-ligase for normal and mutant ataxin-2 and prevents ataxin-2-induced cell death. Exp Neurol 2007;203:531–541.
- Nakashima-Yasuda H, Uryu K, Robinson J, et al. Comorbidity of TDP-43 proteinopathy in Lewy body related diseases. Acta Neuropathol 2007;114:221-229.
- Kim JY, Kim SY, Kim JM, et al. Spinocerebellar ataxia type 17 mutation as a causative and susceptibility gene in parkinsonism. Neurology 2009;72:1385–1389.
- Khan NL, Giunti P, Sweeney MG, et al. Parkinsonism and nigrostriatal dysfunction are associated with spinocerebellar ataxia type 6 (SCA6). Mov Disord 2005;20:1115–1119.
- Kim JM, Lee JY, Kim HJ, et al. The wide clinical spectrum and nigrostriatal dopaminergic damage in spinocerebellar ataxia type 6. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2010; 81:529–532.
- Yamashita C, Tomiyama H, Funayama M, et al. Evaluation of polyglutamine repeats in autosomal dominant Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol Aging 2014;35:1779.e17– 1779.e21.
- Charles P, Camuzat A, Benammar N, et al. Are interrupted SCA2 CAG repeat expansions responsible for parkinsonism? Neurology 2007;69:1970–1975.
- Renton AE, Majounie E, Waite A, et al. A hexanucleotide repeat expansion in C90RF72 is the cause of chromosome 9p21-linked ALS-FTD. Neuron 2011;72:257–268.
- Dejesus-Hernandez M, Mackenzie IR, Boeve BF, et al. Expanded GGGGCC hexanucleotide repeat in noncoding region of C90RF72 causes chromosome 9p-linked FTD and ALS. Neuron 2011;72:254–255.

1292

© 2015 American Academy of Neurology. Unauthorized reproduction of this article is prohibited.

Supplementary Materials

Figure e-1: Density Plots comparing Allelic Distribution of Repeat Lengths for SCA2, SCA3, SCA6,

SCA17. Complete Cohorts.



Table e-1a: Distribution of allele frequency of SCA loci

SCA	Cases (%)	Controls (%)	Chi-Square	All, pvalue	Asian, pvalue	Caucasian, pvalue
SCA2	8029 (41%)	11587 (59%)	2.1	0.35	0.15	0.31
SCA3	8005 (41%)	11662 (59%)	0.1	0.78	0.73	0.30
SCA6	7732 (40%)	11519 (50%)	6.2	0.01	0.39	0.13
SCA17	7926 (41%)	11578 (59%)	0.1	0.78	0.74	0.97

Comparison performed using CLUMP between cases and controls in overall cohort

Cohort	Locus	Gene Name	Q test pvalue	OR (95% CI)	۱^2	RE pvalue	FE pvalue
Asian	SCA2	ATXN2	0.08	0.52 (0.19, 1.48)	61 (0, 99)	0.22	0.07
	SCA3	ATXN3	0.45	0.90 (0.61, 1.31)	0 (0, 91)	0.57	0.57
	SCA6	CACNA1A	0.42	1.04 (0.87, 1.23)	21 (0, 83)	0.61	0.38
	SCA17	ТВР	0.86	0.90 (0.39, 2.07)	0 (0, 80)	0.81	0.81
Caucasian	SCA2	ATXN2	0.12	1.09 (0.87, 1.38)	30 (0, 79)	0.46	0.40
	SCA3	ATXN3	0.58	1.00 (0.61, 1.64)	0 (0, 74)	0.99	0.99
	SCA6	CACNA1A	0.92	0.98 (0.90, 1.05)	0 (0, 29)	0.52	0.52
	SCA17	ТВР	0.86	1.04 (0.49, 2.21)	0 (0, 63)	0.93	0.93

Table e-2b: Overall effect estimates for SCA loci in Asian and Caucasian population

RE= Random Effects, FE= Fixed Effects, CI= Confidence Interval, OR= Odds Ratio

Table e-2c: Overall summary estimates for SCA2 stratified by ethnicity using repeat length cut-off of

25

SCA2	Q test pvalue	OR (95% CI)	I^2	RE pvalue	FE pvalue
Complete	0.034	1.01 (0.80, 1.28)	37 (0, 83)	0.93	0.76
Asian	0.084	0.52 (0.19, 1.48)	61 (0, 100)	0.22	0.08
Caucasian	0.12	1.09 (0.87. 1.38)	30 (0. 79)	0.46	0.40
		(, , ,	(-,)	0110	0110

RE= Random Effects, FE= Fixed Effects, CI= Confidence Interval, OR= Odds Ratio

Part 2: Evaluation of the interaction between LRRK2 and PARK16 loci in determining risk of

Parkinson's disease: analysis of a large multicenter study

Neurobiology of Aging 49 (2017) 217.e1-217.e4



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Neurobiology of Aging

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/neuaging

Negative results

Evaluation of the interaction between *LRRK2* and *PARK16* loci in determining risk of Parkinson's disease: analysis of a large multicenter study



CrossMark

Lisa Wang^a, Michael G. Heckman^b, Jan O. Aasly^c, Grazia Annesi^d, Maria Bozi^{e, f}, Sun Ju Chung^g, Carl Clarke^{h, i}, David Crosiers^{j, k}, Gertrud Eckstein¹, Gaetan Garraux^m, Georgios M. Hadjigeorgiouⁿ, Nobu Hattori^o, Beom Jeon^p, Yun J. Kim^q, Masato Kubo^r, Suzanne Lesage^s, Juei Jueng Lin^{t, u}, Timothy Lynch^v, Peter Lichtner¹, George D. Mellick^w, Vincent Mok^x, Karin E. Morrison^y, Aldo Quattrone^{d, z}, Wataru Satake^{aa}, Peter A. Silburn^{bb}, Leonidas Stefanis^{f,cc}, Joanne D. Stockton^{dd}, Eng King Tan^{ee,ff}, Tatsushi Toda^{aa}, Alexis Brice^s, Christine Van Broeckhoven^j, Ryan J. Uitti^{gg}, Karin Wirdefeldt^{hh}, Zbigniew Wszolek^{gg}, Georgia Xiromerisiouⁿ, Demetrius M. Maraganoreⁱⁱ, Thomas Gasser^{ij}, Rejko Krüger^{ij,kk,ll}, Matthew J. Farrer^{mm}, Owen A. Ross^{nn,oo}, Manu Sharma^{a,jj,*}, on behalf of the GEOPD Consortium

- ^a Centre for Genetic Epidemiology, Institute for Clinical Epidemiology and Applied Biometry, University of Tuebingen, Tuebingen, Germany
- ^b Division of Biomedical Statistics and Informatics, Mayo Clinic, Jacksonville, FL, USA
- ^c Department of Neurology, St Olavs Hospital and NTNU, Trondheim, Norway
 ^d Institute of Molecular Bioimaging and Physiology, National Research Council, Catanzaro, Italy
- ^e Neurology Department, Psychiatry Athens Hospital, Athens, Greece
- ^f2nd Neurology Clinic, University of Athens, Attikon Hospital, Athens, Greece
- ^g Department of Neurology, Asan Medical Center, University of Ulsan College of Medicine, Seoul, Korea
- ^h School of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, College of Medical and Dental Sciences, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, UK
- Institute of Clinical Sciences, College of Medical and Dental Sciences, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, UK

¹Neurodegenerative Brain Diseases Group, Department of Molecular Genetics, VIB, Antwerp, Belgium

- ^k Department of Neurology, University Hospital Antwerp, Antwerp, Belgium
- ¹Helmholtz Zentrum München, German Research Centre for Environmental Health (Gmbh), Neuherberg, Germany

^m Department of Neurology, Cyclotron Research Centre, University of Liège, Liège, Belgium

- ⁿ Department of Neurology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Thessaly and Institute of Biomedical Research and Technology, CERETETH, Larissa, Greece
- ^o Department of Neurology, Juntendo University School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan
- ^p Institute Department of Neurology, Seoul National University Hospital, Seoul, Korea

⁹ ILSONG Institute of Life Science, Hallym University, Hallym Institute of Translational Genomics and Bioinformatics, Department of Neurology, Hallym University Sacred Heart Hospital, Gangwon, Korea

^r Laboratory for Genotyping Development, RIKEN Center for Integrative Medical Sciences, Yokohama, Japan ^s INSERM U 1127, CNRS UMR 7225, Sorbonne Universités, UPMC Univ Paris 06 UMR S 1127, Institut du Cerveau et de la Moelle épinière, ICM,

Paris. France

^t Department of Neurology, Chushang Show-Chwan Hospital, Nantou, Taiwan

^u Department of Neurology, Chung-Shan Medical University Hospital, Taichung, Taiwan

^v The Dublin Neurological Institute at the Mater Misericordiae University Hospital, and Conway Institute, University College Dublin, Dublin, Ireland ^w Eskitis Institute for Cell and Molecular Therapies, Griffith University, Queensland, Australia

* Therese Pei Fong Chow Research Center for Prevention of Dementia, Faculty of Medicine, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Department of Medicine

& Therapeutics, Clinical Neurology Research Centre, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Prince of Wales Hospital, New Territories, Hong Kong

^y Faculty of Medicine, University of Southampton, Southampton, UK

^z Department of Medical Sciences, Institute of Neurology, University Magna Graecia, Catanzaro, Italy

^{aa} Division of Neurology/Molecular Brain Science, Kobe University Graduate School of Medicine, Kobe, Japan

bb University of Queensland Centre for Clinical Research, Herston, Australia

cc Divisions of Basic Neurosciences and Cell Biology, Biomedical Research Foundation of Academy of Athens, Athens, Greece

^{dd} Neurosciences Department, Queen Elizabeth Hospital Birmingham, University Hospitals Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust, Birmingham, UK

ee Department of Neurology, Singapore General Hospital, National Neuroscience Institute, Singapore

ff Programme in Neuroscience and Behavior Disorders, Duke-NUS Graduate Medical School, Durham, NC, USA

^{gg} Department of Neurology, Mayo Clinic, Jacksonville, FL, USA

* Corresponding author at: Centre for Genetic Epidemiology, Institute for Clinical Epidemiology and Applied Biometry, Silcherstrasse 5, 72076 Tuebingen, Germany. Tel.: +49 7071 2978259; fax: +49 7071 29 5075.

E-mail address: manu.sharma@uni-tuebingen.de (M. Sharma).

0197-4580/\$ - see front matter © 2016 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2016.09.022

217.e2

L. Wang et al. / Neurobiology of Aging 49 (2017) 217.e1-217.e4

hh Department of Medical Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Karolinska Institute, Stockholm, Sweden

¹¹Department of Neurology, NorthShore University HealthSystem, Evanston, IL, USA

^{jj} Department of Neurodegenerative Diseases, Hertie Institute for Clinical Brain Science Research, University of Tuebingen, Tuebingen, Germany

kk Clinical and Experimental Neuroscience, Luxembourg Centre for Systems Biomedicine, University of Luxembourg, Luxembourg City, Luxembourg

¹¹Centre Hospitalier de Luxembourg (CHL), Luxembourg City, Luxembourg

mm Djavad Mowafhagian Centre for Brain, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada

ⁿⁿ Department of Neuroscience, Mayo Clinic, Jacksonville, FL, USA

⁰⁰ School of Medicine and Medical Science, University College Dublin, Dublin, Ireland

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 30 June 2016 Received in revised form 27 September 2016 Accepted 28 September 2016 Available online 6 October 2016

Keywords: Genetic epidemiology Parkinson's disease LRRK2 PARK16

1. Introduction

Genetic discoveries made over the years either by using linkage, array, and/or exome-based approaches have helped in advancing our knowledge of the genetic underpinnings of Parkinson's disease (PD) (International Parkinson Disease Genomics Consortium et al., 2011; Lesage and Brice, 2009; Trinh and Farrer, 2013). As we discover new loci relevant to idiopathic PD pathogenesis, it has become imperative to also understand the gene-gene interaction effect in modulating PD risk in population (see Supplementary Information) (Elbaz et al., 2011). Although the results of most gene-gene interactions studies in PD to date have pointed toward independent effects for PD susceptibility variants, an exception to this has been an assessment of functional-genetic interaction between the LRRK2 and PARK16 loci in which overexpression of RAB7L1, a candidate gene for PARK16 locus, reversed the effects of the LRRK2 mutation and rescued the phenotypes (MacLeod et al., 2013). Therefore, this study aims to evaluate the interaction between several different LRRK2 and PARK16 variants in determining PD risk using a Caucasian series with more than 10,000 subjects from 14 different centers, and an Asian series with more than 5000 subjects from 5 different centers.

2. Methods

The Genetic Epidemiology of Parkinson's Disease (GEoPD) consortium includes investigators from 59 sites, across 30 countries and 6 continents, as of 2016. A total of 19 sites representing 17 countries and 4 continents agreed to contribute DNA samples and clinical data for the present study. In total, 15,976 subjects were included in this study, divided into a Caucasian series (5769 PD patients, 4988 controls) and an Asian series (1946 PD patients, 3273 controls). We selected 5 SNPs for the PARK16 locus (rs823139 [RAB7L1], rs708725 [RAB7L1], rs823156 [SLC41A1], rs11240572 [PM20D1], and rs708723 [RAB7L1]) because previously published studies suggested associations with PD risk and the respective sites also provided coverage of the PARK16 locus. We selected 2 SNPs from the LRRK2 gene (rs1491942, rs7133914) due to previously demonstrated associations with PD and minor allele frequencies high enough to allow for reasonable interaction analysis. Analysis was performed separately for the Caucasian series, the Asian series,

ABSTRACT

A recent study MacLeod et al. has shown that an interaction between variants at the *LRRK2* and *PARK16* loci influences risk of development of Parkinson's disease (PD). Our study examines the proposed interaction between *LRRK2* and *PARK16* variants in modifying PD risk using a large multicenter series of PD patients (7715) and controls (8261) from sites participating in the Genetic Epidemiology of Parkinson's Disease Consortium. Our data does not support a strong direct interaction between *LRRK2* and *PARK16* variants; however, given the role of retromer and lysosomal pathways in PD, further studies are warranted.

© 2016 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

and the combined series. We evaluated single variant associations using fixed effects logistic regression models adjusted for GEoPD site. Pairwise multiplicative interactions between LRRK2 and PARK16 variants were also examined using fixed effects logistic regression models. In addition to including terms for the given 2 individual variants and their interaction, these models were adjusted for the individual GEoPD site. Odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were estimated. Subjects were coded as either 0 (absence of the minor allele) or 1 (presence of the minor allele) for each variant. Variants with a MAF of 10% or greater in both the Asian and Caucasian series were examined under an additive model, with the subject coded as (0,1,2), depending on the number of copies of the minor allele. To account for the 10 tests of LRRK2-PARK16 interaction that were performed in each series (Caucasian, Asian, or combined), we utilized a Bonferroni correction for multiple testing separately in each series, after which 2-sided p-values of 0.005 or lower were considered as statistically significant. All statistical analyses were performed using R Statistical Software. The local Ethics Committee at each GEoPD site approved the study. All participants signed an informed consent.

3. Results

Of the 10 interactions that were examined between the PARK16 and LRRK2 variants, nonsignificant evidence of gene-gene interaction was observed between LRRK2 rs1491942 and PARK16 rs11240572 in the combined series (interaction OR: 0.97, 95% CI: 0.74-1.01, p = 0.07, Supplementary Table 1). PARK16 rs11240572 appeared to have no effect on PD risk for individuals with the common GG genotype for LRRK2 rs1491942, but a slight protective effect for those with GC and CC LRRK2 rs1491942 genotypes (see Supplementary Information). Investigating this further in the stratified data (Supplementary Table 6), we observed for noncarriers of PARK16 rs11240572, LRRK2 rs1491942 a statistically significant higher risk of PD development in the Caucasian and combined series (OR 1.17 and 1.15, p-value <0.001). However, after correcting for multiple testing, it no longer approached statistical significance under the interaction model. There were no other noteworthy interactions between LRRK2 rs1491942 and PARK16 variants in any series (all interaction $p \ge 0.25$, Supplementary Tables 3-5), or between LRRK2 rs7133914 and PARK16 variants in the Caucasian series (all interaction $p \ge 0.096$,

Supplementary Table 7). Interaction ORs ranged between 0.85 and 1.20, which supports the lack of a biologically meaningful interaction by lack of a notable deviation from an OR of 1. Between-site heterogeneity in interaction effects was generally relatively low (ranges between 0% and 35% with most around 0%), lending consistency to the lack of interaction. Models adjusted for age and gender using the subset of subjects with complete information and random effects models also produced similar results in gene–gene interaction analyses.

4. Discussion

The identification of genetic mutations in genes linked to familial forms of PD (e.g., LRRK2, VPS35, and DNAJC13), and genetic variability within the PARK16 locus in genome wide association studies strongly implicates the role of retromer and lysosomal pathway in PD pathogenesis (Heckman et al., 2014; Soto-Ortolaza et al., 2013). Therefore, to understand the impact of interaction in world-wide populations, we performed a large multicenter study to assess the genetic evidence of interaction between LRRK2 and PARK16 locus. The results of our study do not provide evidence of a genetic interaction between PARK16 and LRRK2 variants with regard to risk of PD. Of note, the directionality of effect estimates, albeit with a much weaker effect size observed in the present study, involving the specific LRRK2 rs1491942/PARK16 rs11240572 interaction, are in agreement with previously published findings. Genetic interaction studies are limited by sample size and power because the variable of focus in an interaction study is the presence of the genotype of interest for both variants, and this occurs much less frequently than in the individual variant genotypes.

Therefore, even with our large sample size, power is still limited to detect moderate to small gene—gene interaction effects. Although there was some degree of concordance between our interaction findings and those that were previously reported, our results were much weaker than the strong *LRRK2-PARK16* interaction that was previously reported (Beilina et al., 2014; MacLeod et al., 2013). Even with the large GEoPD sample size, which we have accrued to perform the present study, we are likely underpowered to detect weaker interaction effects. In addition, lack of genetic interaction. However, such genetic studies will be critical if we are to understand the role of gene—gene interaction in disease susceptibility.

Disclosure statement

The institution of L. Wang and M. Sharma is financially supported by the Courage-PD, an EU Joint Programme-Neurodegenerative Disease Research (JPND) project. The project is supported through the following funding organizations under the aegis of JPND-www.jpnd.eu: the Medical Research Council, United Kingdom, the French National Research Agency, the German Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung, the Italian Ministry of Health/Ministry of Education, the Israeli Ministry of Health, the Luxembourgian National Research Fund, the Netherlands Organisation for Health Research and Development, the Research Council of Norway, the Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology, the Spanish National Institute of Health Carlos III and Michael J. Fox Foundation. M. J. Farrer has a patent on genetic variability in LRRK2 and Parkinson's disease (US8409809, US8455243B2) and on LRRK2 mouse models subsequently developed with royalities paid. Nobutaka Hattori has been serving as an advisory board member for Boehringer Ingelheim, as a result of attending advisory board meetings he received personal compensation; he also has been serving as an advisory board member for FP Pharmaceutical

Company, by attending these advisory meetings he received personal compensation and has been consulting with Ohtsuska Pharmaceutical Company, Kyowa Hakko Kirin Pharmaceutical Company, GlaxoSmithKline, Novartis, and Schering-Plough, and when he attended these advisory board meetings where he received personal compensation. Dr Gasser holds a patent concerning the LRRK2 gene and neurodegenerative disorders.

Acknowledgements

The Mayo Clinic Jacksonville is a Morris K. Udall Center of Excellence in Parkinson's Disease Research (grant number P50 NS072187) and was supported by the gift from the family of Carl Edward Bolch, Jr., and Susan Bass Bolch (RJU, ZKW, OAR). Owen A. Ross, PhD, acknowledges funding support from the National Institutes of Health (grant number R01 NS78086). M. J. Farrer reports grants from the Canadian Federal Government, Cunhill Foundation, BC Leading Edge Endowment, during the conduct of the study; also personal fees from Gentech, personal fees from Teva, outside the submitted work. B. Jeon has received funding for travel from GlaxoSmithKline Korea and Novartis Korea; and has received research support as PI from Norvartis, Boehringer Ingelheim, Ipsen Korea, the Korea Health 21 R&D Project, Ministry of Health and Welfare, Republic of Korea (#A030001), ABRC (Advanced Biometric Research Center), KOSEF (Korea Science and Engineering Foundation), Seoul National University Hospital, the Mr Chung Suk-Gyoo and Sinyang Cultural Foundation, and the Song Foundation. Dr Lynch has served on an advisory board for Biogen and Novartis and has received honoraria from Lundbeck, Biogen, and Boerhinger-Ingelheim, and received funding from the NIH (Grant number: 1(GG010270)). Demetrius M. Maraganore, MD acknowledges the National Institutes of Health for funding support (grant number R01ES10751). E. K. Tan is funded by National Medical Research Council (RIE 2015 PD TCR and STaR), Duke-NUS Graduate Medical School (non grant support) and has received honoraria from Novartis, Boehringer Ingelheim and GSK. R. J. Uitti has received research funding from the NIH, PARRF, PSG, Noscira, Inc, and Advanced Neuromodulation Systems, Inc. Dr. Wszolek and Dr. Uitti are partially supported by the NIH/NINDS P50 NS072187, NIH/NIA (primary) and NIH/NINDS (secondary) 1U01AG045390-01A1, Mayo Clinic Center for Regenerative Medicine, Mayo Clinic Center for Individualized Medicine, Mayo Clinic Neuroscience Focused Research Team (Cecilia and Dan Carmichael Family Foundation, and the James C. and Sarah K. Kennedy Fund for Neurodegenerative Disease Research at Mayo Clinic in Florida), the gift from Carl Edward Bolch, Jr., and Susan Bass Bolch, The Sol Goldman Charitable Trust, and Donald G. and Jodi P. Heeringa. Funding for Prof. Gasser was provided by the German Center for Neurodegenerative Diseases (DZNE) through the CoEN initiative (www.coen.org), German Research Foundation (GA 402/18-1), Federal Ministry of Education and Research (031A430A and 01ED1406) and Michael J. Fox Foundation (PPMI project). He received speakers' honoraria from Novartis, Merck-Serono, Schwarz Pharma, Boehringer Ingelheim, and Valeant Pharma and royalties for his consulting activities from Cefalon Pharma and Merck-Serono. R. Krüger has received research grants of the German Research Council (DFG; KR2119/8-1), the Fritz Thyssen Foundation ((10.11.2.153, Germany) and the Fond National de Recherche (PEARL [FNR/P13/6682797/Krüger]; NCER-PD. Luxembourg), as well as speakers' honoraria and/or travel grants from Abbvie, St. Jude and Medtronic. Studies at individual sites were supported by a number of different funding agencies worldwide including; Italian Ministry of Health (Ricerca Corrente, Ricerca Finalizzata); the Swedish Parkinson Foundation (697/14); the Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF, NGFNplus;

01GS08134] (RK); the NGFNplus (Neuron-Parkinson-subproject 7) (SG); CHRU de Lille, UnivLille 2, Inserm; French Ministry PHRCs (1994/, 2002/1918, 2005/1914); Association France Parkinson (2005); Fondation de France 2004-013306; Fondation de la Recherche Médicale (2006); PPF (synucléothèque 2005-2009); the 2 Centres de Ressources Biologiques (IPL-Lille, CHRU-Lille) and its scientific committee (AD, MCCH, Philippe Amouyel, Florence Pasquier, Régis Bordet); funding from France-Parkinson Association (R16058DD) and the program "Investissement d'avenir" ANR-10-IAIHU-06; the Swedish Research Council; the Swedish Society for Medical Research; the Swedish Society of Medicine; funds from the Karolinska Institutet, the National Institutes of Health and National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke [grant numbers 1RC2NS070276, NS057567, and P50NS072187]; Mayo Clinic Florida Research Committee CR programs (MJF) (ZKW); the Geriatric Medical Foundation of Queensland (GDM); a career development award from the Volkswagen Foundation and from the Hermann and Lilly Schilling Foundation (CK); the Research Committee of University of Thessaly (Code: 2845); the Queensland Parkinson's Project: R.S Boyle and A Sellbach (Proncess Alexandra Hospital, Brisbane), J.D. O'Sullivan (Royal Brisbane and Women's Hospital Brisbane), G.T. Sutherland, G.A Siebert and N.N.W Dissanayaka (Eskitis Institute for Cell and Molecular Therapies, Griffith University, Nathan, QLD), Belgian Science Policy Office Interuniversity Attraction Poles program, Belgium; the Alzheimer Research Foundation (SAO-FRA), Belgium; the Flemish Government initiated Methusalem Excellence program, Belgium; the Research Foundation Flanders (FWO), Belgium; the Agency for Innovation by Science and Technology Flanders (IWT), Belgium and the University of Antwerp Research Fund, Belgium; The Practical Research Project for Rare/Intractable Diseases from Japan Agency for Medical Research and development, AMED and Grantin-Aid for Young Scientists A (25713015) from the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science, JSPS; and the Laboratory of Neurogenetics, Biomedicine Department, CERETETH, Larissa, Greece (Code: 01-04-207) (GH, ED).

Appendix A. Supplementary data

217.e4

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found, in the online version, at http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging. 2016.09.022.

References

- Beilina, A., Rudenko, I.N., Kaganovich, A., Civiero, L., Chau, H., Kalia, S.K., Kalia, L.V., Lobbestael, E., Chia, R., Ndukwe, K., Ding, J., Nalls, M.A., International Parkinson's Disease Genomics Consortium; North American Brain Expression Consortium, Olszewski, M., Hauser, D.N., Kumaran, R., Lozano, A.M., Baekelandt, V., Greene, L.E., Taymans, J.M., Greggio, E., Cookson, M.R., 2014. Unbiased screen for interactors of leucine-rich repeat kinase 2 supports a common pathway for sporadic and familial Parkinson disease. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 111, 2626–2631.
- Elbaz, A., Ross, O.A., Ioannidis, J.P., Soto-Ortolaza, A.I., Moisan, F., Aasly, J., Annesi, G., Bozi, M., Brighina, L., Chartier-Harlin, M.C., Destée, A., Ferrarese, C., Ferraris, A., Gibson, J.M., Gispert, S., Hadjigeorgiou, G.M., Jasinska-Myga, B., Klein, C., Krüger, R., Lambert, J.C., Lohmann, K., van de Loo, S., Loriot, M.A., Lynch, T., Mellick, G.D., Mutez, E., Nilsson, C., Opala, G., Puschmann, A., Quattrone, A., Sharma, M., Silburn, P.A., Stefanis, L., Uitti, R.J., Valente, E.M., Vilariño-Güell, C., Wirdefeldt, K., Wszolek, Z.K., Xiromerisiou, G., Maraganore, D.M., Farrer, M.J. Genetic Epidemiology of Parkinson's Disease (GEO-PD) Consortium, 2011. Independent and joint effects of the MAPT and SNCA genes in Parkinson disease. Ann. Neurol. 69, 778–792.
- Heckman, M.G., Elbaz, A., Soto-Ortolaza, A.I., Serie, D.J., Aasly, J.O., Annesi, G., Auburger, G., Bacon, J.A., Boczarska-Jedynak, M., Bozi, M., Brighina, L., Chartier-Harlin, M.C., Dardiotis, E., Destée, A., Ferrarese, C., Ferraris, A., Fiske, B., Gispert, S., Hadjigeorgiou, G.M., Hattori, N., Ioannidis, J.P., Jasinska-Myga, B., Jeon, B.S., Kim, Y.J., Klein, C., Kruger, R., Kyratzi, E., Lin, C.H., Lohmann, K., Loriot, M.A., Lynch, T., Mellick, G.D., Mutez, E., Opala, G., Park, S.S., Petrucci, S., Quattrone, A., Sharma, M., Silburn, P.A., Sohn, Y.H., Stefanis, L., Tadic, V., Tomiyama, H., Uitti, R.J., Valente, E.M., Vassilatis, D.K., Vilariño-Guell, C., White, L.R., Wirdefeldt, K., Wszolek, Z.K., Wu, R.M., Xiromerisiou, G., Maraganore, D.M., Farrer, M.J., Ross, O.A. Genetic Epidemiology Of Parkinson's Disease (GEO-PD) Consortium, 2014. Protective effect of *LRRK2* p.R1398H on risk of Parkinson's disease is independent of *MAPT* and *SNCA* variants. Neurobiol. Aging 35, 266.e5–266.e14.
- International Parkinson Disease Genomics Consortium, Nalls, M.A., Plagnol, V., Plagnol, V., Hernandez, D.G., Sharma, M., Sheerin, U.M., Saad, M., Simón-Sánchez, J., Schulte, C., Lesage, S., Sveinbjörnsdóttir, S., Stefánsson, K., Martinez, M., Hardy, J., Heutink, P., Brice, A., Gasser, T., Singleton, A.B., Wood, N.W., 2011. Imputation of sequence variants for identification of genetic risks for Parkinson's disease: a meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies. Lancet 377, 641–649.
- Lesage, S., Brice, A., 2009. Parkinson's disease: from monogenic forms to genetic susceptibility factors. Hum. Mol. Genet. 18, R48–R59.
- MacLeod, D.A., Rhinn, H., Kuwahara, T., Zolin, A., Di Paolo, G., McCabe, B.D., Marder, K.S., Honig, L.S., Clark, L.N., Small, S.A., Abeliovich, A., 2013. *RAB7L1* interacts with *LRRK2* to modify intraneuronal protein sorting and Parkinson's disease risk. Neuron 77, 425–439.
- Soto-Ortolaza, A.I., Heckman, M.G., Labbe, C., Serie, D.J., Puschmann, A., Rayaprolu, S., Strongosky, A., Boczarska-Jedynak, M., Opala, G., Krygowska-Wajs, A., Barcikowska, M., Czyzewski, K., Lynch, T., Uitti, R.J., Wszolek, Z.K., Ross, O.A., 2013. GWAS risk factors in Parkinson's disease: *LRRK2* coding variation and genetic interaction with *PARK16*. Am. J. Neurodegener. Dis. 2, 287–299.
- Trinh, J., Farrer, M., 2013. Advances in the genetics of Parkinson disease. Nat. Rev. Neurol. 9, 445–454.

Supplementary Materials

1. Introduction

While a comprehensive evaluation of interactions of PD susceptibility has yet to be performed, several studies have investigated the interactions between various genes of interest¹⁻⁴. Although the results of most gene-gene interactions studies in PD to date have pointed toward independent effects for PD susceptibility variants, an exception to this has been assessments of functional-genetic interaction between *LRRK2* and *PARK16* locus⁵⁻⁷, with a previous study demonstrating through protein-protein interaction arrays that *RAB7L1* is a binding partner for *LRRK2*⁵ More recently, Kuwahara et al also demonstrated that orthologues of LRRK2 and RAB7L1 in C. elegans neurons work together concomitantly in an ordered pathway to determine axonal length⁶. One recent study also found function evidence that overexpression of RAB7L1, a candidate gene for PARK16 locus, reversed the effects of the *LRRK2* mutation and rescued the phenotype⁸. Furthermore, effect of the LRRK2 risk variant (rs1176052) was negated in individuals with a copy of the protective allele for the PARK16 variant (rs823114)⁸. This initial identification of an interaction between LRRK2 and PARK16 regarding susceptibility to PD leads to several important follow-up questions, such as whether the interaction is still evident when even larger series are examined, whether it is consistent for subjects of differing ethnicities and from different geographic regions, and whether it remains apparent for other variants in the two loci. Therefore, the aim of this study was to evaluate the interaction between several different LRRK2 and PARK16 variants in determining PD risk using a Caucasian series consisting of more than 10,000 subjects from 14 different centers, and an Asian series comprised of more than 5,000 subjects from 5 different centers.

2. Methods

2.1 Participants

http://www.geo-pd.org/about/Diagnosis of PD was made according to standard criteria^{9,10}. Controls were individuals free of any extra-pyramidal disorder. All subjects were unrelated, and carriers of pathogenic LRRK2 mutations were excluded. Demographic information of PD patients and controls for each GEoPD site is provided in Supplementary Table 1. We selected LRRK2 rs1491942 and LRRK2 rs7133914 in concordance with previously demonstrated associations^{11,12}. Of note, *LRRK2* rs7133914 (LRRK2 p.R1398H) is part of a 3-SNP haplotype (p.N551K-R1398H-K1423K) that has been shown to be protective for PD, and was selected for inclusion for this study as it has been shown to be the most likely functional variant on the haplotype^{13,14}. The Japanese site from our Asian series utilized genotype data from a previous GWAS¹⁵. If the LRRK2 and PARK16 SNPs of interest in this study were not directly genotyped in Japanese GWAS cohort, we used proxy SNPs with r² values >0.8 to fully capture genetic information. Using these proxy criteria, we were able to match exact SNPs from the Japanese GWAS cohort for four SNPs (rs708725, rs823139, rs823156, rs11240572) within the PARK16 locus, and a single proxy SNP, rs2201144, was identified for LRRK2 rs1491942. LRRK2 rs7133914 was not genotyped in the Asian series and was genotyped for only a subset of the Caucasian series (3622 patients, 3042 controls). Furthermore, Haploview was used to measure the LD coefficient between SNPs used in our study and with that of MacLeod et al⁵. All variants followed Hardy Weinberg Equilibrium (HWE) in controls. All genotype call rates were >97%. We found limited linkage disequilibrium between the variants within the same gene or locus (r^2 <0.50 in all cases).

The Department of Human Genetics of the Helmholtz Center served as the genotyping core and performed all genotyping (Munich). Each site sent 100–200 ng of DNA to the laboratory core. Casecontrol status was blinded at the genotyping code for each site. We performed the genotyping on a matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight (MALDI-TOF) mass spectrometry on a MassArray system (Sequenom, San Diego, CA). A mass spectrometer analyzed the cleaned extension products (Bruker Daltronik, USA), and the MassArray Typer 4.0.2.5 software was used for peak identification (Sequenom). The AssayDesigner software 4.0 (Sequenom) was used for assay design,

with the default parameters for the iPLEX Gold chemistry and the Human GenoTyping Tools ProxSNP and PreXTEND (Sequenom). One multiplex assay was used to genotype all of the variants. To check genotype clustering, an experienced investigator blinded to patient affection status visually reviewed the sample results.

2.4 Statistical analysis

Sensitivity of the results of gene-gene interaction analysis to the use of random effects models was also considered¹⁶. Not all of the sites had complete information on age and gender, and thus we performed secondary analyses with adjustment for age and gender. Cochran's Q test of homogeneity was used to evaluate between-site heterogeneity, along with the l² metric, which is interpreted as the proportion of variation in between-site interaction ORs that is due to heterogeneity beyond chance^{17,18}.

To aid in the interpretation of tests of interaction, we also combined the two variants involved in the given interaction into one variable, allowing for a different category for each different genotype combination. The association between this genotype combination variable and PD was then evaluated using a fixed effects logistic regression model adjusted for GEO-PD site, where the most common genotype combination was the reference category, and ORs and 95% CIs were estimated in relation to this reference category. P-values were also calculated for comparison of the reference category, though the ORs and 95% CIs are of most interest in interpreting the interaction (or lack thereof) between the given two variants and p-values are presented mostly for completeness. We refer to these analyses where the joint effect of the given two SNPs on PD risk is being examined as "tests of association". To be clear, these tests of association are presented only to assist in the interpretation of the aforementioned gene-gene interactions, and do not represent tests of interaction themselves¹⁹.

Variants with a minor allele frequency (MAF) less than 10% in either one of the series (Caucasian or Asian) were evaluated under a dominant model (i.e. presence vs. absence of the minor allele) in all

analyses to maintain consistency of statistical models and allow for comparison of results between series. Subjects were coded as either 0 (absence of the minor allele) or 1 (presence of the minor allele) for each variant. Variants with a MAF of 10% or greater in both the Asian and Caucasian series were examined under an additive model (i.e. effect of each addition allele), with the subject coded as (0,1,2), depending on the number of copies of the minor allele. Under this rule, *LRRK2* variant rs7133914 and *PARK16* rs11240572 were coded under the dominant scheme, and *LRRK2* 1491942 and *PARK16* rs823139 [*RAB7L1*], rs70875 [*RAB7L1*], rs823156 [*SLC41A1*], and rs708723 [*RAB7L1*] were coded under the additive scheme. All statistical tests were two-sided, with multiple testing correction set at 0.005 for 2-sided p-value, due to the 10 different combinations of SNPs. All statistical analyses were performed using R Statistical Software (version 3.0.2, R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria).

3. Results

A total of 19 sites contributed 7627 PD patients and 8261 neurologically normal patients (Supplementary Table 1). Out of the 19 sites, 14 sites contributed data of Caucasian ancestry and five sites contributed data of Asian ancestry. The proportion of men ranged from 41.6% to 67.8% in PD patients and 35.1% to 62.3% in controls (Supplementary Table 1). The mean age at onset was 68.1 years for PD patients, and comparable to the mean age of study of healthy controls was 67.5 years (Supplementary Table 1). Of note, given the homogenous nature of the Belgium population, we combined the data from the two Belgium sites (Garraux and von Broeckhoven) in all analyses due to the smaller sample size of the Garraux site (Supplementary Table 1).

Associations of each of the eight individual *PARK16* and *LRRK2* variants with risk of PD are shown in Supplementary Table 2. Although some of these associations have largely been shown previously, it is helpful to first understand single-variant associations before examining interactions. *LRRK2* rs1491942 was associated with an increased risk of PD in the Caucasian series (OR: 1.16, P=2.2E-05) but not the Asian series (OR: 1.10, P=0.03) (Supplementary Table 2). For *PARK16*, a risk effect was observed for rs708723 in the Asian series (OR: 1.76, P=0.00011) but not Caucasian series (OR: 1.03,

P=0.32), while protective effects were noted for both rs708725 in the Caucasian series and for rs708725, rs823139, rs823156, and rs11240572 in the Asian series (Supplementary Table 2). Supplementary Tables 3-5 contain the results for the multiplicative interaction analysis between *LRRK2* rs1491942 and *PARK16* SNPs, for both the combined and the individual Caucasian and Asian series. Supplementary Table 6 shows the results for the stratified analysis between *LRRK2* rs1491942 and *PARK16* rs11240572, where we observe a trend in the stratified analysis; however the multiplicative interaction is not significant after multiple testing correction. Supplementary Table 7 displays the results of the multiplicative interaction between *LRRK2* rs7133914 and the *PARK16* SNPs, no interaction effects of note were observed.

4. Discussion

The identification of genetic mutations in genes linked to familial forms of PD (e.g. *LRRK2*, *VPS35*, *DNAJC13*) and genetic variability within the *PARK16* locus in GWAS strongly implicates the role of retromer and lysosomal pathway in PD pathogenesis^{20,21}. Mutant forms of *LRRK2* have been shown to affect *RABL71* dependent lysosomal clustering and thus linking endosomal pathway to PD. Additionally, previous functional studies have demonstrated that *LRRK2* and *RAB7L1* work together in regulating axonal elongation⁶. Interestingly, deficiency of the *PARK16* locus candidate gene, *RAB7L1*, in mammalian or Drosophila dopamine neurons causes neurodegeneration; in contrast, overexpression of the *RAB7L1* rescued the *LRRK2* mutant phenotype suggesting that both *RAB7L1* and *LRRK2*genes bound together and functionally interact with each other in regulating neurite length process in vitro and in-vivo⁷. Therefore, to understand the impact of interaction in world-wide populations, we performed a large-multi-center study to assess the genetic evidence of interaction between *LRRK2* and *PARK16* locus.

The results of our study do not provide evidence of a genetic interaction between *PARK16* and *LRRK2* variants with regard to risk of PD. Heterogeneity in between-site interaction OR estimates

was minimal, thus the lack of interaction was consistently observed. It is unlikely that our results are influenced by analyzing different SNPs as compared to MacLeod study. Indeed, we observed high D' prime (range 0.5 -1.0) between our *LRRK2* SNPs and SNPs analyzed in a previously published study, and similarly for our *PARK16* SNPs (range 0.15-1) indicating that our SNPs fully captured the genetic information covered by MacLeod et al.

Of note, the directionality of effect estimates, albeit with a much weaker effect size observed in the present study, involving the specific *LRRK2* rs1491942/*PARK16* rs11240572 interaction are in agreement with previously published findings⁸. Specifically, while both studies observed ORs very close to 1 for the *LRRK2* variant that was examined in the given study in carriers of the rare *PARK16* allele, ORs associated with the *LRRK2* variant were greater than 1 in our study (ORs of 1.13 and 1.17 in the Asian and Caucasian series) and in the MacLeod study (ORs ranging from 1.31 to 2.49 in the 4 different series examined) for non-carriers of the *PARK16* minor allele.

Several limitations of our study should be noted. Genetic interaction studies are limited by sample size and power due to the fact that variable of focus in an interaction study is the presence of the genotype of interest for both variants, and this occurs much less frequently than the individual variant genotypes. As a result, even with our large sample size, power is still limited to detect moderate to small gene-gene interaction effects. Therefore, the possibility of a false-negative finding is important to bear in mind, and 95% confidence limits for interaction OR estimates should be considered when interpreting results. Finally, we cannot exclude the possibility that population stratification could have had an impact on our results, however our analysis adjusting for GEO-PD site would have accounted for that to a large extent.

In conclusion, our study does not provide strong evidence to support previous findings that *LRRK2* and *PARK16* variants may interact in determining risk of PD for a given individual. However, there

was some degree of concordance between our interaction findings and those that were previously

reported, with the caveat that our results were much weaker than the strong LRRK2-PARK16

interaction that was previously reported⁷. Larger series will be needed to resolve whether a true

LRRK2-PARK16 interaction occurs. Of note, even with the large GEoPD sample size, which we have

accrued to perform current study, we are likely underpowered to detect weaker interaction effects;

however such studies will be critical if we are to understand the role of gene-gene interaction in

disease susceptibility.

References

1. Elbaz A, Ross OA, Ioannidis JP, et al. Independent and joint effects of the *MAPT* and *SNCA* genes in Parkinson disease. Annals of neurology 2011; 69:778-792.

2. Goris A, Williams-Gray CH, Clark GR, et al. Tau and alpha-synuclein in susceptibility to, and dementia in, Parkinson's disease. Annals of neurology 2007; 62:145-153.

3. Trotta L, Guella I, Solda G, et al. *SNCA* and *MAPT* genes: Independent and joint effects in Parkinson disease in the Italian population. Parkinsonism & related disorders 2012; 18:257-262.

4. Wider C, Vilarino-Guell C, Heckman MG, et al. *SNCA*, *MAPT*, and *GSK3B* in Parkinson disease: a gene-gene interaction study. European journal of neurology 2011; 18:876-881.

5. Beilina A, Rudenko IN, Kaganovich A, et al. Unbiased screen for interactors of leucine-rich repeat kinase 2 supports a common pathway for sporadic and familial Parkinson disease. PNAS 2014; 7: 2626-2631.

6. Kuwahara T, Inoue K, D'Agati VD, et al. *LRRK2* and *RAB7L1* coordinately regulate axonal morphology and lysosome integrity in diverse cellular contexts. Nature 2016, 6: 29945.

7. MacLeod DA, Rhinn H, Kuwahara T, et al. RAB7L1 interacts with *LRRK2* to modify intraneuronal protein sorting and Parkinson's disease risk. Neuron 2013; 77:425-439.

8. Soto-Ortolaza AI, Heckman MG, Labbe C, et al. GWAS risk factors in Parkinson's disease: *LRRK2* coding variation and genetic interaction with *PARK16*. American journal of neurodegenerative disease 2013; 2:287-299.

9. Gelb DJ, Oliver E, Gilman S. Diagnostic criteria for Parkinson disease. Archives of neurology 1999; 56:33-39.

10. Hughes AJ, Daniel SE, Kilford L, Lees AJ. Accuracy of clinical diagnosis of idiopathic Parkinson's disease: a clinico-pathological study of 100 cases. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1992 Mar; 55(3): 181-4.

11. Trinh J, Vilarino-Guell C, Ross OA. A commentary on fine mapping and resequencing of the *PARK16* locus in Parkinson's disease. Journal of human genetics 2015; 60:405-406.

12. Ross OA, Soto-Ortolaza AI, Heckman MG, et al. Association of *LRRK2* exonic variants with susceptibility to Parkinson's disease: a case-control study. Lancet Neurol 2011; 10:898-908.

13. Lill CM, Roehr JT, McQueen MB, et al. Comprehensive research synopsis and systematic meta-analyses in Parkinson's disease genetics: The PDGene database. PLoS genetics 2012; 8: e1002548.

14. International Parkinson Disease Genomics C, Nalls MA, Plagnol V, et al. Imputation of sequence variants for identification of genetic risks for Parkinson's disease: a meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies. Lancet 2011; 377: 641-649.

15. Tan EK, Skipper LM. Pathogenic mutations in Parkinson disease. Human mutation 2007; 28:641-653.

16. Satake W, Nakabayashi Y, Mizuta I, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies commn variants at four loci as genetic risk factors for Parkinson's disease. Nature Genetics 2009; 41:1303-1307.

17. DerSimonian R, Laird N. Meta-analysis in clinical trials. Controlled clinical trials 1986; 7: 177-188.

18. Higgins JP, Thompson SG. Quantifying heterogeneity in a meta-analysis. Statistics in medicine 2002; 21:1539-1558.

19. Higgins JP, Thompson S, Deeks J, Altman D. Statistical heterogeneity in systematic reviews of clinical trials: a critical appraisal of guidelines and practice. Journal of health services research & policy 2002; 7:51-61.

20. VanderWeele TJ, Tchetgen Tchetgen EJ. Attributing effects to interactions. Epidemiology 2014; 25:711-722.

21. Tang FL, Erion JR, Tain Y, et al. *VPS35* in dopamine neurons is required for endosome-to-golgi retrieval of Lamp2a, a receptor of chaperone-mediated autophagy that is critical for alpha-synuclein degration and prevention of pathogenesis of Parkinson's Disease. Journal of Neuroscience 2015; 29:10613-28.

Site	Country	No. of PD Cases	No. of Controls	No. (%) of Males in PD cases	No. (%) of Males in Controls	Mean(SD) Age in PD Cases	Mean(SD) Age in controls	Diagnostic Criteria
Caucasian series								
Aasly	Norway	527	510	314 (59%)	276 (54%)	73.8 (10.6)	71.1 (10.6)	UKPDBB
Annesi	Italy	178	182	98 (53.6%)	93 (51.1%)	65.6 (9)	61.9 (9)	UKPDBB
Bozi	Greece	113	104	55 (48.7%)	49 (47.1%)	75.7 (7.3)	73.0 (7.3)	UKPDBB
Brice	France	272	231	168 (61.8%)	132 (57.1%)	57.7 (11.5)	57.8 (11.5)	UKPDBB
Garraux	Belgium	64	14	34 (53.1%)	7 (50%)	70.5 (9.6)	66.1 (9.6)	UKPDBB
Hadjigeorgiou	Greece	313	328	170 (54.3%)	169 (51.5%)	64.7 (9.8)	63.2 (9.8)	UKPDBB
Lynch/Ross	Ireland	328	345	183 (55.8%)	121 (35.1%)	68.1 (10.3)	73.4 (10.3)	UKPDBB
Maragonore	USA	801	223	491 (62.4%)	109 (62.6%)	61.7 (11)	NA	UKPDBB
Mellick	Australia	893	916	556 (62.3%)	373 (40.7%)	73.6 (11.1)	71.7 (11.1)	Bower
Morrison	England	723	349	490 (67.8%)	87 (25.1%)	66.2 (10.8)	NA	UKPDBB
Opala/Ross	Poland	291	255	186 (63.9%)	113 (44.3%)	70.9 (10.5)	65.0 (10.5)	UKPDBB
van Broeckhoven	Belgium	497	510	286 (57.1%)	214 (42.1%)	68.1 (10.6)	64.7 (10.6)	Pals/ Gelb
Wirdefeldt	Sweden	77	194	41 (53.2%)	93 (47.9%)	72.3 (8.4)	71.0 (8.4)	UKPDBB
Wszolek/Ross	USA	692	827	440 (63.6%)	354 (42.8%)	74.6 (11.4)	70.1 (11.4)	UKPDBB
Total		7715	8261					
Asian series								
Chung	Korea	368	333	153 (41.6%)	140 (42%)	58 (9.6)	66.1 (9.6)	UKPDBB
Lin	Taiwan	160	160	80 (50%)	80 (50%)	70.8 (9.8)	70.8 (9.8)	UKPDBB
Mok	China	259	78	158 (61.5%)	52 (66.7%)	64.8 (4.1)	62.5 (4.1)	UKPDBB
Satake/Toda	Japan	988	2521	405 (41.0%)	1525 (60.5%)	58.8 (10.1)	49.9 (14.2)	UKPDBB
Tan	Singapore	171	181	110 (64.3%)	112 (61.9%)	62.4 (9.3)	45.2 (9.3)	UKPDBB
Total		1946	3273					

Supplementary Table 1: Descriptive Statistics of Individual Sites

No.= number, NA indicates that data was unavailable

Supplementary Table 2: Associations and Minor Allele Frequency (MAF) of individual *LRRK2* and *PARK16* variants with risk of PD in Caucasian and Asian Series. MAF was calculated separately for Asian and Caucasian series.

Cauca	sian	Series
cuucu	Jiun	501105

SNP	MAF	Minor Allele	OR	Pvalue
LRRK2 rs1491946	21.2%	С	1.16 (1.10 ,1.24)	<0.001
LRRK2 rs7133914	6.9%	А	0.93 (0.81 ,1.08)	0.36
PARK16 rs708273	42.6%	Т	1.03 (0.97 ,1.09)	0.32
PARK16 rs708725	48.4%	С	0.91 (0.86 ,0.97)	0.004
PARK16 rs823139	12.0%	Т	0.91 (0.84 ,1.00)	0.038
PARK16 rs823156	18.2%	G	0.94 (0.87 ,1.01)	0.09
PARK16 rs11240572	3.3%	А	1.09 (0.93 ,1.28)	0.28
Asian Series				
SNP	MAF	Minor Allele	OR	Pvalue
LRRK2 rs1491946	31.8%	С	1.10 (1.00 ,1.21)	0.03
PARK16 rs708723	14.0%	Т	1.76 (1.30 ,2.35)	<0.001
PARK16 rs708725	47.3%	С	0.82 (0.75 ,0.90)	<0.001
PARK16 rs823139	14.1%	Т	0.78 (0.69 ,0.88)	<0.001
PARK16 rs823156	20.7%	G	0.76 (0.68 ,0.85)	<0.001
PARK16 rs11240572	14.7%	А	0.78 (0.68 ,0.89)	<0.001

OR (Odds Ratio)

Supplementary Table 3: Evaluation of interactions of *LRRK2* rs1491942 and *PARK16* variants with regard to susceptibility to Parkinson's disease in the Combined Series

<i>LRRK2</i> Variant/Genotype	PARK16 Variant/Genotype	Sample genotype count and frequency	Test of Association OR	p-value	Models for the <i>LRRK2</i> and <i>PARK16</i> SNPs and Test of Interaction Results
LRRK2 rs1491942	rs708273				Additive/Additive Model
GG	GG	2601 (21.7%)	1.00 (reference)	N/A	OR: 1.0 (0.9, 1.11)
GG	GT	3288 (27.5%)	1.02 (0.92, 1.10)	0.75	p=0.98
GG	TT	1185 (9.9%)	1.02 (0.9, 1.15)	0.75	
GC	GG	1725 (14.4%)	1.11 (0.94, 1.30)	0.21	Heterogeneity: I ² =0, p=0.49
GC	GT	1824 (15.2%)	1.08 (0.94, 1.24)	0.25	
GC	тт	673 (5.6%)	1.2 (1.04, 1.37)	0.011	
СС	GG	315 (2.6%)	1.11 (0.9, 1.35)	0.32	
СС	GT	260 (2.2%)	1.37 (1.06, 1.78)	0.018	
СС	TT	93 (0.8%)	1.64 (1.21, 2.22)	0.001	
LRRK2 rs1491942	rs708725				Additive/Additive Model
GG	тт	2291 (15.8%)	1.00 (reference))	N/A	OR: 0.98 (0.90, 1.06)
GG	тс	3884 (26.7%)	0.85 (0.76, 0.95)	0.00365	p=0.55
GG	СС	2066 (14.2%)	0.82 (0.72, 0.94)	0.00332	
GC	TT	1579 (10.9%)	1.22 (1.06, 1.39)	0.00418	Heterogeneity: I ² =0, p=0.12
GC	тс	2510 (17.3%)	0.9 (0.8, 1.02)	0.0968	
GC	сс	1266 (8.7%)	0.91 (0.78, 1.06)	0.237	
СС	TT	249 (1.7%)	1.38 (1.05, 1.82)	0.0227	

СС	тс	448 (3.1%)	1.14 (0.92, 1.41)	0.232	
СС	СС	228 (1.6%)	1.15 (0.85, 1.54)	0.372	
LRRK2 rs1491942	rs823139				Additive/Additive Model
GG	GG	6825 (43.6%)	1.00 (reference)	N/A	OR: 1.01 (0.92, 1.11)
GG	GT	1945 (12.4%)	0.82 (0.74, 0.92)	0.00036	p=0.87
GG	TT	144 (0.9%)	1.08 (0.76, 1.53)	0.663	
GC	GG	4331 (27.7%)	1.12 (1.04, 1.22)	0.00483	Heterogeneity: I ² =0, p=0.56
GC	GT	1295 (8.3%)	0.91 (0.8, 1.03)	0.154	
GC	TT	103 (0.7%)	1.08 (0.72, 1.62)	0.702	
СС	GG	762 (4.9%)	1.35 (1.15, 1.58)	0.000244	
СС	GT	218 (1.4%)	1.25 (0.94, 1.66)	0.127	
СС	ТТ	16 (0.1%)	0.7 (0.25, 1.96)	0.491	
LRRK2 rs1491942	rs823156				Additive/AdditiveModel
GG	AA	5734 (37.6%)	1.00 (reference)	N/A	OR: 0.99 (0.88, 1.11)
GG	AG	2580 (16.9%)	0.89 (0.81, 0.98)	0.0228	p=0.83
GG	GG	346 (2.3%)	0.76 (0.6, 0.96)	0.0204	
GC	AA	3687 (24.2%)	1.14 (1.05, 1.24)	0.00316	Heterogeneity: I ² =33, p=0.56
GC	AG	1681 (11%)	0.98 (0.87, 1.1)	0.679	
GC	GG	234 (1.5%)	0.95 (0.72, 1.27)	0.744	
СС	AA	635 (4.2%)	1.32 (1.11, 1.57)	0.00148	
СС	AG	285 (1.9%)	1.29 (1.01, 1.67)	0.0453	
СС	GG	55 (0.4%)	0.97 (0.54, 1.75)	0.92	
LRRK2 rs1491942	rs11240572				Additive/Dominant Model
GG	СС	7839 (50%)	1.00 (reference)	N/A	OR: 0.87 (0.74, 1.01)
GG	CA+AA	1095 (7%)	0.99 (0.86, 1.13)	0.844	p=0.069
GC	СС	4903 (31.3%)	1.14 (1.06, 1.23)	0.000512	
GC	CA+AA	834 (5.3%)	0.91 (0.78, 1.06)	0.234	Heterogeneity: I ² =0, p=0.99
сс	СС	834 (5.3%)	1.39 (1.19, 1.62)	2.16E-05	
СС	CA+AA	167 (1.1%)	1.13 (0.82, 1.57)	0.447	

OR (Odds Ratio), Tests of Interaction presents results of Fixed Effects Model with OR and 95% Confidence Interval (CI), Models were either LRRK2 Additive/PARK16 Additive, LRRK2 Additive/PARK16 Dominant, or LRRK2 Dominant/PARK16 Dominant (when MAF<15%, then Dominant scheme was used) Supplementary Table 4: Evaluation of interactions of *LRRK2* rs1491942 and *PARK16* variants with regard to susceptibility to Parkinson's disease in the Caucasian Series

<i>LRRK2</i> Variant/Genotype	PARK16 Variant/Genotype	Sample genotype count and frequency	Test of Association OR	p-value	Models for the <i>LRRK2</i> and <i>PARK16</i> SNPs and Test of Interaction Results
			OR	p-value	
LRRK2 rs1491942	rs708273				Additive/AdditiveModel
GG	GG	2091 (20.2%)	1.00 (reference)	N/A	OR: 1.0 (0.88, 1.14)
GG	GT	3203 (30.9%)	1.02 (0.91, 1.14)	0.72	p=0.95
GG	тт	1130 (10.9%)	1.14 (0.99, 1.33)	0.074	
GC	GG	1111 (10.7%)	1.12 (0.96, 1.3)	0.15	Heterogeneity: I ² =0, p=0.48
GC	GT	1730 (16.7%)	1.19 (1.04, 1.36)	0.009	
GC	TT	625 (6%)	1.08 (0.9, 1.30)	0.39	
СС	GG	155 (1.5%)	1.61 (1.15, 2.27)	0.006	
СС	GT	230 (2.2%)	1.55 (1.17, 2.06)	0.002	
СС	TT	74 (0.7%)	1.52 (0.93, 2.48)	0.092	
LRRK2 rs1491942	rs708725				Additive/Additive Model
GG	тт	1626 (17.1%)	1.00 (reference)	N/A	OR: :1.02 (0.88, 1.18)
GG	тс	2728 (28.7%)	0.89 (0.78, 1.01)	0.066	p=0.83
GG	СС	1540 (16.2%)	0.85 (0.73, 0.99)	0.042	
GC	TT	960 (10.1%)	1.17 (1.00, 1.38)	0.058	Heterogeneity: I ² =0, p=0.16
GC	тс	1481 (15.6%)	0.95 (0.82, 1.10)	0.51	
GC	СС	770 (8.1%)	0.96 (0.79, 1.16)	0.66	
СС	тт	116 (1.2%)	1.33 (0.9, 1.96)	0.16	
СС	тс	194 (2%)	1.52 (1.11, 2.08)	0.009	
СС	СС	100 (1.1%)	1.26 (0.8, 1.98)	0.33	
LRRK2 rs1491942	rs823139				Additive/Additive Model
GG	GG	5035 (48.1%)	1.00 (reference)	N/A	OR: 0.99 (0.90, 1.10)
GG	GT	1374 (13.1%)	0.86 (0.76, 0.98)	0.018	p=0.59
GG	ТТ	91 (0.9%)	1.11 (0.72, 1.71)	0.63	
GC	GG	2708 (25.9%)	1.11 (1.01, 1.22)	0.03	Heterogeneity: I ² =0, p=0.54
GC	GT	742 (7.1%)	0.97 (0.83, 1.14)	0.71	
GC	тт	58 (0.6%)	1.19 (0.70, 2.02)	0.52	
СС	GG	361 (3.4%)	1.46 (1.17, 1.83)	<0.001	
СС	GT	91 (0.9%)	1.69 (1.08, 2.64)	0.021	
СС	TT	10 (0.1%)	0.65 (0.18, 2.32)	0.50	
LRRK2 rs1491942	rs823156				Additive/Additive Model
GG	AA	4151 (41.2%)	1.00 (reference)	N/A	OR: 0.95 (0.86, 1.05)
GG	AG	1882 (18.7%)	0.94 (0.84, 1.05)	0.27	p=0.87
GG	GG	209 (2.1%)	0.87 (0.66, 1.16)	0.35	
GC	AA	2278 (22.6%)	1.12 (1.01, 1.25)	0.034	Heterogeneity: l ² =23, p=0.37
GC	AG	996 (9.9%)	1.12 (0.97, 1.30)	0.11	
GC	GG	108 (1.1%)	0.84 (0.56, 1.24)	0.38	
СС	AA	301 (3%)	1.48 (1.15, 1.89)	0.002	
сс	AG	124 (1.2%)	1.59 (1.09, 2.32)	0.016	

CC	GG	17 (0.2%)	0.84 (0.31, 2.22)	0.72	
LRRK2 rs1491942	rs11240572				Additive/Dominant Model
GG	сс	6094 (57.9%)	1.00 (reference)	N/A	OR:0.89 (0.68, 1.17)
GG	CA+AA	434 (4.1%)	1.15 (0.94, 1.40)	0.17	p=0.25
GC	сс	3300 (31.4%)	1.12 (1.03, 1.23)	0.009	
GC	CA+AA	223 (2.1%)	1.06 (0.81, 1.40)	0.67	Heterogeneity: I ² =0, p=0.87
сс	сс	433 (4.1%)	1.51 (1.23, 1.86)	<0.001	
СС	CA+AA	33 (0.3%)	1.65 (0.8, 3.40)	0.17	

OR (Odds Ratio), Tests of Interaction presents results of Fixed Effects Model with OR and 95% Confidence Interval (CI), Models were either LRRK2 Additive/PARK16 Additive, LRRK2 Additive/PARK16 Dominant, or LRRK2 Dominant/PARK16 Dominant (when MAF<15%, then Dominant scheme was used)

Supplementary Table 5: Evaluation of interactions of *LRRK2* rs1491942 and *PARK16* variants with regard to susceptibility to Parkinson's disease in the Asian Series

<i>LRRK2</i> Variant/Genotype	PARK16 Variant/Genotype	Sample genotype count and frequency	Test of Association OR	p-value	Models for the <i>LRRK2</i> and <i>PARK16</i> SNPs and Test of Interaction Results
LRRK2 rs1491942	rs708723				Additive/Additive Model
GG	GG	510 (31.6%)	1.00 (reference)	N/A	OR: 1.1 (0.89, 1.36)
GG	GT	85 (5.3%)	2.72 (1.53, 4.83)	<0.001	p=0.40
GG	TT	55 (3.4%)	1.96 (0.97, 3.95)	0.060	
GC	GG	614 (38%)	1.01 (0.8, 1.28)	0.91	Heterogeneity: I ² =0, p=0.43
GC	GT	94 (5.8%)	4.11 (2.21, 7.65)	<0.001	
GC	TT	48 (3%)	2.94 (1.31, 6.56)	0.009	
СС	GG	160 (9.9%)	1.15 (0.81, 1.65)	0.43	
СС	GT	30 (1.9%)	2.69 (1.07, 6.8)	0.036	
СС	TT	19 (1.2%)	4.41 (1.22, 15.9)	0.024	
LRRK2 rs1491942	rs708725				Additive/Additive Model
GG	тт	665 (13.3%)	1.00 (reference)	N/A	OR: 0. 97 (0.86, 1.11)
GG	тс	1156 (23.1%)	0.76 (0.62, 0.94)	0.01	p=0.69
GG	сс	526 (10.5%)	0.74 (0.58, 0.96)	0.0237	
GC	TT	619 (12.4%)	1.25 (0.99, 1.58)	0.0614	Heterogeneity: I ² =0, p=0.19
GC	тс	1029 (20.6%)	0.8 (0.65, 0.99)	0.0411	
GC	СС	496 (9.9%)	0.82 (0.63, 1.06)	0.124	
СС	TT	133 (2.7%)	1.35 (0.9, 2)	0.142	
СС	тс	254 (5.1%)	0.85 (0.62, 1.16)	0.302	
СС	СС	128 (2.6%)	1 (0.67, 1.51)	0.982	
LRRK2 rs1491942	rs823139				Additive/Additive Model
GG	GG	1790 (34.6%)	1.00 (reference)	N/A	OR: 1.08 (0.93, 1.26)
GG	GT	571 (11%)	0.72 (0.58, 0.89)	0.00223	p=0.31
GG	TT	53 (1%)	1 (0.55, 1.81)	0.993	
GC	GG	1623 (31.4%)	1.12 (0.97, 1.29)	0.133	Heterogeneity: I ² =0, p=0.23
GC	GT	553 (10.7%)	0.81 (0.66, 1)	0.0508	
GC	TT	45 (0.9%)	0.92 (0.48, 1.74)	0.791	
СС	GG	401 (7.8%)	1.21 (0.96, 1.52)	0.112	
СС	GT	127 (2.5%)	0.96 (0.65, 1.42)	0.839	

CC	TT	6 (0.1%)	0.79 (0.14, 4.51)	0.791	
LRRK2 rs1491942	rs823156				Additive/Additive Model
GG	AA	1583 (30.6%)	1.00 (reference)	N/A	OR: 0.99 (0.82, 1.12)
GG	AG	698 (13.5%)	0.76 (0.62, 0.93)	0.00658	p=0.92
GG	GG	137 (2.6%)	0.53 (0.35, 0.82)	0.00388	2
GC	AA	1409 (27.2%)	1.14 (0.97, 1.33)	0.103	Heterogeneity: l ² =16 p=0.29
GC	AG	685 (13.2%)	0.74 (0.61, 0.91)	0.00352	
GC	GG	126 (2.4%)	0.98 (0.64, 1.52)	0.94	
СС	AA	334 (6.5%)	1.13 (0.88, 1.46)	0.326	
СС	AG	161 (3.1%)	1.02 (0.72, 1.46)	0.893	
СС	GG	38 (0.7%)	0.92 (0.43, 1.99)	0.835	
LRRK2 rs1491942	rs11240572				Additive/Dominant Model
GG	СС	1745 (33.9%)	1.00 (reference)	N/A	OR:0.92 (0.75, 1.13)
GG	CA+AA	661 (12.8%)	0.85 (0.7, 1.04)	0.116	p=0.42
GC	СС	1603 (31.1%)	1.17 (1.01, 1.35)	0.039	
GC	CA+AA	611 (11.9%)	0.82 (0.67, 1.01)	0.0633	Heterogeneity: I ² =0, p=0.87
СС	СС	401 (7.8%)	1.23 (0.97, 1.55)	0.0825	
СС	CA+AA	134 (2.6%)	1 (0.68, 1.45)	0.981	

OR (Odds Ratio), Tests of Interaction presents results of Fixed Effects Model with OR and 95% Confidence Interval (CI), Models were either LRRK2 Additive/PARK16 Additive, LRRK2 Additive/PARK16 Dominant, or LRRK2 Dominant/PARK16 Dominant (when MAF<15%, then Dominant scheme was used)

Supplementary Table 6: Stratified Analysis of Effect of LRRK2 rs1491942 on Carriers and Non-carriers of PARK16 rs11240572 Minor Allele

PARK16 rs11240572 allele										
	Carriers			Non-Carriers						
Ethnic Series	<i>LRRK2</i> OR (95% CI)	pval	n	<i>LRRK2</i> OR (95% CI)	pval		n			
Asian	1.02 (0.85 ,1.22)	0.82	1409	1.13 (1.58 ,1.10)		0.17	3766			
Caucasian	1.04 (0.80 ,1.35)	0.79	697	1.17 (1.10 ,1.25)		<0.000	9995			
Combined	1.03 (0.88 ,1.19)	0.73	2106	1.15 (0.10 ,1.22)		<0.000	13761			

Supplementary Table 7: Evaluation of interactions of *LRRK2* rs7133914 and *PARK16* variants with regard to susceptibility to Parkinson's disease in the Caucasian Series

<i>LRRK2</i> Variant/Genotype	PARK16 Variant/Genotype	sample genotype count and frequency	Test of Association OR	p-value	Models for the <i>LRRK2</i> and <i>PARK16</i> SNPs and Test of Interaction Results
LRRK2 rs7133914	rs708273				Dominant/Additive Model
GG	GG	1788 (27.9%)	1.00 (reference)	N/A	OR: 0.92 (0.69, 1.20)
GG	GT	3764 (58.7%)	1.02 (0.91, 1.16)	0.71	p=0.54
GG	тт	288 (4.5%)	1.10 (0.94, 1.30)	0.22	
GA+AA	GG	577 (9%)	1.07 (0.83, 1.39)	0.60	Heterogeneity: I ² =35 p=0.11
GA+AA	GT	1361 (22.7%)	0.88 (0.71, 1.10)	0.26	
GA+AA	TT	3834 (63.9%)	0.96 (0.69, 1.33)	0.79	
LRRK2 rs7133914	rs708725				Dominant/Additive Model
GG	TT	206 (3.4%)	1.00 (reference)	N/A	Additive Model
GG	тс	600 (10%)	0.92 (0.8, 1.06)	0.24	OR: 0.85(0.61, 1.18)
GG	СС	4317 (66.4%)	0.79 (0.66, 0.94)	0.008	p=0.33
GA+AA	тт	1306 (20.1%)	0.89 (0.66, 1.20)	0.44	
GA+AA	тс	688 (10.6%)	0.72 (0.57, 0.91)	0.006	Heterogeneity: I ² =0, p=0.61
GA+AA	СС	188 (2.9%)	1.02 (0.74, 1.40)	0.91	
LRRK2 rs7133914	rs823139				Dominant/Additive Model
GG	GG	3658 (58.1%)	1.00 (reference)	N/A	Additive Model
GG	GT	1799 (28.6%)	0.92 (0.81, 1.05)	0.22	OR: 1.20(0.97, 1.48)
GG	тт	573 (9.1%)	1.00 (0.65, 1.53)	0.99	p=0.096
GA+AA	GG	270 (4.3%)	0.98 (0.83, 1.15)	0.80	
GA+AA	GT	5486 (84%)	0.72 (0.53, 0.98)	0.034	Heterogeneity: I ² =13, p=0.25
GA+AA	тт	169 (2.6%)	1.26 (0.34, 4.64)	0.73	
LRRK2 rs7133914	rs823156				Dominant/Additive Model
GG	AA	848 (13%)	1.00 (reference)	N/A	Additive Model
GG	AG	26 (0.4%)	1.00 (0.89, 1.13)	0.96	OR: 0.88 (0.72, 1.09)
GG	GG	5281 (80.9%)	0.83 (0.60, 1.13)	0.24	p=0.25
GA+AA	AA	370 (5.7%)	0.97 (0.81, 1.17)	0.77	
GA+AA	AG	805 (12.3%)	0.79 (0.60, 1.03)	0.078	Heterogeneity:1 ² =0. p=0.74
GA+AA	GG	70 (1.1%)	1.13 (0.49, 2.64)	0.77	
LRRK2 rs7133914	rs11240572				Dominant/Dominant Model
GG	СС	1730 (16.7%)	1.00 (reference)	N/A	OR: 1.20 (0.70, 2.07)
GG	CA+AA	625 (6%)	1.05 (0.84, 1.30)	0.69	p=0.51
GA+AA	СС	155 (1.5%)	0.91 (0.78, 1.06)	0.25	
GA+AA	CA+AA	230 (2.2%)	1.15 (0.71, 1.86)	0.57	Heterogeneity: I ² =0, p=0.61

Figure 1: Forest Plot of LRRK2 rs1491942 and PARK16 rs1124072 in PD cases and controls in Caucasian, Asian, and combined series



Part 3: Parkinson's disease and type 1 diabetes – An analysis on 19,864 patients from the DPV registry

Manuscript 3:

Lisa Wang^{1, *}, Nicole Prinz^{2,7,*}, Marcus Altmeier³, Katharina Laubner⁴, Artur Zimmermann⁵, Sandra Zlamal-Fortunat⁶, Manu Sharma^{1,#}, Reinhard W Holl^{2,7,#} on behalf of the German/Austrian DPV initiative

¹Centre for Genetic Epidemiology, Institute of Clinical Epidemiology and Applied Biostatistics,

Germany; University of Tuebingen, Germany

²University of Ulm, Institute of Epidemiology and Medical Biometry, ZIBMT, Germany

³Diabetes Center, Klinikum Dortmund Nord, Dortmund, Germany

⁴Division of Endocrinology and Diabetology, Department of Internal Medicine II, University Hospital

of Freiburg, Faculty of Medicine, Freiburg, Germany

⁵Diabetes Center Bad Aibling, Bad Aibling, Germany

⁶Clinical Center Klagenfurt, 1st Medical Department, Klagenfurt, Austria

⁷German Center for Diabetes Research (DZD), München-Neuherberg, Germany

^{*}joint first authorship

[#]joint senior authorship

<u>Abstract</u>

Introduction: The growing life expectancy increases the risk for comorbidities. Emerging evidence showed an involvement of immune dysfunction in seemingly diverse phenotypes such as Parkinson disease (PD) and type-1 diabetes (T1D). We examined differences in diabetes disease pathogenesis between PD and non-PD patients. We determined the prevalence and compared the diabetic endpoints in T1D patients with or without PD. Methods: We performed an epidemiological study with multivariable logistic regression. Data was retrieved from the German/Austrian prospective, multicenter diabetes patient follow-up registry, DPV. In total, 19,864 T1D patients aged ≥40 years were analyzed; 111 patients had a PD diagnosis and/or used specific anti-Parkinson medication. We compared clinical and biological endpoints between PD and non-PD T1D patients. To adjust for demographic differences, multivariable regression models with age, sex and duration of diabetes as covariates were used.

Results: PD patients were significantly older (74.2 vs 55.7 years, <0.0001) and had longer diabetes duration than non-PD patients (30.1 vs 21.9 years, p<0.0001). Demographically-adjusted analyses showed a significantly increased risk for renal failure for patients with PD and T1D (OR (95%CI): 3.3 (1.8-6.0), p<0.0001). Furthermore, increased risk for dementia (OR (CI): 2.0 (1.2-3.3), p=0.005), stroke (1.7 (1.1-2.8), p=0.028), and as well as a longer duration of hospital stay (5.19±0.18 vs 3.08±0.01, p<0.001) was observed for PD patients.

Conclusion: An increased risk for renal failure, dementia and stroke was observed in patients with T1D and PD as compared to patients with T1D alone. The clinical end-points should be taken into consideration in routine clinical practice.

Short summary: A large scale retrospective cohort study comparing comorbidies of Parkinson's disease patients with neurologically normal patients within a type 1 diabetes population.

Introduction:

Parkinson's disease (PD) is one of the most common neurodegenerative disorders, affecting between 0.1 and 3% of the general population, and second in prevalence only to Alzheimer's disease [1]. The disease is characterized by a loss of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra, resulting in reduced striatal dopamine content, which leads to decline in the motor systems [2]. The nonmotor symptoms such as depression, gastrointestinal dysfunction, and autonomic dysfunction precede onset of motor symptoms [2], and severity of non- motor symptoms increases with advancing disease [3,4]. While the degeneration of dopaminergic neurons remains central to disease pathogenesis, non-dopaminergic neurons (such as norepinephrinergic, cholinergic and serotoninergic neurons) in the basal forebrain, locus coeruleus, and raphei nuclei respectively are also affected indicating that disease progresses first through lower brainstem before spreading to the basal ganglia and cortex [4].

The exact mechanism of neuronal decay in PD is not fully understood, although emerging evidence links abnormal protein misfolding, mitochondrial dysfunction, and oxidative stress to PD pathogenesis [5]. Furthermore, neuroinflammatory mechanisms such as microglia activation, astrogliosis and lymphocytic infiltration may also contribute to the neuronal degeneration [6]. It is still not resolved whether neuroinflammation is a consequence or cause of cell death. Nevertheless, emerging evidences generated from postmortem, epidemiological and genetic studies indicate that neuroinflammation can be a risk factor for PD. For example, in post-mortem studies of PD patients, neuroinflammatory markers such as tumor necrosis factor ($TNF\alpha$), interleukin (IL) 1 β , 6, and 2 were found in the striatum and substantia nigra, suggesting that immune response plays a significant role in the disease progression [2]. Candidate gene studies assessing genetic variability of neuroinflammation genes such as (TNF, IFN¥, IL) consistently showed increased risk for PD [7,8]. Likewise, data generated from epidemiological studies also showed protective effect of anti-

inflammatory drugs for PD patients [9]. Interestingly, data generated from genome wide association studies (GWAS) in PD established the role of HLA locus in PD, thus underscoring an involvement of neuroinflammation in PD [8,10]. In addition, alpha-synuclein deposits have been discovered in the pancreas in PD patients, and the protein itself has been implicated in binding of insulin-secretory granules and in insulin secretion inhibition [11]. The developing body of evidence suggests that the two diseases interact at on both the genetic and functional level [12].

The role of inflammatory mediators contributing to the pathogenesis of autoimmune disorders such as T1D is much wider than previously anticipated because of the polygenic nature of the disease [13,14]. It has been suggested that immune response, inflammatory mediators such as cytokines, apart from contributing to cell death also increases the risk for neurodegenerative diseases [14-16]. Recent studies have also shown that apoptosis-induced neuronal decay occurs in the brain of T1D BB/W rats, suggesting that the T1D phenotype is related the cognitive impairment seen in the rat models [17].

Given the converging immune dysfunction evidence between T1D and PD [18,19], we aimed to investigate the prevalence and diabetic end-points in neurologically normal T1D patients in comparison to T1D patients with PD. We leveraged the prospective diabetes patient registry (DPV) cohort with over 19000 adult T1D patients to assess whether there are clinical and epidemiological differences between the two patient populations.

Methods:

The DPV initiative has been ethically approved by the Ethics Committee of Ulm University, Germany. The local review boards of each participating clinic, approved the anonymized data collection. Study population

Specialized diabetes clinics in Germany and Austria document real-life clinical data on diabetes patients regularly in a joint initiative for over 20 years by using a standardized electronic record system. The locally stored data are transmitted twice yearly in anonymous form to the University of Ulm, Germany for central analyses as well as benchmarking [20,21]. All plausible data are

aggregated in order to set-up the prospective, multicenter diabetes patient follow-up registry, DPV. Up to now, demographic and diabetes-related data of 453580 patients with any type of diabetes documented by 478 clinics are available in the registry. The DPV initiative has been approved by the ethics committee of Ulm University, Germany, and the anonymized data assessment by the local review board of each participating clinic. Until September 2016, the DPV registry included 19864 T1D patients aged 40 years or older with documented insulin dosage who were eligible for the study. To identify patients with comorbid PD, a structured database search was performed which was described in detail in the previous work on PD in T2D patients [22]. In brief, ICD-10-codes as well as specific search terms for a diagnosis and/or treatment of PD were used to select patients with coexisting PD. Excluded from analysis were patients with atypical or drug induced PD and subjects with PD medication plus a documented diagnosis/treatment of restless-legs-syndrome, Huntington's disease, multiple sclerosis or brain tumor. Finally, 111 patients were identified having both T1D and PD.

In case of multiple datasets per patient, data was aggregated over the last year of treatment, respectively.

Definitions of diabetes therapy and outcome

Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) was used to assess metabolic control. Due to the multicenter data collection, HbA1c values were mathematically standardized to the DCCT reference range (20.7-42.6 mmol/mol, 4.05–6.05%) using the multiple of the mean (MOM) method [23,24]. Renal failure was diagnosed in patients with glomerular filtration rate (GFR)<15ml/min/1.73m² during the last treatment year and/or renal transplantation or dialysis. GFR was estimated by the Modification of Diet in Renal Disease (MDRD) formula according to Silveiro et al [25]. The definition of renal failure is based on the official guidelines from the German Diabetes Association (Deutsche Diabetes Gesellschaft) [26].

We defined dementia by ICD-10 codes, DSM-IV and DSM-5 codes, or specific search terms for a diagnosis of dementia, and/or drugs specific for dementia treatment. Data entries were made by

physicians and health care professionals at each site based on clinically available data from routine care. Dementia was either already diagnosed in patients, or diabetologists made the diagnosis jointly with neurologists. This method was previously applied in two other publications on dementia and diabetes [22,27].

ICD-10-codes or specific search terms were used to analyze the frequency of myocardial infarction, stroke and diabetic foot syndrome.

Statistical analysis

SAS 9.4 (Statistical Analysis Software, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA) was used for all statistical analyses. First, descriptive statistics were performed and results are given as median with interquartile range or proportion. Kruskal-Wallis test or χ^2 -test was applied to compare data. For multiple comparisons, p-values were adjusted using Bonferroni stepdown correction (Holm method). Second, to consider demographic differences between groups, multivariable regression analyses with age, sex and duration of diabetes as covariates were used to compare groups regarding diabetes therapy and outcome. Separate models were built for the following outcome variables: i) glycemic control, ii) type of insulin therapy and iii) specific parameters of diabetes outcome (e.g. hypertension, dyslipidemia, stroke, renal failure, myocardial infarction). The covariate 'age' was categorized as 40-<50 y, 50-<60 y, 60-<70 y and ≥70 y, and duration of diabetes was divided into tertiles. Linear regression with residual maximum likelihood as estimation technique was used for continuous outcome variables, logistic regression with maximum likelihood estimation for binary data and Poisson regression again with maximum likelihood estimation for count data. For the outcomes of interest as determined by p-values in the general analyses, individual analyses stratified by age groups was also performed. Between-within technique was used to compute denominator degrees of freedom. Based on observed marginal frequencies, adjusted estimates (means ± SEM) were calculated. A two-sided p<0.05 was defined significant.

Results:

Study Population:

Baseline clinical characteristics of the patient population are presented in Table 1. Our T1D study population has PD diagnosis or treatment rate of 0.6% (111 PD patients). PD frequencies change between the age groups (Figure 1). In the youngest age category (40-<50 years), the prevalence is 0.1% versus 1.8% in the oldest age category (>=70), suggesting that PD is also age dependent in our T1D cohort (Figure 1). In the 50 to 60 year-olds, PD is more prevalent in T1D patients compared to the general population (Figure 1), whereas in the oldest age category PD prevalence tends to be higher in the general population (GP) than in T1D patients. Likewise, we observed more men than women with PD in the 50-60 age group (0.27% vs 0.16%) as well as in the oldest age group >=70 (2.0% vs 1.6%), and thus risk observed in our cohort for PD is consistent with overall incidence estimates as reported for PD worldwide¹, (Figure 2). Compared to national health claims data, PD prevalence seemed to be similar in male T1D patients aged 60 to <70 years, whereas in the other age groups for both sexes PD prevalence was either lower (>=70) or higher (50-<60 y) compared to the general population (Figure 2). Median age of onset of diabetes was later in T1D patients with PD than in patients without (40.5 vs 34.3 years, p=0.005). BMI was not related to PD (Table 1), in analysis adjusted for age, gender, and time since onset of T1D, (p=0.73); PD patients had a BMI of 26.34±0.50 kg/m² versus non-PD patients of 26.31±0.04 kg/m².

Comparison of metabolic control and diabetes treatment:

In analyses adjusted for age, gender, and diabetes duration, we found that PD and non-PD patients had similar HbA1c levels. In addition, insulin therapy, including pumps and medication usage, was also comparable between PD and non-PD patients, with p-values >0.05 (Table 2). Thus, PD patients did not differ from non-PD patients in the control and management of T1D.

Comparison of Diabetes Complications:

In the age, gender, and diabetes duration adjusted analyses, we found renal failure, stroke, and dementia at an increased rate in PD patients as opposed to non-PD patients, (Table 2). The odds ratio of renal failure occurring in PD patients was 3.34 (95% CI: 1.84, 6.05), with p-value < 0.0001. In PD patients, the OR of dementia was 2.03 (1.24, 3.33), with p-value=0.005 and of stroke 1.73 (1.06,
2.82), with p-value=0.028. Hospitalization was defined as a categorical yes/no variable, and there was also an increased odds of hospitalization in PD patients, although not statistically significant with OR of 1.54 (0.96, 2.46), p-value=0.076. However, duration of hospital stay was significantly longer in PD patients (Table 2).

Microvascular complications such as retinopathy and microalbuminuria tended to be more frequent in PD patients if adjusted for age, gender and diabetes duration (Table 2). By contrast, aside from stroke, cardiovascular health was comparable between the two groups, based on dyslipidemia, hypertension and rates of myocardial infarction (Table 2). Furthermore, diabetic foot syndrome also occurred at a similar rate between the two groups, p-value=0.12.

Age-stratified analysis:

Dementia, stroke, rate of hospitalization, and renal failure were selected for age-stratified analysis (Table 3). We chose them based upon the p-values in the regression models across the entire study population. In an age dependent manner, we observed an increased risk for dementia (OR=2.48 (1.38, 4.47), p-value = 0.0025), and stroke (OR=2.207 (1.241, 3.925), p-value=0.007) in >70 age group category (Table 3) in PD patients compared to T1D subjects without PD. Interestingly, increased risk of renal failure was consistently observed across a wide spectrum of age groups, from 40-50 (OR=10.4 (1.80, 59.9), p-value=0.009), to 50-60 age range (OR=8.7 (2.25, 33.6), p-value=0.002), and also in the >70 age group (OR=2.25, 0.04) indicating renal dysfunction as an early prognostic clinical marker for PD. Length of hospitalization (days) also increased with PD diagnosis. In the age group 40-50y, duration of stay is longer in PD patients compared to T1D patients without PD (4 (3.2, 5.3) days on average more for PD patients, p<0.001). In the 50-60y age category, we see an increase in expected number of days by 1.3 (1.02, 1.75) days (p=0.035) in PD patients versus neurologically normal patients. In the age group 60-70y, we seen an expected decrease in number days, 0.27 (0.18, 0.407) (p<0.001). In the oldest age group >70y, we seen an expected increase in of 2 days (1.84, 2.13), (p<0.001).

Discussion:

In this prospective, large, multi-center study of 202 separate sites across Germany and Austria, we compared clinical and demographic data between patients with T1D and PD and patients with only T1D. While median age of PD patients was dramatically older; renal failure, stroke and dementia were more frequent and duration of hospital stay was longer than in non-PD patients (median age of 74 versus 56). Most other clinical endpoints of diabetes management, including HbA1_c levels, were comparable between the two groups. Of note, the study found no differences between BMI in the two groups, suggesting that there is no significant weight loss in PD patients due to increasing nutritional needs and or decreased food intake.

We observed that although men constituted 58% of the T1D population in patients between the ages of 40 to 50 years, the rate of PD was higher in women than in men (0.11% versus 0.08%, Figure 2). However, in the 50 to 60 years' category, the rate of PD is much higher in men than in women, (0.27% to 0.16%), consistent with male dominance of PD prevalence in the general population (Figure 2). In our study, we observed in the middle age group (60-70) an increased frequency of PD in female T1D patients besides a similar PD frequency in males compared to the general population, suggesting a potential gender dependent effect in patients with T1D and PD in the middle age group category. The increased risk for stroke, as observed in our study, indicates that cerebrovascular changes contribute to increased risk for PD. Interestingly, a previously published study observed an increase prevalence of diabetes and hypertension in PD [28], suggesting that orthostatic hypotension in PD may contribute to disease risk. However, aside from stroke the cardiovascular and circulatory systems were not differentially compromised; T1D patients with PD showed increased risk for renal failure and dementia. The age stratified analysis also suggested a synergistic effect between PD and dementia that is particular to the oldest age group (>70 years), again perhaps due to a worsening effect of PD on dementia.

Previously, patients with T1D have been shown to be associated with increased risk for acute renal failure [29]. The causes of acute renal failure observed in TID are more likely to include chronic renal impairment and urinary tract infection among others [30]. Interestingly, recently published studies

focusing on assessing non-motor symptoms in PD consistently highlighted the urinary dysfunction as one of the most common non-motor symptom observed in PD patients [31]. The high risk for renal dysfunction has been observed in PD patients undergoing non-neurological surgery [32]. Renal failure can be attributed to bladder dysfunction that can cause multiple urinary symptoms including urgency, increased frequency of urination, nocturia, and urinary retention. Thus the convergence of renal dysfunction in both phenotypes underscores the need for close surveillance of renal function in diabetic patients. In the age stratified analysis, a positive PD diagnosis increases risk of developing renal failure in the younger age categories, including 40-50 and 50-60, thus suggesting that renal dysfunction manifests during the early phase of the disease. Mechanistically, at least from PD perspective, it has been hypothesized that a failure of D1 activation led to the detrusor overactivity (DO), which might underline overactive bladder (OAB) [33]. Further studies using functional imaging of dopamine transporters are needed for additional assessment and to explore the correlation between urinary dysfunction and nigrostriatal dysfunction.

In our study, we also observed increased risk for dementia in T1D with PD indicating that an autoimmune component might underline the relationship between these two. Given that dementia is a common co-morbidity of PD, the increased risk observed here may tie into the common diseases pathogenesis of PD and T1D. Interestingly, a recently published study found a moderate level of pleiotropic enrichment between Alzheimer disease (AD) and auto-immune diseases including T1D suggesting that probably shared genetic factors might contribute to the disease pathogenesis [27,34].

We observed also a longer duration of hospital stay and a trend towards a higher incidence of hospitalization in PD patients versus non-PD patients, confirming the previously observed finding that PD and its complications (for example infections, falls, psychiatric disorders, and pneumonia) contributing to the complexity of patient care and thus demand more hands-on clinical care. We observed similar results, however, in diabetic co-morbidities such as stroke, diabetic foot syndrome, heart attacks, and retinopathy. Therefore, although care for PD patients is more complicated, the

overall quality of care is comparable and PD patients do not suffer disproportionately given their PD diagnosis. In the age-stratified analysis, a PD diagnosis generally increased length of stay, with the exception in the 60-70 age group.

In conclusion, our study highlighted renal failure, stroke, dementia and duration of hospital stay/ hospitalization as important clinical end-points for patients with T1D and PD, and found evidence that supports the emerging relationship between PD and T1D, and thus future research in delineating the clinical endpoints for comorbid phenotypes should be pursued to develop personalized approaches for patient care.

References:

- 1 von Campenhausen S, Bornschein B, Wick R, et al. Prevalence and incidence of Parkinson's disease in Europe. European neuropsychopharmacology : the journal of the European College of Neuropsychopharmacology 2005;15:473-490.
- 2 Shulman JM, De Jager PL, Feany MB, Parkinson's Disease: Genetics and Pathogenesis. Annu Rev. Pathol. Mech. Dis. 2011; 6:193-222.
- 3 Jankovic J. Parkinson's disease: clinical features and diagnosis. J. Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry 2008; 79:368-376.
- 4 Braak H, Del Tredici K, Rueb U, de Vos RAI, Jansen Steur ENH, Braak E. Staging of brain pathology related to sporadic parkinson's disease. Neurobiology of Aging 2002; 24 (2003):197-211
- 5 Jellinger KA. Neuropathological Spectrum of Synucleinopathies. Movement Disorders 2003; 18 (6) S2-S12.
- 6 Fellner L, Stefanova N. The role of glia in alpha-synucleinopathies. Molecular Neurobiology 2013; 47: 575-586.
- 7 Wersinger C, Sidhu A. An inflammatory pathomechanism for Parkinson's disease? Curr Med Chem. 2006;13(5):591–602.
- 8 Schulte C, Gasser T. Genetic basis of Parkinson's disease: inheritance, penetrance, and expression. The Application of Clinical Genetics 2011; 4: 67-80.
- 9 Ascherio A, Schwarzschild M. The epidemiology of Parkinson's disease: risk factors and prevention. Lancet Neurology 2016; 15: 1257-1272.
- 10 Lill CM. Genetics of Parkinson's disease. Molecular and Cellular Probes 2016; 1-11.

- 11 Titova N, Padmakumar C, Lewis C, et al. Parkinson's: a syndrome rather than a disease? J Neural Transm (Vienna). *124*(8), 907-914.
- 12 Geng, X., Lou, H., Wang, J., Li, L., Swanson, A. L., Sun, M., . . . Drain, P. (2011). alpha-Synuclein binds the K(ATP) channel at insulin-secretory granules and inhibits insulin secretion. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 300(2), E276-286.
- 13 Pociot F, Lernmark A. Genetic risk factors for type 1 diabetes. Lancet 2016; 387: 2331-2339.
- 14 Singh B, Nikoopour E, Huszarik K, Elliott J, Jevnikar A. Immunomodulation and Regeneration of Islet Beta Cells by Cytokines in Autoimmune Type 1 Diabetes. Journal of Interferon and Cytokine Research 2011; 31 (10) 711-719.13.
- 15 Giuffrida ML, Tomasello F, Caraci F, Chiechio S, Nicoletti F, Copani A. Beta-amyloid monomer and insulin/IGF-1 signaling in Alzheimer's disease. Molecular neurobiology 2012;46:605-613.
- 16 Carro E, Trejo JL, Gomez-Isla T, LeRoith D, Torres-Aleman I. Serum insulin-like growth factor I regulates brain amyloid-beta levels. Nature medicine 2002;8:1390-1397.
- 17 Li Z, Zhang W, Grunberger G, Sima A. Hippocampal neuronal apoptosis in type 1 diabetes. Brain Research 2002; 946 (2):221-231.
- 18 Lu L, Fu DL, Li HQ, Liu AJ, Li JH, Zheng GQ. Diabetes and risk of Parkinson's disease: an updated meta-analysis of case-control studies. PloS one 2014;9:e85781.
- 19 Santiago JA, Potashkin JA. Shared dysregulated pathways lead to Parkinson's disease and diabetes. Trends in molecular medicine 2013;19:176-186.
- 20 Karges B, Rosenbauer J, Kapellen T, et al. Hemoglobin A1c Levels and risk of severe hypoglycemia in children and young adults with type 1 diabetes from Germany and Austria: a trend analysis in a cohort of 37,539 patients between 1995 and 2012. PLoS medicine 2014;11:e1001742.
- 21 Scheuing N, Bartus B, Berger G, et al. Clinical Characteristics and Outcome of 467 Patients With a Clinically Recognized Eating Disorder Identified Among 52,215 Patients With Type 1 Diabetes: A Multicenter German/Austrian Study. Diabetes care 2014;37:1581-1589.
- 22 Scheuing N, Best F, Dapp A, et al. Multicentre analysis of 178,992 type 2 diabetes patients revealed better metabolic control despite higher rates of hypertension, stroke, dementia and repeated inpatient care in patients with comorbid Parkinson's disease. Parkinsonism & related disorders 2013;19:687-692.
- 23 Rosenbauer J, Dost A, Karges B, et al. Improved metabolic control in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes: a trend analysis using prospective multicenter data from Germany and Austria (vol 35, pg 80, 2012). Diabetes care 2012;35:2413-2413.
- 24 Hermann JM, Hammes HP, Rami-Merhar B, et al. HbA1c variability as an independent risk factor for diabetic retinopathy in type 1 diabetes: a German/Austrian multicenter analysis on 35,891 patients. PloS one 2014;9:e91137.

- 25 Silveiro SP, Araujo GN, Ferreira MN, Souza FD, Yamaguchi HM, Camargo EG. Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration (CKD-EPI) equation pronouncedly underestimates glomerular filtration rate in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes care 2011;34:2353-2355.
- 26 Ruester C, Hasslacher C, Wolf G. Nephropathie bei Diabetes. Diabetologie und Stoffwechsel 2015. Suppl 2, 97-132.
- 27 Prinz N, Stingl J, Dapp A, Denkinger MD, et al. High rate of hypoglycemia in 6770 type 2 diabetes patients with comorbid dementia: A multicenter cohort study on 215,932 patients from the German/Austrian diabetes registry. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2016 Feb; 112:73-81.
- 28 Huang YP, Chen LS, Yen MF, Fann CY, Chiu YH, et al. Parkinson's disease is related to an increased risk of ischemic stroke a population based propensity score-matched follow-up study. PLoS One 2013: 8(9): e68314.
- 29 Sandholm N, Van Zuydam N, Ahlqvist E, Juliusdottir T, Deshmukh H et. al. The genetic landscape of renal complications in Type 1 Diabetes. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology 2016 (epub).
- 30 Helou N, Dwyer A, Shaha M, Zanchi A. Multidisciplinary management of diabetic kidney disease. JBI Database of Systematic Reviews and Implementation Reports 2016 14 (7): 169-207.
- 31 Tomic S, Rajkovaca I, Pekic V, Salha T, Misevic S. Impact of autonomic dysfunctions on the quality of life in Parkinson's disease patients. Acta Neurologica Belgica 2016 (epub).
- 32 Oichi T, Chikuda H, Ohya J, Ohtomo R, Morita K, et al. Mortality and morbidity after spinal surgery in patients with Parkinson disease: a retrospective matched-pair cohort study. The Spine Journal 2016 (epub).
- 33 Mito Y, yabe I, Yaguchi H, Tajima Y. Urinary dysfunction and motor symptoms in untreated Parkinson's disease. Journal of the Neurological Sciences 2016; 365: 147-150.
- 34 Yokoyama J, Wang Y, Schork A, Thompson W, Karch C, et. al. Association between genetic traits for immune-mediated disease and Alzheimer Disease. JAMA Neurology 2016;73(6): 691-697.
- 35 Nerius M, Fink A, Doblhammer-Reiter G. Parkinson's Disease in Germany: Prevalence, Incidence and Mortality Based on Health Claims Data. Rostock Center Discussion Paper. No.32, June 2015.

Financial support and Conflicts of Interest: The study received financial support from the German Center for Diabetes Research (DZD), the German Diabetes Association (DDG) and the European Foundation for the Study of Diabetes (EFSD) and the EU Innovative Medicine Initiative (INNODIA). The authors have no conflicts of interest to report.

Tables:

	All	PD	No PD	Females	Males
Ν	19864	111	19753	9075	10789
Sex, % Male	54.3%	54.1%	54.3%		
Age, years	55.8	74.2	55.7	57.1	54.7
	(47.9-66.6)	(64.9-73.3)	(47.9-66.5)	(48.5-68.9)	(47.5-64.9)
Age at DM	34.4	40.5	34.3	34.8	34.0
diagnosis, years	(22.3-46.0)	(28.2-53.2)	(22.3-46.0)	(21.5-48.7)	(22.9-44.6)
DM duration,	22.0	30.1	21.9	22.4	21.5
years	(10.1-34.9)	(19.9-43.6)	(10.1-34.9)	(10.6-35.4)	(9.7-34.4)
BMI, kg/m²	25.5	26.3	25.5	25.2	25.7
	(22.9-28.9)	(23.5-29.3)	(22.9-28.9)	(22.5-29.3)	(23.3-28.7)

Table 1 (Table 13): Characteristics of study population, Median with interquartile range or proportion

Except for BMI and sex, all p<0.05 for the comparison between PD and non-PD. Between females and males, all p<0.05.

Table 2 (Table 14): Diabetes	therapy and outcome	compared between type	1 diabetes with or without PD
------------------------------	---------------------	-----------------------	-------------------------------

	PD	No PD	p-value
HbA1c, mmol/mol	63.0±2.1	64.4±0.2	0.49
Insulin use, %			
СТ	23.0	19.7	0.38
MDI	58.4	63.5	0.36
CSII	18.6	16.8	0.67
Insulin dose, IU/kg*d	0.635±0.032	0.619±0.002	0.61
Acute complications, %			
Hypoglycemia			
Severe	13.4	16.5	0.39
With coma	5.7	7.9	0.38
DKA	5.0	5.4	0.87
Chronic complications, %			
Dyslipidemia	58.1	61.0	0.59

Lipid-lowering drugs	26.8	25.9	0.81
Hypertension	23.8	27.9	0.32
Antihypertensiva	54.4	47.6	0.19
Stroke	16.2	10.0	0.03
Myocardial infarction	12.4	10.6	0.50
Dementia	16.1	8.7	0.005
Diabetic foot syndrome	15.3	10.9	0.12
Retinopathy	47.0	34.8	0.12
Microalbuminuria	31.0	23.8	0.12
Renal failure	9.4	3.0	<0.001
Hospital care			
Frequency, %	16.3	11.3	0.08
Duration, days per year	5.19±0.18	3.08±0.01	<0.001

Data as adjusted mean with SEM or proportion. PJ patient year, CT conventional therapy, DKA diabetic ketoacidosis, MDI multiple daily injections, CSII continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion

Table 3 (Table 15): Age-stratified analysis for T1D with or without PD

Outcome	40-<50 years	50-<60 years	60-<70 years	>70 years
Stroke (OR, 95% CI)	0.88 (0.46, 16.5)	0.81 (0.11, 5.92, 1.78)	1.55 (0.54, 4.59)	2.21 (1.24, 3.93)
Dementia (OR, 95% CI)	0.98 (0.05, 18.5)	0.96 (0.13, 7.09)	2.10 (0.71, 6.20)	2.48 (1.37, 4.47)
Renal failure (OR, 95% CI)	10.4 (1.80, 59.9)	8.68 (2.25, 33.6)	1.97 (0.46, 8.55)	2.51 (1.06, 5.92)
Duration of hospitalization (expected difference in number of days)	4.0 (3.2, 5.3)	1.3 (1.02, 1.75)	0.27 (0.18, 0.407)	2 (1.84, 2.13)

Figure 1: PD prevalence rates between GP³⁵ and T1D patients



a) stratified by age group,

b) stratified by age and gender

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank E. Bollow for statistical analysis and all the participating DPV centers for contributing their data.

List of participating DPV centers contributing data to the present study (at least 5 patients): Aachen - Innere RWTH, Altötting-Burghausen Innere Medizin, Asbach Kamillus-Klinik Innere, Augsburg IV. Med. Klinik, Bad Aibling Internist. Praxis, Bad Driburg / Bad Hermannsborn Innere, Bad Hersfeld Innere, Bad Krozingen Klinik Lazariterhof Park-Klinikum, Bad Reichenhall Kreisklinik Innere Med., Bad Säckingen Hochrheinklinik Innere, Bayreuth Innere Medizin, Berchtesgaden MVZ Innere Med, Berlin DRK-Kliniken Westend Innere, Berlin Endokrinologikum, Berlin Evang. Krankenhaus Königin Elisabeth, Berlin Klinik St. Hedwig Innere, Berlin Oskar Zieten Krankenhaus Innere, Berlin Parkklinik Weissensee, Berlin Schlosspark-Klinik Innere, Berlin St. Josephskrankenhaus Innere, Berlin Vivantes Hellersdorf Innere, Bern Universitätsklinik InselSpital Innere Medizin, Bottrop Knappschaftskrankenhaus Innere, Braunfels-Wetzlar Innere, Bremen - Mitte Innere, Castrop-Rauxel Rochus-Hospital, Chemnitz-Hartmannsdorf Innere Medizin - DIAKOMED-1, Coburg Innere Medizin, Coesfeld/Dülmen Innere Med., Darmstadt Innere Medizin, Deggendorf Gemeinschaftspraxis, Deggendorf Medizinische Klinik II, Dortmund Knappschaftskrankenhaus Innere, Dortmund Medizinische Kliniken Nord, Dortmund-Hombruch Marienhospital, Dortmund-St. Josefshospital Innere, Dortmund-West Innere, Duisburg Evang. und Johanniter Krhs Innere, Duisburg Malteser Rhein-Ruhr St. Anna Innere, Duisburg Malteser St. Johannes, Duisburg-Huckingen, Duisburg-Huckingen Malteser Rhein-Ruhr ST. Johannes, Duisburg-St. Johannes Helios, Eberswalde Klinikum Barnim Werner Forßmann - Innere, Eisleben Lutherstadt Helios-Klinik, Erlangen Uni Innere Medizin, Essen Diabetes-Schwerpunktpraxis, Eutin St.-Elisabeth Innere, Forchheim Diabeteszentrum SPP, Frankfurt Diabeteszentrum Rhein-Main-Erwachsenendiabetologie (Bürgerhospital), Frankfurt Uni-Klinik Innere, Frankfurt-Sachsenhausen Innere, Frankfurt-Sachsenhausen Innere MVZ, Freiburg Uni Innere, Friedberg Innere Klinik, Fulda Innere Medizin, Geislingen Klinik Helfenstein Innere, Gelnhausen Innere, Gießen Ev. Krankenhaus Mittelhessen, Graz Uni Innere, Göppingen Innere Medizin, Göttingen Uni Gastroenterologie, Güstrow Innere, Halberstadt Innere Med. AMEOS Klinik, Halle-Dölau Städtische Kinderklinik, Hamburg Endokrinologikum, Hanau St. Vincenz - Innere, Hannover Henriettenstift - Innere, Heidelberg St. Josefskrankenhaus, Heilbronn Innere Klinik, Herdecke Kinderklinik, Herford Innere Med I, Herne Evan. Krankenhaus Innere, Herten St. Elisabeth Innere Medizin, Hildesheim GmbH - Innere, Hinrichsegen-Bruckmühl Diabetikerjugendhaus, Idar Oberstein Innere, Ingolstadt Klinikum Innere, Innsbruck Universitätsklinik Innere, Iserlohn Innere Medizin, Jena diabetol. Schwerpunktpraxis, Kaiserslautern-Westpfalzklinikum Kinderklinik, Kamen Klinikum Westfalen Hellmig Krankenhaus, Karlsburg Klinik für Diabetes & Stoffwechsel, Kassel Rot-Kreuz-Krankenhaus Innere, Kaufbeuren Innere Medizin, Kempen Heilig Geist - Innere, Kirchheim-Nürtingen Innere, Klagenfurt Innere Med I, Kleve Innere Medizin, Koblenz Kemperhof 1. Med. Klinik, Konstanz Innere Klinik, Krefeld Alexianer Innere, Krefeld Innere Klinik, Krefeld-Uerdingen St. Josef Innere, Landau/Annweiler Innere, Lilienthal Diabeteszentrum, Limburg Innere Medizin, Lindenfels Luisenkrankenhaus Innere, Lindenfels Luisenkrankenhaus Innere 2, Linz AKH - 2. Med, Linz Krankenhaus Barmherzige Schwestern Kardiologie Abt. Int. II, Ludwigshafen diabetol. SPP, Lübeck

Uni-Klinik Innere Medizin, Lünen Klinik am Park, Magdeburg Städtisches Klinikum Innere, Mannheim Uniklinik Innere Medizin, Marburg - UKGM Endokrinologie & Diabetes, Marktredwitz Innere Medizin, Marpingen-SPP, Memmingen Internistische Praxis, Moers - St. Josefskrankenhaus Innere, Murnau am Staffelsee - diabetol. SPP, Mölln Reha-Klinik Hellbachtal, Mühlacker Enzkreiskliniken Innere, München Diabetes-Zentrum Süd, München Schwerpunktpraxis, Münster Clemens-Hospital Innere, Münster Herz Jesu Innere, Neumarkt Innere, Neunkirchen Innere Medizin, Neuwied Marienhaus Klinikum St. Elisabeth Innere, Nidda Bad Salzhausen Klinik Rabenstein/Innere-1 Reha, Nidda Bad Salzhausen Klinik Rabenstein/Innere-2 Reha, Nürnberg Med. Klinik 4, Oberhausen Innere, Oberndorf Gastroenterologische Praxis Schwerpunkt Diabetologie, Offenbach/Main Innere Medizin, Oschersleben MEDIGREIF Bördekrankenhaus, Osterkappeln Innere, Ottobeuren Kreiskrankenhaus, Pfullendorf Innere Medizin, Pirmasens Städtisches Krankenhaus Innere, Plauen Vogtlandklinikum, Prenzlau Krankenhaus Innere, Rastatt Kreiskrankenhaus Innere, Recklinghausen Dialysezentrum Innere, Reutlingen Klinikum Steinenberg Innere, Rodalben St. Elisabeth, Rosenheim Innere Medizin, Rosenheim Schwerpunktpraxis, Rostock Universität Innere Medizin, Saaldorf-Surheim Diabetespraxis, Scheibbs Landesklinikum, Schwerin Innere Medizin, Sinsheim Innere, Spaichingen Innere, St. Pölten Universitätsklinik Innere, Stockerau Landeskrankenhaus, Stolberg Kinderklinik, Stuttgart Bethesda Agaplesion, Tettnang Innere Medizin, Timmendorfer Strand, Traunstein diabetol. Schwerpunktpraxis, Trostberg Innere, Ulm Schwerpunktpraxis Bahnhofsplatz, Ulm Uni Innere Medizin, Villingen-Schwenningen Schwarzwald-Baar-Klinikum Innere, Wangen Oberschwabenklinik Innere Medizin, Weisswasser Kreiskrankenhaus, Wels Innere, Wernberg-Köblitz SPP, Wetzlar Schwerpunkt-Praxis, Wien 3. Med. Hietzing Innere, Wien Uni Innere Med III, Wien Wilhelminenspital 5. Med. Abteilung, Wiesbaden Helios Horst-Schmidt-Kinderkliniken, Wilhelmshaven St. Willehad Innere, Wittenberg Innere Medizin, Wolgast Innere Medizin, Zweibrücken Ev. KH. Innere.

Chapter 3 Discussion

Over the past decades, significant progress has been made on discovering the genetic origin of disease (Lill, 2016). In particular, advances have been made in understanding the genetic provenance of rare diseases with highly penetrant traits that follow Mendelian inheritance patterns. However, much remains to be done in understanding the origins of complex diseases such as PD. Media portrayal of famous patients such as Muhammad Ali or Michael J Fox have increased the disease visibility, with traditional portrayal of the disease as neurodegenerative characterized by motor symptoms. PD, however, is a degenerative disease that affects much more than just the motor systems. Sensory, digestive, psychiatric, and urinary systems are also involved, and more recent research has implicated oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction not simply in the brain but also other regions of the body as a part of disease pathogenesis. As our understanding of PD evolves, it is more accurate to consider PD as a degenerative disease affecting multiple systems, with a strong neurological component. A complex disease such PD has also a complex and large web of genetic risk-affecting mutations that act both singularly and in combination. However, much remains to be done to elucidate the genetic basis of PD.

One of the first methods used to determine the heritability of PD was twin studies. Given the shared childhood environment and the genetic overlap differences between monozygotic versus dizygotic twins, it is possible to study causality of genetic factors while adjusting for the possible mediating effects of environmental factors. While results from the twin studies have been inconsistent, nevertheless the evidence, though not statistically significant, pointed towards an underlying genetic etiology for PD (Wirdefeldt et al., 2011a). Linkage studies using large multi-generational families were also one of the early drivers of PD genetics. The identification of the first PD-associated mutations were through large familial kindreds. Examples include the autosomal genes SNCA, LRRK2, DJ-1, PINK1, ATP13A2 and PARKIN discovered through familial studies. While the linkage approach was relatively successful for identifying highly penetrant but rare mutations, the majority of PD cases are sporadic, with only 10% of patients reporting a positive family history for PD

(Thomas and Beal 2007). As study sizes increased, GWAS studies became sufficiently powered and thus were able to identify 26 independent loci that modify disease risk, including genes in SNCA, MAPT, GBA, HLA, and GAK.

Next-generation sequencing (NGS) methods such as exome sequencing identified novel mutations in VPS35, VPS13C, CHCHD2, and DNAJC6 genes. However, the vast majority of PD cases is still sporadic with unclear etiology, and "missing heritability" continues to be a strong theme in PD genetics even through the many advancements over the years. With the advances in research, our understanding of PD has evolved from a single system neurodegenerative disease to a syndrome encompassing mutiple systems as well (Titova et al., 2017a). Figure 1 illustrates our currently knowledge of penetrance versus frequency of genetic risk variants.

Figure 7: Penetrance versus Frequency. X-axis indicates frequency of genetic variants, Y-axis indicates penetrance or likelihood of disease given existence of mutation. (Adapted from Lill C, 2016. Mol Cell Probes).



Due to the complexity of the genetic architecture of PD, it is hypothesized that the resulting observed PD phenotype comes from a complicated interplay between different genes with each other and with the environment and life-style of the person. This has led to research focusing on not just simple Mendelian inheritance patterns, but also rare variants, gene-gene interaction, and geneenvironment interactions. The repeatedly observed incomplete penetrance of identified genetic risk variants only reinforce the theory of PD as a multifaceted and multi-origin neurodegenerative disease.

One of the common threads running within neurodegenerative diseases is the aggregation of proteins and its toxicity towards neural tissue (Goedert et al., 2017). In 1907, Alois Alzheimer already noted the presence of neuritic plaques and neurofibrillary lesions in what would become known as Alzheimer's disease. Subsequently, Alzheimer also described the protein aggregations known as "Pick bodies" that are characteristic of Pick's disease. Lewy later described in 1912 the "Lewy bodies" that are characteristic of PD.

Aggregration of amyloidogenic proteins has been observed in molecular pathways associated with a wide spectrum of neurodegenerative diseases including AD, PD, and dementia (Ciryam et al., 2013). AD is defined by deposits of tau proteins, and deposits of fibrous beta-amyloid deposits (Goedert et al., 2001). It is the most famous diseases in the diverse group of diseases known as tauopathies, linked by the degenerative aggregation of tau protein inclusions. Lewy bodies, protein deposits strongly immunoreactive for SNCA, are also found in an entire class of neurodegenerative diseases known as synucleinopathies (Goedert, 2001). The discoveries cemented the importance of protein aggregation in neurodegenerative diseases.

One subset of neurodegenerative diseases with protein accumulation are the polyglutamine (polyQ) diseases. Early studies showed that isolated PolyQ peptides quickly form insoluble amyloid aggregates in solution and linked polyQ repeated expansions to neurodegeneration (Chen et al., 2002). Over the last two decades, scientists discovered that polyglutamine (polyQ) repeat-containing proteins are common within the human proteome. These include huntingtin in Huntington's disease, ataxin-1, ataxin-2, ataxin-3, voltage-dependent calcium channel alpha-1A subunit, ataxin-7, TATA-binding protein, and spinocerebellar ataxia 1, 2, 3, 6, 7, and 17. In particular, spinocerebellar ataxia 3

(Machado-Joseph Disease) is the second most common PolyQ disease after Huntington's disease (Riess et al., 2008).

Autosomal dominant cerebellar ataxias (ADCA) is a group of rare neurodegenerative diseases that primary affect the motor system, though mild intellectual deficits are also observed (Durr, 2010). Motor degeneration is characterized by cerebellar atrophy and neuronal loss in the spinocerebellar tracts, with coordination problems, loss of balance, slurred speech, and gait disorders commonly observed (Schöls et al., 2004). The diseases, more than 40 different types have been identified, are heteregenous both clinically and genetically, with mutations in 32 identified genes. While the majority of mutations are repeat expansions (65%), a minority is also caused by missense, nonsense, and truncations (Durr, 2010). Recently, studies have linked SCA to changes in the synaptic transmission and transcription regulation, showing these mechanisms to be commonly attacked between the genetically distinct spinocerebellar ataxias (Nibbeling et al., 2017). Breakdown in the natural autophagy process leading to pathological protein aggregation was also observed (Nibbeling et al., 2017), a common trend within neurodegenerative diseases.

Emerging evidence in neurodegeneration has provided support that late-onset neurodegenerative diseases with biologic overlap may have common genetic risk factors disease even though they present with clinically heterogeneous symptoms (Ross et al., 2011, Simon-Sanchez et al., 2005). In particular, evidence of SCA-2 expansion was found in a family with autosomal dominant Parkinson's disease and families with SCA2 and SCA3 expansions presenting with typical Parkinson's disease symptoms (Furtado et al., 2002, Simon-Sanchez et al., 2005, Kim et al., 2017). SCA2 is characterized by repeated CAG triplets in the N-terminal region of the protein ataxin 2, with the presence of more than 31 repeats possibly causing clinical neurodegeneration (Ross et al., 2011). The parkinsonism phenotype has also been observed in single cases in patients with ATXN3 expansions (Bettencourt et al., 2011). Similarly, atypical Parkinsonism and PD-like phenotypes have also been observed in SCA6

and SCA17, with a particular number of studies performed within the Korean ataxia and Parkinson's scientific community.

A recent study found 40 CAG repeats with 4 interruptions in the PD patients of a Korean family presenting with typical physical phenotype of autosomal dominant PD without cerebellar ataxia (Kim et al., 2017). The 40 repeat length is the longest observed in families exhibiting Parkinsonism without ataxia. There is considerable debate in the choice of cut-off for defining "pathogenicity" of repeats. Using a multi-ethnic cohort as discussed in Part 1 of Chapter 2, we ascertained our cut-off threshold. Our own allelic density plots showed comparable distribution of repeat length between our cohort and previously published studies (Figure e1, pg. 43), but our SCA2 repeat length ranged from 24 to 32, much shorter than the 40 observed in the South Korea family. On the other hand, we did not investigate the role of interrupted repeats on PD, thus our results cannot comment on the South Korean family with Parkinsonism. However, our results do suggest a trend effect for SCA2 in the Asian population. In conjunction with the recent familial evidence from the longitudinal Korean study, our trend results suggest a connection between SCA2 and PD in the Asian cohort is an important topic to further study.

Synuclein aggregation, one of the hallmarks of PD, has been linked to mutations in the cell transport systems, and the retromer pathway has been specifically implicated in PD pathogenesis (Mohan and Mellick, 2017). VPS35 codes a part of the retromer complex that is responsible for protein sorting between the endosome-lysosome degradation pathways and the Golgi apparatus (Bonifacino and Hurley, 2008). Mutations in the VPS35 gene, a protein integral to intracellular retrieval of membrane proteins in the retromer pathway has been linked to patients with autosomal dominant PD (Zimprich et al., 2011, Tang et al., 2015b). Furthermore, mutations in VPS35 has also been demonstrated to result in alpha-synuclein aggregation in animal models (Tang et al., 2015a).

A series of studies in the previous years demonstrated functional interaction between two distinct loci that both affect the functionality of the VPS35 component of the retromer complex (Chuang and

Gitler, 2013, MacLeod et al., 2013). From there, evidence mounted that faulty protein sorting within the vesicle components was tied to PD pathogenesis (Bonifacino and Hurley, 2008). LRRK2 has been implicated repeatedly as a PD risk gene in genetic studies; the gene codes a large multi-domain protein that is tied to GTPase and kinases activities (Webber and West, 2009). Mutations in LRRK2 damage lysosomal protein degradation and autophagy, thus hindering the cellular process of delivering protein aggregates and cytosolic proteins to the lysosome, the structure responsible for breaking down biological polymers (Kuwahara et al., 2016). Thus taken together, the evidence suggests a strong connection between defective protein sorting and vesicle transport and PD pathogenesis.

Interaction studies between PD risk-modifying variants has been of particular interest in PD genetics, as newly discovered genes had small effects on the total "missing heritability" seen in PD. Thus, an open question is the degree to which PD genes modulate each other and influence the effect of the singular mutations. A previous study found connections and synergistic effects between VPS35 and EIF4G1 mutations and SNCA toxicity (Dhungel et al., 2015). Recent research has already demonstrated LRRK2 and PARK16 functional interaction. Wildtype VPS35 expression has been demonstrated to rescue defects in the endolysosomal and Golgi apparatus sorting complex caused by RAB7L1 or LRRK2 mutations (MacLeod et al., 2013). In the same study, Macleod et al also demonstrated functionally that deficiency of the PARK16 locus gene RAB7L1 synergistically affected neurodegeneration in rodent models of familial PD due to mutant LRRK2 expression, while RAB7L1 over-expression rescued the LRRK2 mutant phenotype. RAB7L1 suppressed LRRK2 mutant pathology in both in vitro and in vivo screenings.

The functional studies preceding our investigation set up the foundation for our gene-gene interaction study between PARK16 and LRRK2. While there is a consensus that genetic interaction studies are generally underpowered, that does not indicate that they are not of value. Working with the constraints of availability, we conducted the largest interaction study to date on an international

multi-ethnic cohort. The functional studies on the interaction between PARK16 and LRRK2 in the retromer pathway argue convincingly of a biological effect (MacLeod et al., 2013). As expected with gene interaction studies, our study failed to show statistical significance of interaction. Nevertheless, we observed a trend for interaction, which did not reach significance due to sample size. The trend effect is observed in OR's between concomitant carriers of both LRRK2 and PARK16 versus carriers of only LRRK2; with carriers of both mutant genotypes at significantly lower risk of PD versus LRRK2 carriers (Chapter 2 Part 3, Supplementary Table 2). We found results that suggest an effect in the same direction as previous literature, but our study does not support the presence of a strong interaction effect.

In a post-publication analysis of the data, we considered the possibility that certain sites with particularly large variance covered a true effect of interaction, and thus performed leave-one out analysis across all sites. However, the results did not change, and no significant interaction effect was observed (Table 1). This, in turn, is consistent with our data quality screening where we did not observe any statistically significant heterogeneity in the data.

Sites	OR Coefficient	95% CI	P-Value
Aasly	0.87	(0.75, 1.02)	0.085
Annesi	0.86	(0.74, 1.01)	0.064
Bozi	0.87	(0.74, 1.01)	0.071
Belgium	0.88	(0.75, 1.03)	0.125
Brice	0.87	(0.74, 1.01)	0.075
Hadjigeorgiou	0.87	0.74, 1.02)	0.087
Lynch/Ross	0.88	(0.75, 1.03)	0.105
Maraganore	0.87	(0.74, 1.01)	0.069
Mellick	0.87	(0.75, 1.03)	0.100
Morrison	0.85	(0.72, 0.99)	0.036
Opala/Ross	0.86	(0.74, 1.01)	0.066
Wirdefeldt	0.87	(0.74, 1.01)	0.071
Wszolek/Ross	0.86	(0.74, 1.01)	0.065
Chung	0.89	(0.75, 1.05)	0.171
Lin	0.88	(0.85, 1.04)	0.125

Table 15: Post-hoc Leave-one-out analysis, Site column indicates dataset that was withheld

Japan	0.76	(0.62, 0.93)	0.008
Tan	0.88	(0.75, 1.04)	0.128

OR: Odds Ratio, CI: Confidence Interval

The etiology of idiopathic PD has proven to be a complex and difficult to untangle interconnected web of aging, environmental, and genetic factors. In addition to protein aggregation and defects in the transport pathways, mitochondrial dysfunction, oxidative stress and neuroinflammation have also come under consideration as etiological factors for PD (Lee et al., 2017). Pathology in brains of PD and DLB patients versus healthy controls found that brain cortex activity and mitochondrial O₂ uptake were significantly lower in diseased patients, and signs oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction were significantly higher in diseased patients (Navarro and Boveris, 2009). Within PD neuropathogenesis, research has also found evidence that microglial activation causes increased activity in the cyclooxygenase (COX) pathway (Tansey et al., 2007). Furthermore, anti-inflammatory treatment protected against dopaminergic cell death and blocked activation of microglial cells in the MPTP-induced mouse model of PD (Kim et al., 2012).

Inflammation is a shared manifestation of pathogenesis observed in both PD and auto-immune diseases. Genetic pleiotropy, the idea that a single gene has multiple different manifestations through its functionality within separate biological pathways, has also been a growing theme in genetic research. A study from 2016 used GWAS data to identify a common mutation in the extended MAPT region that is associated with both AD and PD (Desikan et al., 2015). Outside of pleiotropy between neurodegenerative diseases, common genetic variants have also been established between PD and auto-immune diseases. Crohn's disease has also identified LRRK2 as a susceptibility loci uses GWAS (Franke et al., 2010). Additionally, SNCA has been identified in the enteric neurons in the myenteric plexus situated within the gastrointestinal tract (Sharrad et al., 2013). Research has found that mitochondrial dysfunction and inflammation, a common theme between PD and autoimmune diseases, is a potential shared byproduct of immune dysfunction (McGeer and McGeer, 2011). Pleiotropic genes have also been identified between AD and T1D

(Christensen et al., 2016). On the other side of this growing body of evidence, human leukocyte antigen (HLA), a major histocompatibility complex tied to immune dysfunction and autoimmune diseases, has also emerged as an important risk loci for PD (Witoelar et al., 2017, Wissemann et al., 2013). Associations between AD and immune-mediated diseases has also been demonstrated (Yokoyama et al., 2016). Candidate gene studies assessing genetic variable have found that neuroinflammatory genes such as TNF, IFN-gamma, and IL also increase risk of PD.

Given the emerging evidence of immune dysfunction and neuroinflammation in neurodegenerative diseases, and in particular PD, we looked at connections between PD and Type 1 Diabetes, a disease with a very strong auto-immune component. Connections between PD and T1D goes beyond the HLA connection. Alpha-synuclein deposits have been discovered in the pancreas of PD patients (Titova et al., 2017a). Autoimmune diseases such as T1D are also tied to many of the same inflammatory mediators, and it has been suggested that the immune response from mediators such as cytokines not also contribute to cell death and disease pathogenesis of the autoimmune disease, but also increases the risk as well of neurodegenerative diseases. With the development of evidence on not only genetic risk factors but also disease pathogenesis, we performed a comparison study between the prevalence and diabetic end-points of neurologically normal T1D patients and patients with PD.

We found evidence that supports the emerging relationship between PD and T1D. Our findings on the differences in renal function are very interesting in light of the discovery of alpha-synulcein deposits outside of the brain in PD patients. With the discovery of alpha-synuclein deposits in the pancreas of PD patients, the increased risk of renal failure in PD patients is even more interesting given the knowledge that PD does affect organs outside of the brain. We also observed differences in rates of stroke and dementia between PD patients and neurologically normal patients. Stroke has been tied to inflammation and hypertension, two symptoms also related to PD pathogenesis. Diabetes and PD both see increased rates of dementia within its patient population, and the

increased rate at which PD T1D patients presented with dementia raises the question of whether it is a manifestation resulting from common genetic etiology between two diseases. Thus, it warrants further study to understand the genetic etiology of dementia and its ties to both PD and T1D.

Future perspectives and directions

PD affects the quality of life of patients, caregivers, and consequently the national health economies through lost productivity. As the world population ages, its impact will only increase. One of the keys to treating and targeting PD is through a better understanding of its risk architecture. With that in mind, the underlying aim in this thesis is to advance the understanding of risk factors of PD.

With the research presented here, we have not only contributed to the current body of knowledge, but also have highlighted important avenues of future research. In particular, while the ataxia study and the interaction study were negative studies, they nonetheless contributed substantially to the general conversation. Clinicians now know that it is not necessary to screen for PD in patients with the aforementioned ataxia types. In the case of the LRRK2 PARK16 interaction study, we demonstrated that it is unlikely that a strong synergistic or negating effect exists between the two genes, but also highlighted the need for substantially larger studies, particularly in the context of gene-gene statistical interaction.

PD is a complicated illness, with many environmental and genetic risk factors and a diverse web of non-motor and motor symptoms. It shares pathology with numerous other neurodegenerative diseases. Furthermore, the role of the auto-immune system also bears future exploration, as demonstrated by our diabetes study, among others. Science rarely comes from large leaps, instead one can only reach the next set of stars by first standing on the shoulders of giants, of those who have gone before us. The epidemiology of Parkinson's disease is no exception to this old adage by Newton. Our ultimate goal, as researchers, is to fully understand the genetic landscape of PD. However, one can only poke holes into the darkness, chipping away at this complex task, one study at a time, one piece of research at a time.

Chapter 4 Summary

English Summary

PD is the second most common neurodegenerative disease in the world, with the disease burden only expected to rise as the world population ages. The discovery of new genetic risk factors through a range of methods over the years has resulted in a long list of genetic variants that influence PD risk. However, our understanding of the genetic variants and the mechanisms through which they influence PD risk still leave much room for future discovery. The incompleteness of the inheritance patterns and the limited ability (up to 10%) of the genetic variants to explain PD cases suggests complex and multifactorial origins for PD. Hence, this thesis seeks to fill some of the open questions.

The first part of the thesis addresses the etiological factor of protein aggregation through the question of cross-disease effect of ataxia genes on PD risk. We did not find any increase in in PD risk in relation to the existence of intermediate repeat expansions in SCA2, 3, 6, and 17 in a large scale consortium study, and thus no evidence that the familial affect seen extrapolates to sporadic PD.

The second part of the thesis takes the theme of aggregration but approaches it from the transportation pathways. Given the known functional interaction between two genes in the retromer pathway, we also investigate a possible genetic interaction between the two previously identified risk modulating loci, PARK16 and LRRK2. Using a large scale multi-site study, we did not find any conclusive evidence of strong genetic interaction between the two loci. However, our results suggest that further research is needed with larger sample sizes, due to our trend findings within subgroups of our population.

Immune response and mitochondrial dysfunction drive the third part of the thesis; we investigate the differences in clinical outcomes between type 1 diabetic patients with PD and neurologically normal patients. Recent studies have demonstrated the sharing of pathways and commonalities in pathogenesis between the two diseases due to shared auto-immune dysfunction, along with the discovery of HLA as a risk loci for both diseases. Due to the interconnectedness of the two disease,

we felt it was important to also study the clinical pathogenesis of PD patients within a T1D population. We found several significant differences in T1D patients with and without PD, mainly renal failure, stroke, and hospitalizations, suggesting that a correlation between PD and certain diabetic outcomes.

- ABOU-SLEIMAN, P. M., HEALY, D. G., QUINN, N., LEES, A. J. & WOOD, N. W. 2003. The role of pathogenic DJ-1 mutations in Parkinson's disease. *Ann Neurol*, 54, 283-6.
- AHARON-PERETZ, J., ROSENBAUM, H. & GERSHONI-BARUCH, R. 2004. Mutations in the glucocerebrosidase gene and Parkinson's disease in Ashkenazi Jews. *N Engl J Med*, 351, 1972-7.
- AL-CHALABI, A., DURR, A., WOOD, N. W., PARKINSON, M. H., CAMUZAT, A., HULOT, J. S., MORRISON, K. E., RENTON, A., SUSSMUTH, S. D., LANDWEHRMEYER, B. G., LUDOLPH, A., AGID, Y., BRICE, A., LEIGH, P. N., BENSIMON, G. & GROUP, N. G. S.
 2009. Genetic variants of the alpha-synuclein gene SNCA are associated with multiple system atrophy. *PLoS One*, 4, e7114.
- ALCALAY, R. N., DINUR, T., QUINN, T., SAKANAKA, K., LEVY, O., WATERS, C., FAHN, S., DOROVSKI, T., CHUNG, W. K., PAUCIULO, M., NICHOLS, W., RANA, H. Q., BALWANI, M., BIER, L., ELSTEIN, D. & ZIMRAN, A. 2014. Comparison of Parkinson risk in Ashkenazi Jewish patients with Gaucher disease and GBA heterozygotes. JAMA Neurol, 71, 752-7.
- ANNESI, G., SAVETTIERI, G., PUGLIESE, P., D'AMELIO, M., TARANTINO, P., RAGONESE, P., LA BELLA, V., PICCOLI, T., CIVITELLI, D., ANNESI, F., FIERRO, B., PICCOLI, F., ARABIA, G., CARACCIOLO, M., CIRO CANDIANO, I. C. & QUATTRONE, A. 2005. DJ-1 mutations and parkinsonism-dementia-amyotrophic lateral sclerosis complex. *Ann Neurol*, 58, 803-7.
- BANDOPADHYAY, R., KINGSBURY, A. E., COOKSON, M. R., REID, A. R., EVANS, I. M., HOPE, A. D., PITTMAN, A. M., LASHLEY, T., CANET-AVILES, R., MILLER, D. W., MCLENDON, C., STRAND, C., LEONARD, A. J., ABOU-SLEIMAN, P. M., HEALY, D. G., ARIGA, H., WOOD, N. W., DE SILVA, R., REVESZ, T., HARDY, J. A. & LEES, A. J. 2004. The expression of DJ-1 (PARK7) in normal human CNS and idiopathic Parkinson's disease. *Brain*, 127, 420-30.
- BAUMANN, C. R. 2012. Epidemiology, diagnosis and differential diagnosis in Parkinson's disease tremor. *Parkinsonism & Related Disorders*, 18, S90-S92.
- BEILINA, A., VAN DER BRUG, M., AHMAD, R., KESAVAPANY, S., MILLER, D. W., PETSKO, G. A.
 & COOKSON, M. R. 2005. Mutations in PTEN-induced putative kinase 1 associated with recessive parkinsonism have differential effects on protein stability. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102, 5703-8.
- BEMBI, B., ZAMBITO MARSALA, S., SIDRANSKY, E., CIANA, G., CARROZZI, M., ZORZON, M., MARTINI, C., GIOULIS, M., PITTIS, M. G. & CAPUS, L. 2003. Gaucher's disease with Parkinson's disease: clinical and pathological aspects. *Neurology*, 61, 99-101.
- BERARDELLI, A., ROTHWELL, J. C., THOMPSON, P. D. & HALLETT, M. 2001. Pathophysiology of bradykinesia in Parkinson's disease. *Brain*, 124, 2131-46.
- BERG, D., SCHWEITZER, K. J., LEITNER, P., ZIMPRICH, A., LICHTNER, P., BELCREDI, P., BRUSSEL, T., SCHULTE, C., MAASS, S., NAGELE, T., WSZOLEK, Z. K. & GASSER, T. 2005. Type and frequency of mutations in the LRRK2 gene in familial and sporadic Parkinson's disease*. *Brain*, 128, 3000-11.
- BERTRAM, L. 2009. Alzheimer's disease genetics current status and future perspectives. *Int Rev Neurobiol*, 84, 167-84.

BERTRAM, L. & TANZI, R. E. 2009. Genome-wide association studies in Alzheimer's disease. *Hum Mol Genet*, 18, R137-45.

BETTENCOURT, C., SANTOS, C., COUTINHO, P., RIZZU, P., VASCONCELOS, J., KAY, T., CYMBRON, T., RAPOSO, M., HEUTINK, P. & LIMA, M. 2011. Parkinsonian phenotype in Machado-Joseph disease (MJD/SCA3): a two-case report. *BMC Neurol*, 11, 131.

BONIFACINO, J. S. & HURLEY, J. H. 2008. Retromer. Curr Opin Cell Biol, 20, 427-36.

- BONIFATI, V. 2012. Autosomal recessive parkinsonism. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord,* 18 Suppl 1, S4-6.
- BONIFATI, V., LUCKING, C. B., FABRIZIO, E., PERIQUET, M., MECO, G. & BRICE, A. 2001. Three parkin gene mutations in a sibship with autosomal recessive early onset parkinsonism. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 71, 531-4.
- BONIFATI, V., RIZZU, P., SQUITIERI, F., KRIEGER, E., VANACORE, N., VAN SWIETEN, J. C.,
 BRICE, A., VAN DUIJN, C. M., OOSTRA, B., MECO, G. & HEUTINK, P. 2003. DJ-1(
 PARK7), a novel gene for autosomal recessive, early onset parkinsonism. *Neurol Sci*, 24, 159-60.
- BONIFATI, V., ROHE, C. F., BREEDVELD, G. J., FABRIZIO, E., DE MARI, M., TASSORELLI, C., TAVELLA, A., MARCONI, R., NICHOLL, D. J., CHIEN, H. F., FINCATI, E., ABBRUZZESE, G., MARINI, P., DE GAETANO, A., HORSTINK, M. W., MAAT-KIEVIT, J. A., SAMPAIO, C., ANTONINI, A., STOCCHI, F., MONTAGNA, P., TONI, V., GUIDI, M., DALLA LIBERA, A., TINAZZI, M., DE PANDIS, F., FABBRINI, G., GOLDWURM, S., DE KLEIN, A., BARBOSA, E., LOPIANO, L., MARTIGNONI, E., LAMBERTI, P., VANACORE, N., MECO, G., OOSTRA, B. A. & ITALIAN PARKINSON GENETICS, N. 2005. Early-onset parkinsonism associated with PINK1 mutations: frequency, genotypes, and phenotypes. *Neurology*, 65, 87-95.
- BOUHOUCHE, A., TIBAR, H., BEN EL HAJ, R., EL BAYAD, K., RAZINE, R., TAZROUT, S., SKALLI,
 A., BOUSLAM, N., ELOUARDI, L., BENOMAR, A., YAHYAOUI, M. & REGRAGUI, W.
 2017. LRRK2 G2019S Mutation: Prevalence and Clinical Features in Moroccans with
 Parkinson's Disease. *Parkinsons Dis*, 2017, 2412486.
- BRAAK, H., DEL TREDICI, K., BRATZKE, H., HAMM-CLEMENT, J., SANDMANN-KEIL, D. & RUB, U. 2002. Staging of the intracerebral inclusion body pathology associated with idiopathic Parkinson's disease (preclinical and clinical stages). *J Neurol*, 249 Suppl 3, III/1-5.
- BRAAK, H., DEL TREDICI, K., RUB, U., DE VOS, R. A., JANSEN STEUR, E. N. & BRAAK, E. 2003.
 Staging of brain pathology related to sporadic Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol Aging*, 24, 197-211.
- BRAS, J., GUERREIRO, R. & HARDY, J. 2012. Use of next-generation sequencing and other whole-genome strategies to dissect neurological disease. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 13, 453-64.
- BROOKS, D. J. 2012. Parkinson's disease: Diagnosis. *Parkinsonism & Related Disorders*, 18, S31-S33.
- CHARLES, P., CAMUZAT, A., BENAMMAR, N., SELLAL, F., DESTEE, A., BONNET, A. M., LESAGE, S., LE BER, I., STEVANIN, G., DURR, A., BRICE, A. & FRENCH PARKINSON'S DISEASE GENETIC STUDY, G. 2007. Are interrupted SCA2 CAG repeat expansions responsible for parkinsonism? *Neurology*, 69, 1970-5.
- CHARTIER-HARLIN, M. C., DACHSEL, J. C., VILARINO-GUELL, C., LINCOLN, S. J., LEPRETRE, F., HULIHAN, M. M., KACHERGUS, J., MILNERWOOD, A. J., TAPIA, L., SONG, M. S., LE RHUN, E., MUTEZ, E., LARVOR, L., DUFLOT, A., VANBESIEN-MAILLIOT, C., KREISLER, A., ROSS, O. A., NISHIOKA, K., SOTO-ORTOLAZA, A. I., COBB, S. A., MELROSE, H. L.,

BEHROUZ, B., KEELING, B. H., BACON, J. A., HENTATI, E., WILLIAMS, L., YANAGIYA, A., SONENBERG, N., LOCKHART, P. J., ZUBAIR, A. C., UITTI, R. J., AASLY, J. O., KRYGOWSKA-WAJS, A., OPALA, G., WSZOLEK, Z. K., FRIGERIO, R., MARAGANORE, D. M., GOSAL, D., LYNCH, T., HUTCHINSON, M., BENTIVOGLIO, A. R., VALENTE, E. M., NICHOLS, W. C., PANKRATZ, N., FOROUD, T., GIBSON, R. A., HENTATI, F., DICKSON, D. W., DESTEE, A. & FARRER, M. J. 2011. Translation initiator EIF4G1 mutations in familial Parkinson disease. *Am J Hum Genet*, 89, 398-406.

- CHARTIER-HARLIN, M. C., KACHERGUS, J., ROUMIER, C., MOUROUX, V., DOUAY, X., LINCOLN, S., LEVECQUE, C., LARVOR, L., ANDRIEUX, J., HULIHAN, M., WAUCQUIER, N., DEFEBVRE, L., AMOUYEL, P., FARRER, M. & DESTEE, A. 2004. Alpha-synuclein locus duplication as a cause of familial Parkinson's disease. *Lancet*, 364, 1167-9.
- CHAUDHURI, K. R., HEALY, D. G., SCHAPIRA, A. H. & EXCELLENCE, N. I. F. C. 2006. Non-motor symptoms of Parkinson's disease: diagnosis and management. *Lancet Neurol*, 5, 235-45.
- CHECKOWAY, H., FRANKLIN, G. M., COSTA-MALLEN, P., SMITH-WELLER, T., DILLEY, J., SWANSON, P. D. & COSTA, L. G. 1998. A genetic polymorphism of MAO-B modifies the association of cigarette smoking and Parkinson's disease. *Neurology*, 50, 1458-61.
- CHEN, S., BERTHELIER, V., HAMILTON, J. B., O'NUALLAIN, B. & WETZEL, R. 2002. Amyloid-like features of polyglutamine aggregates and their assembly kinetics. *Biochemistry*, 41, 7391-9.
- CHIBA-FALEK, O., LOPEZ, G. J. & NUSSBAUM, R. L. 2006. Levels of alpha-synuclein mRNA in sporadic Parkinson disease patients. *Mov Disord*, 21, 1703-8.
- CHRISTENSEN, K. D., ROBERTS, J. S., WHITEHOUSE, P. J., ROYAL, C. D., OBISESAN, T. O., CUPPLES, L. A., VERNARELLI, J. A., BHATT, D. L., LINNENBRINGER, E., BUTSON, M. B., FASAYE, G. A., UHLMANN, W. R., HIRAKI, S., WANG, N., COOK-DEEGAN, R., GREEN, R. C. & GROUP*, R. S. 2016. Disclosing Pleiotropic Effects During Genetic Risk Assessment for Alzheimer Disease: A Randomized Trial. *Ann Intern Med*, 164, 155-63.
- CHUANG, R. S. & GITLER, A. D. 2013. Parallel PARKing: Parkinson's genes function in common pathway. *Neuron*, 77, 377-9.
- CIRYAM, P., TARTAGLIA, G. G., MORIMOTO, R. I., DOBSON, C. M. & VENDRUSCOLO, M. 2013. Widespread aggregation and neurodegenerative diseases are associated with supersaturated proteins. *Cell Rep*, **5**, 781-90.
- CONWAY, K. A., HARPER, J. D. & LANSBURY, P. T. 1998. Accelerated in vitro fibril formation by a mutant alpha-synuclein linked to early-onset Parkinson disease. *Nat Med*, 4, 1318-20.
- DAVIS, G. C., WILLIAMS, A. C., MARKEY, S. P., EBERT, M. H., CAINE, E. D., REICHERT, C. M. & KOPIN, I. J. 1979. Chronic Parkinsonism secondary to intravenous injection of meperidine analogues. *Psychiatry Res,* 1, 249-54.
- DAWSON, T. M. & DAWSON, V. L. 2014. Parkin plays a role in sporadic Parkinson's disease. *Neurodegener Dis*, 13, 69-71.
- DE LAU, L. M. & BRETELER, M. M. 2006. Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease. *Lancet Neurol*, 5, 525-35.
- DE LAU, L. M., KOUDSTAAL, P. J., HOFMAN, A. & BRETELER, M. M. 2006. Subjective complaints precede Parkinson disease: the rotterdam study. *Arch Neurol*, 63, 362-5.

- DENG, H., WANG, P. & JANKOVIC, J. 2017. The genetics of Parkinson disease. *Ageing Res Rev*, 42, 72-85.
- DENG, H. X., SHI, Y., YANG, Y., AHMETI, K. B., MILLER, N., HUANG, C., CHENG, L., ZHAI, H., DENG, S., NUYTEMANS, K., CORBETT, N. J., KIM, M. J., DENG, H., TANG, B., YANG, Z., XU, Y., CHAN, P., HUANG, B., GAO, X. P., SONG, Z., LIU, Z., FECTO, F., SIDDIQUE, N., FOROUD, T., JANKOVIC, J., GHETTI, B., NICHOLSON, D. A., KRAINC, D., MELEN, O., VANCE, J. M., PERICAK-VANCE, M. A., MA, Y. C., RAJPUT, A. H. & SIDDIQUE, T. 2016. Identification of TMEM230 mutations in familial Parkinson's disease. *Nat Genet*, 48, 733-9.
- DESIKAN, R. S., SCHORK, A. J., WANG, Y., WITOELAR, A., SHARMA, M., MCEVOY, L. K., HOLLAND, D., BREWER, J. B., CHEN, C. H., THOMPSON, W. K., HAROLD, D., WILLIAMS, J., OWEN, M. J., O'DONOVAN, M. C., PERICAK-VANCE, M. A., MAYEUX, R., HAINES, J. L., FARRER, L. A., SCHELLENBERG, G. D., HEUTINK, P., SINGLETON, A. B., BRICE, A., WOOD, N. W., HARDY, J., MARTINEZ, M., CHOI, S. H., DESTEFANO, A., IKRAM, M. A., BIS, J. C., SMITH, A., FITZPATRICK, A. L., LAUNER, L., VAN DUIJN, C., SESHADRI, S., ULSTEIN, I. D., AARSLAND, D., FLADBY, T., DJUROVIC, S., HYMAN, B. T., SNAEDAL, J., STEFANSSON, H., STEFANSSON, K., GASSER, T., ANDREASSEN, O. A., DALE, A. M., ADNI, A. G. C. & INVESTIGATORS, I. 2015. Genetic overlap between Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease at the MAPT locus. *Mol Psychiatry*, 20, 1588-95.
- DESPLATS, P., PATEL, P., KOSBERG, K., MANTE, M., PATRICK, C., ROCKENSTEIN, E., FUJITA, M., HASHIMOTO, M. & MASLIAH, E. 2012. Combined exposure to Maneb and Paraquat alters transcriptional regulation of neurogenesis-related genes in mice models of Parkinson's disease. *Mol Neurodegener*, 7, 49.
- DHUNGEL, N., ELEUTERI, S., LI, L. B., KRAMER, N. J., CHARTRON, J. W., SPENCER, B.,
 KOSBERG, K., FIELDS, J. A., STAFA, K., ADAME, A., LASHUEL, H., FRYDMAN, J., SHEN,
 K., MASLIAH, E. & GITLER, A. D. 2015. Parkinson's disease genes VPS35 and EIF4G1 interact genetically and converge on alpha-synuclein. *Neuron*, 85, 76-87.
- DI FONZO, A., CHIEN, H. F., SOCAL, M., GIRAUDO, S., TASSORELLI, C., ILICETO, G., FABBRINI, G., MARCONI, R., FINCATI, E., ABBRUZZESE, G., MARINI, P., SQUITIERI, F., HORSTINK, M. W., MONTAGNA, P., LIBERA, A. D., STOCCHI, F., GOLDWURM, S., FERREIRA, J. J., MECO, G., MARTIGNONI, E., LOPIANO, L., JARDIM, L. B., OOSTRA, B. A., BARBOSA, E. R., ITALIAN PARKINSON GENETICS, N. & BONIFATI, V. 2007. ATP13A2 missense mutations in juvenile parkinsonism and young onset Parkinson disease. *Neurology*, 68, 1557-62.
- DI FONZO, A., DEKKER, M. C., MONTAGNA, P., BARUZZI, A., YONOVA, E. H., CORREIA GUEDES, L., SZCZERBINSKA, A., ZHAO, T., DUBBEL-HULSMAN, L. O., WOUTERS, C. H., DE GRAAFF, E., OYEN, W. J., SIMONS, E. J., BREEDVELD, G. J., OOSTRA, B. A., HORSTINK, M. W. & BONIFATI, V. 2009. FBXO7 mutations cause autosomal recessive, early-onset parkinsonian-pyramidal syndrome. *Neurology*, 72, 240-5.
- DI FONZO, A., WU-CHOU, Y. H., LU, C. S., VAN DOESELAAR, M., SIMONS, E. J., ROHE, C. F., CHANG, H. C., CHEN, R. S., WENG, Y. H., VANACORE, N., BREEDVELD, G. J., OOSTRA, B. A. & BONIFATI, V. 2006. A common missense variant in the LRRK2 gene, Gly2385Arg, associated with Parkinson's disease risk in Taiwan. *Neurogenetics*, 7, 133-8.
- DORSEY, E. R., CONSTANTINESCU, R., THOMPSON, J. P., BIGLAN, K. M., HOLLOWAY, R. G., KIEBURTZ, K., MARSHALL, F. J., RAVINA, B. M., SCHIFITTO, G., SIDEROWF, A. &

TANNER, C. M. 2007. Projected number of people with Parkinson disease in the most populous nations, 2005 through 2030. *Neurology*, 68, 384-6.

- DURR, A. 2010. Autosomal dominant cerebellar ataxias: polyglutamine expansions and beyond. *Lancet Neurol*, 9, 885-94.
- DUSEK, P., JANKOVIC, J. & LE, W. 2012. Iron dysregulation in movement disorders. *Neurobiol Dis*, 46, 1-18.
- EDVARDSON, S., CINNAMON, Y., TA-SHMA, A., SHAAG, A., YIM, Y. I., ZENVIRT, S., JALAS, C., LESAGE, S., BRICE, A., TARABOULOS, A., KAESTNER, K. H., GREENE, L. E. & ELPELEG, O. 2012. A deleterious mutation in DNAJC6 encoding the neuronal-specific clathrinuncoating co-chaperone auxilin, is associated with juvenile parkinsonism. *PLoS One*, 7, e36458.
- EISENBERG, E. & GREENE, L. E. 2007. Multiple roles of auxilin and hsc70 in clathrin-mediated endocytosis. *Traffic*, **8**, 640-6.
- ELSAYED, L. E., DROUET, V., USENKO, T., MOHAMMED, I. N., HAMED, A. A., ELSEED, M. A.,
 SALIH, M. A., KOKO, M. E., MOHAMED, A. Y., SIDDIG, R. A., ELBASHIR, M. I., IBRAHIM,
 M. E., DURR, A., STEVANIN, G., LESAGE, S., AHMED, A. E. & BRICE, A. 2016. A Novel
 Nonsense Mutation in DNAJC6 Expands the Phenotype of Autosomal-Recessive
 Juvenile-Onset Parkinson's Disease. *Ann Neurol*, 79, 335-7.
- ELSTON, R. C. 1998. Methods of linkage analysis--and the assumptions underlying them [see comment]. *Am J Hum Genet*, 63, 931-4.
- FARRER, M., KACHERGUS, J., FORNO, L., LINCOLN, S., WANG, D. S., HULIHAN, M., MARAGANORE, D., GWINN-HARDY, K., WSZOLEK, Z., DICKSON, D. & LANGSTON, J. W. 2004. Comparison of kindreds with parkinsonism and alpha-synuclein genomic multiplications. *Ann Neurol*, 55, 174-9.
- FELLNER, L. & STEFANOVA, N. 2013. The role of glia in alpha-synucleinopathies. *Mol Neurobiol*, 47, 575-86.
- FERRARI, R., HERNANDEZ, D. G., NALLS, M. A., ROHRER, J. D., RAMASAMY, A., KWOK, J. B., DOBSON-STONE, C., BROOKS, W. S., SCHOFIELD, P. R., HALLIDAY, G. M., HODGES, J. R., PIGUET, O., BARTLEY, L., THOMPSON, E., HAAN, E., HERNANDEZ, I., RUIZ, A., BOADA, M., BORRONI, B., PADOVANI, A., CRUCHAGA, C., CAIRNS, N. J., BENUSSI, L., BINETTI, G., GHIDONI, R., FORLONI, G., GALIMBERTI, D., FENOGLIO, C., SERPENTE, M., SCARPINI, E., CLARIMON, J., LLEO, A., BLESA, R., WALDO, M. L., NILSSON, K., NILSSON, C., MACKENZIE, I. R., HSIUNG, G. Y., MANN, D. M., GRAFMAN, J., MORRIS, C. M., ATTEMS, J., GRIFFITHS, T. D., MCKEITH, I. G., THOMAS, A. J., PIETRINI, P., HUEY, E. D., WASSERMANN, E. M., BABORIE, A., JAROS, E., TIERNEY, M. C., PASTOR, P., RAZQUIN, C., ORTEGA-CUBERO, S., ALONSO, E., PERNECZKY, R., DIEHL-SCHMID, J., ALEXOPOULOS, P., KURZ, A., RAINERO, I., RUBINO, E., PINESSI, L., ROGAEVA, E., ST GEORGE-HYSLOP, P., ROSSI, G., TAGLIAVINI, F., GIACCONE, G., ROWE, J. B., SCHLACHETZKI, J. C., UPHILL, J., COLLINGE, J., MEAD, S., DANEK, A., VAN DEERLIN, V. M., GROSSMAN, M., TROJANOWSKI, J. Q., VAN DER ZEE, J., DESCHAMPS, W., VAN LANGENHOVE, T., CRUTS, M., VAN BROECKHOVEN, C., CAPPA, S. F., LE BER, I., HANNEQUIN, D., GOLFIER, V., VERCELLETTO, M., BRICE, A., NACMIAS, B., SORBI, S., BAGNOLI, S., PIACERI, I., NIELSEN, J. E., HJERMIND, L. E., RIEMENSCHNEIDER, M., MAYHAUS, M., IBACH, B., GASPARONI, G., PICHLER, S., GU, W., ROSSOR, M. N., et al. 2014. Frontotemporal dementia and its subtypes: a genome-wide association study. Lancet Neurol, 13, 686-99.

- FORNO, L. S. 1969. Concentric hyalin intraneuronal inclusions of Lewy type in the brains of elderly persons (50 incidental cases): relationship to parkinsonism. J Am Geriatr Soc, 17, 557-75.
- FOROUD, T., UNIACKE, S. K., LIU, L., PANKRATZ, N., RUDOLPH, A., HALTER, C., SHULTS, C., MARDER, K., CONNEALLY, P. M., NICHOLS, W. C. & PARKINSON STUDY, G. 2003. Heterozygosity for a mutation in the parkin gene leads to later onset Parkinson disease. *Neurology*, 60, 796-801.
- FOSTER, N. L., WILHELMSEN, K., SIMA, A. A., JONES, M. Z., D'AMATO, C. J. & GILMAN, S. 1997. Frontotemporal dementia and parkinsonism linked to chromosome 17: a consensus conference. Conference Participants. *Ann Neurol*, 41, 706-15.
- FRANKE, A., MCGOVERN, D. P., BARRETT, J. C., WANG, K., RADFORD-SMITH, G. L., AHMAD, T., LEES, C. W., BALSCHUN, T., LEE, J., ROBERTS, R., ANDERSON, C. A., BIS, J. C., BUMPSTEAD, S., ELLINGHAUS, D., FESTEN, E. M., GEORGES, M., GREEN, T., HARITUNIANS, T., JOSTINS, L., LATIANO, A., MATHEW, C. G., MONTGOMERY, G. W., PRESCOTT, N. J., RAYCHAUDHURI, S., ROTTER, J. I., SCHUMM, P., SHARMA, Y., SIMMS, L. A., TAYLOR, K. D., WHITEMAN, D., WIJMENGA, C., BALDASSANO, R. N., BARCLAY, M., BAYLESS, T. M., BRAND, S., BUNING, C., COHEN, A., COLOMBEL, J. F., COTTONE, M., STRONATI, L., DENSON, T., DE VOS, M., D'INCA, R., DUBINSKY, M., EDWARDS, C., FLORIN, T., FRANCHIMONT, D., GEARRY, R., GLAS, J., VAN GOSSUM, A., GUTHERY, S. L., HALFVARSON, J., VERSPAGET, H. W., HUGOT, J. P., KARBAN, A., LAUKENS, D., LAWRANCE, I., LEMANN, M., LEVINE, A., LIBIOULLE, C., LOUIS, E., MOWAT, C., NEWMAN, W., PANES, J., PHILLIPS, A., PROCTOR, D. D., REGUEIRO, M., RUSSELL, R., RUTGEERTS, P., SANDERSON, J., SANS, M., SEIBOLD, F., STEINHART, A. H., STOKKERS, P. C., TORKVIST, L., KULLAK-UBLICK, G., WILSON, D., WALTERS, T., TARGAN, S. R., BRANT, S. R., RIOUX, J. D., D'AMATO, M., WEERSMA, R. K., KUGATHASAN, S., GRIFFITHS, A. M., MANSFIELD, J. C., VERMEIRE, S., DUERR, R. H., SILVERBERG, M. S., SATSANGI, J., SCHREIBER, S., CHO, J. H., ANNESE, V., HAKONARSON, H., DALY, M. J. & PARKES, M. 2010. Genome-wide meta-analysis increases to 71 the number of confirmed Crohn's disease susceptibility loci. Nat Genet, 42, 1118-25.
- FUNAYAMA, M., HASEGAWA, K., OHTA, E., KAWASHIMA, N., KOMIYAMA, M., KOWA, H., TSUJI, S. & OBATA, F. 2005. An LRRK2 mutation as a cause for the parkinsonism in the original PARK8 family. *Ann Neurol*, 57, 918-21.
- FUNAYAMA, M., OHE, K., AMO, T., FURUYA, N., YAMAGUCHI, J., SAIKI, S., LI, Y., OGAKI, K., ANDO, M., YOSHINO, H., TOMIYAMA, H., NISHIOKA, K., HASEGAWA, K., SAIKI, H., SATAKE, W., MOGUSHI, K., SASAKI, R., KOKUBO, Y., KUZUHARA, S., TODA, T., MIZUNO, Y., UCHIYAMA, Y., OHNO, K. & HATTORI, N. 2015. CHCHD2 mutations in autosomal dominant late-onset Parkinson's disease: a genome-wide linkage and sequencing study. *Lancet Neurol*, 14, 274-82.
- FURTADO, S., FARRER, M., TSUBOI, Y., KLIMEK, M. L., DE LA FUENTE-FERNANDEZ, R., HUSSEY, J., LOCKHART, P., CALNE, D. B., SUCHOWERSKY, O., STOESSL, A. J. & WSZOLEK, Z. K. 2002. SCA-2 presenting as parkinsonism in an Alberta family: clinical, genetic, and PET findings. *Neurology*, 59, 1625-7.
- FURTADO, S., PAYAMI, H., LOCKHART, P. J., HANSON, M., NUTT, J. G., SINGLETON, A. A.,
 SINGLETON, A., BOWER, J., UTTI, R. J., BIRD, T. D., DE LA FUENTE-FERNANDEZ, R.,
 TSUBOI, Y., KLIMEK, M. L., SUCHOWERSKY, O., HARDY, J., CALNE, D. B., WSZOLEK, Z.
 K., FARRER, M., GWINN-HARDY, K. & STOESSL, A. J. 2004. Profile of families with

parkinsonism-predominant spinocerebellar ataxia type 2 (SCA2). *Mov Disord,* 19, 622-9.

- GANDHI, S., MUQIT, M. M., STANYER, L., HEALY, D. G., ABOU-SLEIMAN, P. M., HARGREAVES,
 I., HEALES, S., GANGULY, M., PARSONS, L., LEES, A. J., LATCHMAN, D. S., HOLTON, J.
 L., WOOD, N. W. & REVESZ, T. 2006. PINK1 protein in normal human brain and
 Parkinson's disease. *Brain*, 129, 1720-31.
- GELB, D. J., OLIVER, E. & GILMAN, S. 1999. Diagnostic criteria for Parkinson disease. Arch Neurol, 56, 33-9.
- GENOMES PROJECT, C., ABECASIS, G. R., ALTSHULER, D., AUTON, A., BROOKS, L. D., DURBIN,
 R. M., GIBBS, R. A., HURLES, M. E. & MCVEAN, G. A. 2010. A map of human genome variation from population-scale sequencing. *Nature*, 467, 1061-73.
- GIBB, W. R. & LEES, A. J. 1988. The relevance of the Lewy body to the pathogenesis of idiopathic Parkinson's disease. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 51, 745-52.
- GIRI, A., MOK, K. Y., JANSEN, I., SHARMA, M., TESSON, C., MANGONE, G., LESAGE, S., BRAS, J. M., SHULMAN, J. M., SHEERIN, U. M., INTERNATIONAL PARKINSON'S DISEASE, C., DIEZ-FAIREN, M., PASTOR, P., MARTI, M. J., EZQUERRA, M., TOLOSA, E., CORREIA-GUEDES, L., FERREIRA, J., AMIN, N., VAN DUIJN, C. M., VAN ROOIJ, J., UITTERLINDEN, A. G., KRAAIJ, R., NALLS, M. & SIMON-SANCHEZ, J. 2017. Lack of evidence for a role of genetic variation in TMEM230 in the risk for Parkinson's disease in the Caucasian population. *Neurobiol Aging*, 50, 167 e11-167 e13.
- GOEDERT, M. 2001. Alpha-synuclein and neurodegenerative diseases. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 2, 492-501.
- GOEDERT, M. 2004. Tau protein and neurodegeneration. Semin Cell Dev Biol, 15, 45-9.
- GOEDERT, M., JAKES, R. & SPILLANTINI, M. G. 2017. The Synucleinopathies: Twenty Years On. J Parkinsons Dis, 7, S53-S71.
- GOEDERT, M., SPILLANTINI, M. G., SERPELL, L. C., BERRIMAN, J., SMITH, M. J., JAKES, R. & CROWTHER, R. A. 2001. From genetics to pathology: tau and alpha-synuclein assemblies in neurodegenerative diseases. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences*, 356, 213-227.
- GOLDWURM, S., ZINI, M., MARIANI, L., TESEI, S., MICELI, R., SIRONI, F., CLEMENTI, M.,
 BONIFATI, V. & PEZZOLI, G. 2007. Evaluation of LRRK2 G2019S penetrance: relevance for genetic counseling in Parkinson disease. *Neurology*, 68, 1141-3.
- GWINN-HARDY, K., SINGLETON, A., O'SUILLEABHAIN, P., BOSS, M., NICHOLL, D., ADAM, A., HUSSEY, J., CRITCHLEY, P., HARDY, J. & FARRER, M. 2001. Spinocerebellar ataxia type 3 phenotypically resembling parkinson disease in a black family. *Arch Neurol*, 58, 296-9.
- HATTORI, N., KITADA, T., MATSUMINE, H., ASAKAWA, S., YAMAMURA, Y., YOSHINO, H., KOBAYASHI, T., YOKOCHI, M., WANG, M., YORITAKA, A., KONDO, T., KUZUHARA, S., NAKAMURA, S., SHIMIZU, N. & MIZUNO, Y. 1998. Molecular genetic analysis of a novel Parkin gene in Japanese families with autosomal recessive juvenile parkinsonism: evidence for variable homozygous deletions in the Parkin gene in affected individuals. *Ann Neurol*, 44, 935-41.
- HEALY, D. G., FALCHI, M., O'SULLIVAN, S. S., BONIFATI, V., DURR, A., BRESSMAN, S., BRICE,
 A., AASLY, J., ZABETIAN, C. P., GOLDWURM, S., FERREIRA, J. J., TOLOSA, E., KAY, D.
 M., KLEIN, C., WILLIAMS, D. R., MARRAS, C., LANG, A. E., WSZOLEK, Z. K., BERCIANO,
 J., SCHAPIRA, A. H., LYNCH, T., BHATIA, K. P., GASSER, T., LEES, A. J., WOOD, N. W. &
 INTERNATIONAL, L. C. 2008a. Phenotype, genotype, and worldwide genetic

penetrance of LRRK2-associated Parkinson's disease: a case-control study. *Lancet Neurol*, **7**, 583-90.

- HEALY, D. G., WOOD, N. W. & SCHAPIRA, A. H. 2008b. Test for LRRK2 mutations in patients with Parkinson's disease. *Pract Neurol*, **8**, 381-5.
- HERNAN, M. A., TAKKOUCHE, B., CAAMANO-ISORNA, F. & GESTAL-OTERO, J. J. 2002. A meta-analysis of coffee drinking, cigarette smoking, and the risk of Parkinson's disease. *Ann Neurol*, 52, 276-84.
- HERNANDEZ, F. & AVILA, J. 2007. Tauopathies. Cell Mol Life Sci, 64, 2219-33.
- HUGHES, A. J., DANIEL, S. E., BLANKSON, S. & LEES, A. J. 1993. A clinicopathologic study of 100 cases of Parkinson's disease. *Arch Neurol*, 50, 140-8.
- HUGHES, A. J., DANIEL, S. E., KILFORD, L. & LEES, A. J. 1992. Accuracy of clinical diagnosis of idiopathic Parkinson's disease: a clinico-pathological study of 100 cases. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 55, 181-4.
- HUTTENLOCHER, J., KRUGER, R., CAPETIAN, P., LOHMANN, K., BROCKMANN, K., CSOTI, I., KLEIN, C., BERG, D., GASSER, T., BONIN, M., RIESS, O. & BAUER, P. 2015. EIF4G1 is neither a strong nor a common risk factor for Parkinson's disease: evidence from large European cohorts. *J Med Genet*, 52, 37-41.
- IBANEZ, L., DUBE, U., BUDDE, J., BLACK, K., MEDVEDEVA, A., DAVIS, A. A., PERLMUTTER, J. S., BENITEZ, B. A. & CRUCHAGA, C. 2017. TMEM230 in Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol Aging*, 56, 212 e1-212 e3.
- INTERNATIONAL HAPMAP, C. 2005. A haplotype map of the human genome. *Nature*, 437, 1299-320.
- JANSEN, I. E., GIBBS, J. R., NALLS, M. A., PRICE, T. R., LUBBE, S., VAN ROOIJ, J., UITTERLINDEN, A. G., KRAAIJ, R., WILLIAMS, N. M., BRICE, A., HARDY, J., WOOD, N. W., MORRIS, H. R., GASSER, T., SINGLETON, A. B., HEUTINK, P., SHARMA, M. & INTERNATIONAL PARKINSON'S DISEASE GENOMICS, C. 2017. Establishing the role of rare coding variants in known Parkinson's disease risk loci. *Neurobiol Aging*, 59, 220 e11-220 e18.
- JELLEN, L. C., LU, L., WANG, X., UNGER, E. L., EARLEY, C. J., ALLEN, R. P., WILLIAMS, R. W. & JONES, B. C. 2013. Iron deficiency alters expression of dopamine-related genes in the ventral midbrain in mice. *Neuroscience*, 252, 13-23.
- JELLINGER, K. A. 2003. Neuropathological spectrum of synucleinopathies. *Mov Disord,* 18 Suppl 6, S2-12.
- KALINDERI, K., BOSTANTJOPOULOU, S. & FIDANI, L. 2016. The genetic background of Parkinson's disease: current progress and future prospects. *Acta Neurol Scand*, 134, 314-326.
- KIM, H. G., JU, M. S., HA, S. K., LEE, H., LEE, H., KIM, S. Y. & OH, M. S. 2012. Acacetin protects dopaminergic cells against 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine-induced neuroinflammation in vitro and in vivo. *Biol Pharm Bull*, 35, 1287-94.
- KIM, J. Y., KIM, S. Y., KIM, J. M., KIM, Y. K., YOON, K. Y., KIM, J. Y., LEE, B. C., KIM, J. S., PAEK, S. H., PARK, S. S., KIM, S. E. & JEON, B. S. 2009. Spinocerebellar ataxia type 17 mutation as a causative and susceptibility gene in parkinsonism. *Neurology*, 72, 1385-9.
- KIM, Y. E., JEON, B., FARRER, M. J., SCOTT, E., GUELLA, I., PARK, S. S., KIM, J. M., PARK, H. Y., KIM, A., SON, Y. D. & CHO, Z. H. 2017. SCA2 family presenting as typical Parkinson's disease: 34 year follow up. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*, 40, 69-72.

- KIROLA, L., BEHARI, M., SHISHIR, C. & THELMA, B. K. 2016. Identification of a novel homozygous mutation Arg459Pro in SYNJ1 gene of an Indian family with autosomal recessive juvenile Parkinsonism. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*, 31, 124-128.
- KLEIN, C., LOHMANN-HEDRICH, K., ROGAEVA, E., SCHLOSSMACHER, M. G. & LANG, A. E. 2007. Deciphering the role of heterozygous mutations in genes associated with parkinsonism. *Lancet Neurol*, 6, 652-62.
- KOROGLU, C., BAYSAL, L., CETINKAYA, M., KARASOY, H. & TOLUN, A. 2013. DNAJC6 is responsible for juvenile parkinsonism with phenotypic variability. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*, 19, 320-4.
- KOURI, N., ROSS, O. A., DOMBROSKI, B., YOUNKIN, C. S., SERIE, D. J., SOTO-ORTOLAZA, A., BAKER, M., FINCH, N. C., YOON, H., KIM, J., FUJIOKA, S., MCLEAN, C. A., GHETTI, B., SPINA, S., CANTWELL, L. B., FARLOW, M. R., GRAFMAN, J., HUEY, E. D., RYUNG HAN, M., BEECHER, S., GELLER, E. T., KRETZSCHMAR, H. A., ROEBER, S., GEARING, M., JUNCOS, J. L., VONSATTEL, J. P., VAN DEERLIN, V. M., GROSSMAN, M., HURTIG, H. I., GROSS, R. G., ARNOLD, S. E., TROJANOWSKI, J. Q., LEE, V. M., WENNING, G. K., WHITE, C. L., HOGLINGER, G. U., MULLER, U., DEVLIN, B., GOLBE, L. I., CROOK, J., PARISI, J. E., BOEVE, B. F., JOSEPHS, K. A., WSZOLEK, Z. K., UITTI, R. J., GRAFF-RADFORD, N. R., LITVAN, I., YOUNKIN, S. G., WANG, L. S., ERTEKIN-TANER, N., RADEMAKERS, R., HAKONARSEN, H., SCHELLENBERG, G. D. & DICKSON, D. W. 2015. Genome-wide association study of corticobasal degeneration identifies risk variants shared with progressive supranuclear palsy. *Nat Commun*, 6, 7247.
- KREBS, C. E., KARKHEIRAN, S., POWELL, J. C., CAO, M., MAKAROV, V., DARVISH, H., DI PAOLO, G., WALKER, R. H., SHAHIDI, G. A., BUXBAUM, J. D., DE CAMILLI, P., YUE, Z. & PAISAN-RUIZ, C. 2013. The Sac1 domain of SYNJ1 identified mutated in a family with early-onset progressive Parkinsonism with generalized seizures. *Hum Mutat*, 34, 1200-7.
- KRUGER, R., KUHN, W., MULLER, T., WOITALLA, D., GRAEBER, M., KOSEL, S., PRZUNTEK, H., EPPLEN, J. T., SCHOLS, L. & RIESS, O. 1998. Ala30Pro mutation in the gene encoding alpha-synuclein in Parkinson's disease. *Nat Genet*, 18, 106-8.
- KUWAHARA, T., INOUE, K., D'AGATI, V. D., FUJIMOTO, T., EGUCHI, T., SAHA, S., WOLOZIN,
 B., IWATSUBO, T. & ABELIOVICH, A. 2016. LRRK2 and RAB7L1 coordinately regulate axonal morphology and lysosome integrity in diverse cellular contexts. *Sci Rep*, 6, 29945.
- KWOK, J. B., TEBER, E. T., LOY, C., HALLUPP, M., NICHOLSON, G., MELLICK, G. D., BUCHANAN, D. D., SILBURN, P. A. & SCHOFIELD, P. R. 2004. Tau haplotypes regulate transcription and are associated with Parkinson's disease. *Ann Neurol*, 55, 329-34.
- LAMBERT, J. C., IBRAHIM-VERBAAS, C. A., HAROLD, D., NAJ, A. C., SIMS, R., BELLENGUEZ, C., DESTAFANO, A. L., BIS, J. C., BEECHAM, G. W., GRENIER-BOLEY, B., RUSSO, G., THORTON-WELLS, T. A., JONES, N., SMITH, A. V., CHOURAKI, V., THOMAS, C., IKRAM, M. A., ZELENIKA, D., VARDARAJAN, B. N., KAMATANI, Y., LIN, C. F., GERRISH, A., SCHMIDT, H., KUNKLE, B., DUNSTAN, M. L., RUIZ, A., BIHOREAU, M. T., CHOI, S. H., REITZ, C., PASQUIER, F., CRUCHAGA, C., CRAIG, D., AMIN, N., BERR, C., LOPEZ, O. L., DE JAGER, P. L., DERAMECOURT, V., JOHNSTON, J. A., EVANS, D., LOVESTONE, S., LETENNEUR, L., MORON, F. J., RUBINSZTEIN, D. C., EIRIKSDOTTIR, G., SLEEGERS, K., GOATE, A. M., FIEVET, N., HUENTELMAN, M. W., GILL, M., BROWN, K., KAMBOH, M. I., KELLER, L., BARBERGER-GATEAU, P., MCGUINESS, B., LARSON, E. B., GREEN, R., MYERS, A. J., DUFOUIL, C., TODD, S., WALLON, D., LOVE, S., ROGAEVA, E.,

GALLACHER, J., ST GEORGE-HYSLOP, P., CLARIMON, J., LLEO, A., BAYER, A., TSUANG, D. W., YU, L., TSOLAKI, M., BOSSU, P., SPALLETTA, G., PROITSI, P., COLLINGE, J., SORBI, S., SANCHEZ-GARCIA, F., FOX, N. C., HARDY, J., DENIZ NARANJO, M. C., BOSCO, P., CLARKE, R., BRAYNE, C., GALIMBERTI, D., MANCUSO, M., MATTHEWS, F., EUROPEAN ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE, I., GENETIC, ENVIRONMENTAL RISK IN ALZHEIMER'S, D., ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE GENETIC, C., COHORTS FOR, H., AGING RESEARCH IN GENOMIC, E., MOEBUS, S., MECOCCI, P., DEL ZOMPO, M., MAIER, W., HAMPEL, H., PILOTTO, A., BULLIDO, M., PANZA, F., CAFFARRA, P., et al. 2013. Metaanalysis of 74,046 individuals identifies 11 new susceptibility loci for Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Genet*, 45, 1452-8.

- LANDER, E. S., LINTON, L. M., BIRREN, B., NUSBAUM, C., ZODY, M. C., BALDWIN, J., DEVON, K., DEWAR, K., DOYLE, M., FITZHUGH, W., FUNKE, R., GAGE, D., HARRIS, K., HEAFORD, A., HOWLAND, J., KANN, L., LEHOCZKY, J., LEVINE, R., MCEWAN, P., MCKERNAN, K., MELDRIM, J., MESIROV, J. P., MIRANDA, C., MORRIS, W., NAYLOR, J., RAYMOND, C., ROSETTI, M., SANTOS, R., SHERIDAN, A., SOUGNEZ, C., STANGE-THOMANN, Y., STOJANOVIC, N., SUBRAMANIAN, A., WYMAN, D., ROGERS, J., SULSTON, J., AINSCOUGH, R., BECK, S., BENTLEY, D., BURTON, J., CLEE, C., CARTER, N., COULSON, A., DEADMAN, R., DELOUKAS, P., DUNHAM, A., DUNHAM, I., DURBIN, R., FRENCH, L., GRAFHAM, D., GREGORY, S., HUBBARD, T., HUMPHRAY, S., HUNT, A., JONES, M., LLOYD, C., MCMURRAY, A., MATTHEWS, L., MERCER, S., MILNE, S., MULLIKIN, J. C., MUNGALL, A., PLUMB, R., ROSS, M., SHOWNKEEN, R., SIMS, S., WATERSTON, R. H., WILSON, R. K., HILLIER, L. W., MCPHERSON, J. D., MARRA, M. A., MARDIS, E. R., FULTON, L. A., CHINWALLA, A. T., PEPIN, K. H., GISH, W. R., CHISSOE, S. L., WENDL, M. C., DELEHAUNTY, K. D., MINER, T. L., DELEHAUNTY, A., KRAMER, J. B., COOK, L. L., FULTON, R. S., JOHNSON, D. L., MINX, P. J., CLIFTON, S. W., HAWKINS, T., BRANSCOMB, E., PREDKI, P., RICHARDSON, P., WENNING, S., SLEZAK, T., DOGGETT, N., CHENG, J. F., OLSEN, A., LUCAS, S., ELKIN, C., UBERBACHER, E., FRAZIER, M., et al. 2001. Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome. Nature, 409, 860-921.
- LANGSTON, J. W. & BALLARD, P. 1984. Parkinsonism induced by 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6tetrahydropyridine (MPTP): implications for treatment and the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. *Can J Neurol Sci*, 11, 160-5.
- LARNER, A. 2014. History of Neurology: Parkinson's disease before James Parkinson. Advances in Clinical Neuroscience and Rehabilitation, 13, 2.
- LEE, H. M. & KOH, S. B. 2015. Many Faces of Parkinson's Disease: Non-Motor Symptoms of Parkinson's Disease. *J Mov Disord*, 8, 92-7.
- LEE, V. M., GOEDERT, M. & TROJANOWSKI, J. Q. 2001. Neurodegenerative tauopathies. Annu Rev Neurosci, 24, 1121-59.
- LEE, Y., KIM, M. S. & LEE, J. 2017. Neuroprotective strategies to prevent and treat Parkinson's disease based on its pathophysiological mechanism. *Arch Pharm Res.*
- LESAGE, S., DROUET, V., MAJOUNIE, E., DERAMECOURT, V., JACOUPY, M., NICOLAS, A.,
 CORMIER-DEQUAIRE, F., HASSOUN, S. M., PUJOL, C., CIURA, S., ERPAPAZOGLOU, Z.,
 USENKO, T., MAURAGE, C. A., SAHBATOU, M., LIEBAU, S., DING, J., BILGIC, B., EMRE,
 M., ERGINEL-UNALTUNA, N., GUVEN, G., TISON, F., TRANCHANT, C., VIDAILHET, M.,
 CORVOL, J. C., KRACK, P., LEUTENEGGER, A. L., NALLS, M. A., HERNANDEZ, D. G.,
 HEUTINK, P., GIBBS, J. R., HARDY, J., WOOD, N. W., GASSER, T., DURR, A., DELEUZE, J.
 F., TAZIR, M., DESTEE, A., LOHMANN, E., KABASHI, E., SINGLETON, A., CORTI, O.,

BRICE, A., FRENCH PARKINSON'S DISEASE GENETICS, S. & INTERNATIONAL PARKINSON'S DISEASE GENOMICS, C. 2016. Loss of VPS13C Function in Autosomal-Recessive Parkinsonism Causes Mitochondrial Dysfunction and Increases PINK1/Parkin-Dependent Mitophagy. *Am J Hum Genet*, 98, 500-513.

- LI, X. X., LIAO, Q., XIA, H. & YANG, X. L. 2015. Association between Parkinson's disease and G2019S and R1441C mutations of the LRRK2 gene. *Exp Ther Med*, 10, 1450-1454.
- LI, Y., TOMIYAMA, H., SATO, K., HATANO, Y., YOSHINO, H., ATSUMI, M., KITAGUCHI, M., SASAKI, S., KAWAGUCHI, S., MIYAJIMA, H., TODA, T., MIZUNO, Y. & HATTORI, N.
 2005. Clinicogenetic study of PINK1 mutations in autosomal recessive early-onset parkinsonism. *Neurology*, 64, 1955-7.
- LILL, C. M. 2016. Genetics of Parkinson's disease. *Mol Cell Probes*, 30, 386-396.
- LILL, C. M., MASHYCHEV, A., HARTMANN, C., LOHMANN, K., MARRAS, C., LANG, A. E., KLEIN, C. & BERTRAM, L. 2016. Launching the movement disorders society genetic mutation database (MDSGene). *Mov Disord*, 31, 607-9.
- LILL, C. M., ROEHR, J. T., MCQUEEN, M. B., KAVVOURA, F. K., BAGADE, S., SCHJEIDE, B. M., SCHJEIDE, L. M., MEISSNER, E., ZAUFT, U., ALLEN, N. C., LIU, T., SCHILLING, M., ANDERSON, K. J., BEECHAM, G., BERG, D., BIERNACKA, J. M., BRICE, A., DESTEFANO, A. L., DO, C. B., ERIKSSON, N., FACTOR, S. A., FARRER, M. J., FOROUD, T., GASSER, T., HAMZA, T., HARDY, J. A., HEUTINK, P., HILL-BURNS, E. M., KLEIN, C., LATOURELLE, J. C., MARAGANORE, D. M., MARTIN, E. R., MARTINEZ, M., MYERS, R. H., NALLS, M. A., PANKRATZ, N., PAYAMI, H., SATAKE, W., SCOTT, W. K., SHARMA, M., SINGLETON, A. B., STEFANSSON, K., TODA, T., TUNG, J. Y., VANCE, J., WOOD, N. W., ZABETIAN, C. P., ANDME GENETIC EPIDEMIOLOGY OF PARKINSON'S DISEASE, C., INTERNATIONAL PARKINSON'S DISEASE GENOMICS, C., PARKINSON'S DISEASE, G. C., WELLCOME TRUST CASE CONTROL, C., YOUNG, P., TANZI, R. E., KHOURY, M. J., ZIPP, F., LEHRACH, H., IOANNIDIS, J. P. & BERTRAM, L. 2012. Comprehensive research synopsis and systematic meta-analyses in Parkinson's disease genetics: The PDGene database. *PLoS Genet*, 8, e1002548.
- LIM, S. W., ZHAO, Y., CHUA, E., LAW, H. Y., YUEN, Y., PAVANNI, R., WONG, M. C., NG, I. S., YOON, C. S., PUONG, K. Y., LIM, S. H. & TAN, E. K. 2006. Genetic analysis of SCA2, 3 and 17 in idiopathic Parkinson's disease. *Neurosci Lett*, 403, 11-4.
- LITTLE, J., BARAKAT-HADDAD, C., MARTINO, R., PRINGSHEIM, T., TREMLETT, H., MCKAY, K. A., VAN LIESHOUT, P., WALSH, S. J., GOMES, J. & KREWSKI, D. 2016. Genetic variation associated with the occurrence and progression of neurological disorders. *Neurotoxicology*.
- LIU, X., CHENG, R., VERBITSKY, M., KISSELEV, S., BROWNE, A., MEJIA-SANATANA, H., LOUIS,
 E. D., COTE, L. J., ANDREWS, H., WATERS, C., FORD, B., FRUCHT, S., FAHN, S.,
 MARDER, K., CLARK, L. N. & LEE, J. H. 2011. Genome-wide association study
 identifies candidate genes for Parkinson's disease in an Ashkenazi Jewish population.
 BMC Med Genet, 12, 104.
- LUCKING, C. B., DURR, A., BONIFATI, V., VAUGHAN, J., DE MICHELE, G., GASSER, T., HARHANGI, B. S., MECO, G., DENEFLE, P., WOOD, N. W., AGID, Y., BRICE, A., FRENCH PARKINSON'S DISEASE GENETICS STUDY, G. & EUROPEAN CONSORTIUM ON GENETIC SUSCEPTIBILITY IN PARKINSON'S, D. 2000. Association between early-onset Parkinson's disease and mutations in the parkin gene. *N Engl J Med*, 342, 1560-7.

- LWIN, A., ORVISKY, E., GOKER-ALPAN, O., LAMARCA, M. E. & SIDRANSKY, E. 2004. Glucocerebrosidase mutations in subjects with parkinsonism. *Mol Genet Metab*, 81, 70-3.
- MACLEOD, D. A., RHINN, H., KUWAHARA, T., ZOLIN, A., DI PAOLO, G., MCCABE, B. D., MARDER, K. S., HONIG, L. S., CLARK, L. N., SMALL, S. A. & ABELIOVICH, A. 2013.
 RAB7L1 interacts with LRRK2 to modify intraneuronal protein sorting and Parkinson's disease risk. *Neuron*, 77, 425-39.
- MARTIN, A. R., TSE, G., BUSTAMANTE, C. D. & KENNY, E. E. 2014. Imputation-based assessment of next generation rare exome variant arrays. *Pac Symp Biocomput*, 241-52.
- MAZZULLI, J. R., XU, Y. H., SUN, Y., KNIGHT, A. L., MCLEAN, P. J., CALDWELL, G. A., SIDRANSKY, E., GRABOWSKI, G. A. & KRAINC, D. 2011. Gaucher disease glucocerebrosidase and alpha-synuclein form a bidirectional pathogenic loop in synucleinopathies. *Cell*, 146, 37-52.
- MCGEER, P. L. & MCGEER, E. G. 2011. History of innate immunity in neurodegenerative disorders. *Front Pharmacol*, 2, 77.
- MCINTIRE, L. B., BERMAN, D. E., MYAENG, J., STANISZEWSKI, A., ARANCIO, O., DI PAOLO, G.
 & KIM, T. W. 2012. Reduction of synaptojanin 1 ameliorates synaptic and behavioral impairments in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurosci*, 32, 15271-6.
- MENCACCI, N. E., ISAIAS, I. U., REICH, M. M., GANOS, C., PLAGNOL, V., POLKE, J. M., BRAS, J., HERSHESON, J., STAMELOU, M., PITTMAN, A. M., NOYCE, A. J., MOK, K. Y., OPLADEN, T., KUNSTMANN, E., HODECKER, S., MUNCHAU, A., VOLKMANN, J., SAMNICK, S., SIDLE, K., NANJI, T., SWEENEY, M. G., HOULDEN, H., BATLA, A., ZECCHINELLI, A. L., PEZZOLI, G., MAROTTA, G., LEES, A., ALEGRIA, P., KRACK, P., CORMIER-DEQUAIRE, F., LESAGE, S., BRICE, A., HEUTINK, P., GASSER, T., LUBBE, S. J., MORRIS, H. R., TABA, P., KOKS, S., MAJOUNIE, E., RAPHAEL GIBBS, J., SINGLETON, A., HARDY, J., KLEBE, S., BHATIA, K. P., WOOD, N. W., INTERNATIONAL PARKINSON'S DISEASE GENOMICS, C. & CONSORTIUM, U. C.-E. 2014. Parkinson's disease in GTP cyclohydrolase 1 mutation carriers. *Brain*, 137, 2480-92.
- MIZUTA, I., SATAKE, W., NAKABAYASHI, Y., ITO, C., SUZUKI, S., MOMOSE, Y., NAGAI, Y., OKA, A., INOKO, H., FUKAE, J., SAITO, Y., SAWABE, M., MURAYAMA, S., YAMAMOTO, M., HATTORI, N., MURATA, M. & TODA, T. 2006. Multiple candidate gene analysis identifies alpha-synuclein as a susceptibility gene for sporadic Parkinson's disease. *Hum Mol Genet*, 15, 1151-8.
- MOHAN, M. & MELLICK, G. D. 2017. Role of the VPS35 D620N mutation in Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*, 36, 10-18.
- MUELLER, J. C., FUCHS, J., HOFER, A., ZIMPRICH, A., LICHTNER, P., ILLIG, T., BERG, D., WULLNER, U., MEITINGER, T. & GASSER, T. 2005. Multiple regions of alpha-synuclein are associated with Parkinson's disease. *Ann Neurol*, **57**, 535-41.
- MULLIN, S. & SCHAPIRA, A. 2015. The genetics of Parkinson's disease. *Br Med Bull,* 114, 39-52.
- NAJIM AL-DIN, A. S., WRIEKAT, A., MUBAIDIN, A., DASOUKI, M. & HIARI, M. 1994. Pallidopyramidal degeneration, supranuclear upgaze paresis and dementia: Kufor-Rakeb syndrome. *Acta Neurol Scand*, 89, 347-52.
- NALLS, M. A., PANKRATZ, N., LILL, C. M., DO, C. B., HERNANDEZ, D. G., SAAD, M., DESTEFANO, A. L., KARA, E., BRAS, J., SHARMA, M., SCHULTE, C., KELLER, M. F., AREPALLI, S., LETSON, C., EDSALL, C., STEFANSSON, H., LIU, X., PLINER, H., LEE, J. H.,

CHENG, R., INTERNATIONAL PARKINSON'S DISEASE GENOMICS, C., PARKINSON'S STUDY GROUP PARKINSON'S RESEARCH: THE ORGANIZED, G. I., ANDME, GENEPD, NEUROGENETICS RESEARCH, C., HUSSMAN INSTITUTE OF HUMAN, G., ASHKENAZI JEWISH DATASET, I., COHORTS FOR, H., AGING RESEARCH IN GENETIC, E., NORTH AMERICAN BRAIN EXPRESSION, C., UNITED KINGDOM BRAIN EXPRESSION, C., GREEK PARKINSON'S DISEASE, C., ALZHEIMER GENETIC ANALYSIS, G., IKRAM, M. A., IOANNIDIS, J. P., HADJIGEORGIOU, G. M., BIS, J. C., MARTINEZ, M., PERLMUTTER, J. S., GOATE, A., MARDER, K., FISKE, B., SUTHERLAND, M., XIROMERISIOU, G., MYERS, R. H., CLARK, L. N., STEFANSSON, K., HARDY, J. A., HEUTINK, P., CHEN, H., WOOD, N. W., HOULDEN, H., PAYAMI, H., BRICE, A., SCOTT, W. K., GASSER, T., BERTRAM, L., ERIKSSON, N., FOROUD, T. & SINGLETON, A. B. 2014. Large-scale meta-analysis of genome-wide association data identifies six new risk loci for Parkinson's disease. *Nat Genet*, 46, 989-93.

- NAVARRO, A. & BOVERIS, A. 2009. Brain mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative damage in Parkinson's disease. *J Bioenerg Biomembr*, 41, 517-21.
- NIBBELING, E. A. R., DUARRI, A., VERSCHUUREN-BEMELMANS, C. C., FOKKENS, M. R., KARJALAINEN, J. M., SMEETS, C., DE BOER-BERGSMA, J. J., VAN DER VRIES, G., DOOIJES, D., BAMPI, G. B., VAN DIEMEN, C., BRUNT, E., IPPEL, E., KREMER, B., VLAK, M., ADIR, N., WIJMENGA, C., VAN DE WARRENBURG, B. P. C., FRANKE, L., SINKE, R. J. & VERBEEK, D. S. 2017. Exome sequencing and network analysis identifies shared mechanisms underlying spinocerebellar ataxia. *Brain*, 140, 2860-2878.
- NICOLETTI, A., ZAPPIA, M. & GROUP, F. S. 2015. Coffee consumption and risk of levodopainduced dyskinesia in Parkinson's disease: The FRAGAMP study. *Mov Disord*, 30, 1854-6.
- OBESO, J. A., STAMELOU, M., GOETZ, C. G., POEWE, W., LANG, A. E., WEINTRAUB, D., BURN, D., HALLIDAY, G. M., BEZARD, E., PRZEDBORSKI, S., LEHERICY, S., BROOKS, D. J., ROTHWELL, J. C., HALLETT, M., DELONG, M. R., MARRAS, C., TANNER, C. M., ROSS, G. W., LANGSTON, J. W., KLEIN, C., BONIFATI, V., JANKOVIC, J., LOZANO, A. M., DEUSCHL, G., BERGMAN, H., TOLOSA, E., RODRIGUEZ-VIOLANTE, M., FAHN, S., POSTUMA, R. B., BERG, D., MAREK, K., STANDAERT, D. G., SURMEIER, D. J., OLANOW, C. W., KORDOWER, J. H., CALABRESI, P., SCHAPIRA, A. H. V. & STOESSL, A. J. 2017. Past, present, and future of Parkinson's disease: A special essay on the 200th Anniversary of the Shaking Palsy. *Mov Disord*, 32, 1264-1310.
- OLGIATI, S., QUADRI, M., FANG, M., ROOD, J. P., SAUTE, J. A., CHIEN, H. F., BOUWKAMP, C. G., GRAAFLAND, J., MINNEBOO, M., BREEDVELD, G. J., ZHANG, J., INTERNATIONAL PARKINSONISM GENETICS, N., VERHEIJEN, F. W., BOON, A. J., KIEVIT, A. J., JARDIM, L. B., MANDEMAKERS, W., BARBOSA, E. R., RIEDER, C. R., LEENDERS, K. L., WANG, J. & BONIFATI, V. 2016. DNAJC6 Mutations Associated With Early-Onset Parkinson's Disease. *Ann Neurol*, 79, 244-56.
- OLSZEWSKA, D. A., FEARON, C. & LYNCH, T. 2016. Novel gene (TMEM230) linked to Parkinson's disease. *J Clin Mov Disord*, *3*, 17.
- PARKINSON, J. 2002. An essay on the shaking palsy. 1817. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci*, 14, 223-36; discussion 222.
- PERIQUET, M., LATOUCHE, M., LOHMANN, E., RAWAL, N., DE MICHELE, G., RICARD, S., TEIVE, H., FRAIX, V., VIDAILHET, M., NICHOLL, D., BARONE, P., WOOD, N. W., RASKIN, S., DELEUZE, J. F., AGID, Y., DURR, A., BRICE, A., FRENCH PARKINSON'S DISEASE GENETICS STUDY, G. & EUROPEAN CONSORTIUM ON GENETIC SUSCEPTIBILITY IN
PARKINSON'S, D. 2003. Parkin mutations are frequent in patients with isolated earlyonset parkinsonism. *Brain*, 126, 1271-8.

- PETRUCCI, S., CONSOLI, F. & VALENTE, E. M. 2014. Parkinson Disease Genetics: A "Continuum" From Mendelian to Multifactorial Inheritance. *Curr Mol Med*.
- PICCINI, P., BURN, D. J., CERAVOLO, R., MARAGANORE, D. & BROOKS, D. J. 1999. The role of inheritance in sporadic Parkinson's disease: evidence from a longitudinal study of dopaminergic function in twins. *Ann Neurol*, 45, 577-82.
- PICHLER, I., DEL GRECO, M. F., GOGELE, M., LILL, C. M., BERTRAM, L., DO, C. B., ERIKSSON, N., FOROUD, T., MYERS, R. H., CONSORTIUM, P. G., NALLS, M., KELLER, M. F., INTERNATIONAL PARKINSON'S DISEASE GENOMICS, C., WELLCOME TRUST CASE CONTROL, C., BENYAMIN, B., WHITFIELD, J. B., GENETICS OF IRON STATUS, C., PRAMSTALLER, P. P., HICKS, A. A., THOMPSON, J. R. & MINELLI, C. 2013. Serum iron levels and the risk of Parkinson disease: a Mendelian randomization study. *PLoS Med*, 10, e1001462.
- PIHLSTROM, L., BERGE, V., RENGMARK, A. & TOFT, M. 2015. Parkinson's disease correlates with promoter methylation in the alpha-synuclein gene. *Mov Disord*, 30, 577-80.
- POLITO, L., GRECO, A. & SERIPA, D. 2016. Genetic Profile, Environmental Exposure, and Their Interaction in Parkinson's Disease. *Parkinsons Dis*, 2016, 6465793.
- POLYMEROPOULOS, M. H., LAVEDAN, C., LEROY, E., IDE, S. E., DEHEJIA, A., DUTRA, A., PIKE, B., ROOT, H., RUBENSTEIN, J., BOYER, R., STENROOS, E. S., CHANDRASEKHARAPPA, S., ATHANASSIADOU, A., PAPAPETROPOULOS, T., JOHNSON, W. G., LAZZARINI, A. M., DUVOISIN, R. C., DI IORIO, G., GOLBE, L. I. & NUSSBAUM, R. L. 1997. Mutation in the alpha-synuclein gene identified in families with Parkinson's disease. *Science*, 276, 2045-7.
- PONT-SUNYER, C., TOLOSA, E., CASPELL-GARCIA, C., COFFEY, C., ALCALAY, R. N., CHAN, P., DUDA, J. E., FACHERIS, M., FERNANDEZ-SANTIAGO, R., MAREK, K., LOMENA, F., MARRAS, C., MONDRAGON, E., SAUNDERS-PULLMAN, R., WARO, B. & CONSORTIUM, L. C. 2017. The prodromal phase of leucine-rich repeat kinase 2-associated Parkinson disease: Clinical and imaging Studies. *Mov Disord*, 32, 726-738.
- POSTUMA, R. B., BERG, D., STERN, M., POEWE, W., OLANOW, C. W., OERTEL, W., OBESO, J., MAREK, K., LITVAN, I., LANG, A. E., HALLIDAY, G., GOETZ, C. G., GASSER, T., DUBOIS, B., CHAN, P., BLOEM, B. R., ADLER, C. H. & DEUSCHL, G. 2015. MDS clinical diagnostic criteria for Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord*, 30, 1591-601.
- QUADRI, M., FANG, M., PICILLO, M., OLGIATI, S., BREEDVELD, G. J., GRAAFLAND, J., WU, B., XU, F., ERRO, R., AMBONI, M., PAPPATA, S., QUARANTELLI, M., ANNESI, G., QUATTRONE, A., CHIEN, H. F., BARBOSA, E. R., INTERNATIONAL PARKINSONISM GENETICS, N., OOSTRA, B. A., BARONE, P., WANG, J. & BONIFATI, V. 2013. Mutation in the SYNJ1 gene associated with autosomal recessive, early-onset Parkinsonism. *Hum Mutat*, 34, 1208-15.
- QUIK, M., PEREZ, X. A. & BORDIA, T. 2012. Nicotine as a potential neuroprotective agent for Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord*, 27, 947-57.
- RAJPUT, A., ROSS, J. P., BERNALES, C. Q., RAYAPROLU, S., SOTO-ORTOLAZA, A. I., ROSS, O. A., VAN GERPEN, J., UITTI, R. J., WSZOLEK, Z. K., RAJPUT, A. H. & VILARINO-GUELL, C. 2015. VPS35 and DNAJC13 disease-causing variants in essential tremor. *Eur J Hum Genet*, 23, 887-8.
- RAJPUT, A. H., ROZDILSKY, B. & RAJPUT, A. 1991. Accuracy of clinical diagnosis in parkinsonism--a prospective study. *Can J Neurol Sci*, 18, 275-8.

- RAMIREZ, A., HEIMBACH, A., GRUNDEMANN, J., STILLER, B., HAMPSHIRE, D., CID, L. P., GOEBEL, I., MUBAIDIN, A. F., WRIEKAT, A. L., ROEPER, J., AL-DIN, A., HILLMER, A. M., KARSAK, M., LISS, B., WOODS, C. G., BEHRENS, M. I. & KUBISCH, C. 2006. Hereditary parkinsonism with dementia is caused by mutations in ATP13A2, encoding a lysosomal type 5 P-type ATPase. *Nat Genet*, 38, 1184-91.
- RIESS, O., RUB, U., PASTORE, A., BAUER, P. & SCHOLS, L. 2008. SCA3: neurological features, pathogenesis and animal models. *Cerebellum*, **7**, 125-37.
- RITZ, B. R., MANTHRIPRAGADA, A. D., COSTELLO, S., LINCOLN, S. J., FARRER, M. J., COCKBURN, M. & BRONSTEIN, J. 2009. Dopamine transporter genetic variants and pesticides in Parkinson's disease. *Environ Health Perspect*, 117, 964-9.
- RODRIGUES E SILVA, A. M., GELDSETZER, F., HOLDORFF, B., KIELHORN, F. W., BALZER-GELDSETZER, M., OERTEL, W. H., HURTIG, H. & DODEL, R. 2010. Who was the man who discovered the "Lewy bodies"? *Mov Disord*, 25, 1765-73.
- ROSS, O. A., RUTHERFORD, N. J., BAKER, M., SOTO-ORTOLAZA, A. I., CARRASQUILLO, M. M., DEJESUS-HERNANDEZ, M., ADAMSON, J., LI, M., VOLKENING, K., FINGER, E., SEELEY, W. W., HATANPAA, K. J., LOMEN-HOERTH, C., KERTESZ, A., BIGIO, E. H., LIPPA, C., WOODRUFF, B. K., KNOPMAN, D. S., WHITE, C. L., 3RD, VAN GERPEN, J. A., MESCHIA, J. F., MACKENZIE, I. R., BOYLAN, K., BOEVE, B. F., MILLER, B. L., STRONG, M. J., UITTI, R. J., YOUNKIN, S. G., GRAFF-RADFORD, N. R., PETERSEN, R. C., WSZOLEK, Z. K., DICKSON, D. W. & RADEMAKERS, R. 2011. Ataxin-2 repeat-length variation and neurodegeneration. *Hum Mol Genet*, 20, 3207-12.
- ROSS, O. A., WU, Y. R., LEE, M. C., FUNAYAMA, M., CHEN, M. L., SOTO, A. I., MATA, I. F., LEE-CHEN, G. J., CHEN, C. M., TANG, M., ZHAO, Y., HATTORI, N., FARRER, M. J., TAN, E. K. & WU, R. M. 2008. Analysis of Lrrk2 R1628P as a risk factor for Parkinson's disease. *Ann Neurol*, 64, 88-92.
- SAILER, A., SCHOLZ, S. W., NALLS, M. A., SCHULTE, C., FEDEROFF, M., PRICE, T. R., LEES, A., ROSS, O. A., DICKSON, D. W., MOK, K., MENCACCI, N. E., SCHOTTLAENDER, L., CHELBAN, V., LING, H., O'SULLIVAN, S. S., WOOD, N. W., TRAYNOR, B. J., FERRUCCI, L., FEDEROFF, H. J., MHYRE, T. R., MORRIS, H. R., DEUSCHL, G., QUINN, N., WIDNER, H., ALBANESE, A., INFANTE, J., BHATIA, K. P., POEWE, W., OERTEL, W., HOGLINGER, G. U., WULLNER, U., GOLDWURM, S., PELLECCHIA, M. T., FERREIRA, J., TOLOSA, E., BLOEM, B. R., RASCOL, O., MEISSNER, W. G., HARDY, J. A., REVESZ, T., HOLTON, J. L., GASSER, T., WENNING, G. K., SINGLETON, A. B., HOULDEN, H., EUROPEAN MULTIPLE SYSTEM ATROPHY STUDY, G. & THE, U. K. M. S. A. S. G. 2016. A genome-wide association study in multiple system atrophy. *Neurology*, 87, 1591-1598.
- SCHAPIRA, A. H. 2004. Excessive daytime sleepiness in Parkinson's disease. *Neurology*, 63, S24-7.
- SCHAPIRA, A. H. 2015. Glucocerebrosidase and Parkinson disease: Recent advances. *Mol Cell Neurosci*, 66, 37-42.
- SCHÖLS, L., BAUER, P., SCHMIDT, T., SCHULTE, T. & RIESS, O. 2004. Autosomal dominant cerebellar ataxias: clinical features, genetics, and pathogenesis. *The Lancet Neurology*, **3**, 291-304.
- SCHRAG, A., JAHANSHAHI, M. & QUINN, N. 2000. What contributes to quality of life in patients with Parkinson's disease? *Journal of Neurology Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 69, 308-312.
- SCHULTE, C. & GASSER, T. 2011. Genetic basis of Parkinson's disease: inheritance, penetrance, and expression. *Appl Clin Genet*, 4, 67-80.

- SHARRAD, D. F., CHEN, B. N. & BROOKES, S. J. 2013. Neurochemical coding compared between varicose axons and cell bodies of myenteric neurons in the guinea-pig ileum. *Neurosci Lett*, 534, 171-6.
- SHIMURA, H., HATTORI, N., KUBO, S., MIZUNO, Y., ASAKAWA, S., MINOSHIMA, S., SHIMIZU, N., IWAI, K., CHIBA, T., TANAKA, K. & SUZUKI, T. 2000. Familial Parkinson disease gene product, parkin, is a ubiquitin-protein ligase. *Nat Genet*, 25, 302-5.
- SHULMAN, J. M., DE JAGER, P. L. & FEANY, M. B. 2011. Parkinson's disease: genetics and pathogenesis. *Annu Rev Pathol*, 6, 193-222.
- SIDRANSKY, E., NALLS, M. A., AASLY, J. O., AHARON-PERETZ, J., ANNESI, G., BARBOSA, E. R., BAR-SHIRA, A., BERG, D., BRAS, J., BRICE, A., CHEN, C. M., CLARK, L. N., CONDROYER, C., DE MARCO, E. V., DURR, A., EBLAN, M. J., FAHN, S., FARRER, M. J., FUNG, H. C., GAN-OR, Z., GASSER, T., GERSHONI-BARUCH, R., GILADI, N., GRIFFITH, A., GUREVICH, T., JANUARIO, C., KROPP, P., LANG, A. E., LEE-CHEN, G. J., LESAGE, S., MARDER, K., MATA, I. F., MIRELMAN, A., MITSUI, J., MIZUTA, I., NICOLETTI, G., OLIVEIRA, C., OTTMAN, R., ORR-URTREGER, A., PEREIRA, L. V., QUATTRONE, A., ROGAEVA, E., ROLFS, A., ROSENBAUM, H., ROZENBERG, R., SAMII, A., SAMADDAR, T., SCHULTE, C., SHARMA, M., SINGLETON, A., SPITZ, M., TAN, E. K., TAYEBI, N., TODA, T., TROIANO, A. R., TSUJI, S., WITTSTOCK, M., WOLFSBERG, T. G., WU, Y. R., ZABETIAN, C. P., ZHAO, Y. & ZIEGLER, S. G. 2009. Multicenter analysis of glucocerebrosidase mutations in Parkinson's disease. N Engl J Med, 361, 1651-61.
- SIMON-SANCHEZ, J., HANSON, M., SINGLETON, A., HERNANDEZ, D., MCINERNEY, A., NUSSBAUM, R., WERNER, J., GALLARDO, M., WEISER, R., GWINN-HARDY, K., SINGLETON, A. B. & CLARIMON, J. 2005. Analysis of SCA-2 and SCA-3 repeats in Parkinsonism: evidence of SCA-2 expansion in a family with autosomal dominant Parkinson's disease. *Neurosci Lett*, 382, 191-4.
- SIMON-SANCHEZ, J., SCHULTE, C., BRAS, J. M., SHARMA, M., GIBBS, J. R., BERG, D., PAISAN-RUIZ, C., LICHTNER, P., SCHOLZ, S. W., HERNANDEZ, D. G., KRUGER, R., FEDEROFF, M., KLEIN, C., GOATE, A., PERLMUTTER, J., BONIN, M., NALLS, M. A., ILLIG, T., GIEGER, C., HOULDEN, H., STEFFENS, M., OKUN, M. S., RACETTE, B. A., COOKSON, M. R., FOOTE, K. D., FERNANDEZ, H. H., TRAYNOR, B. J., SCHREIBER, S., AREPALLI, S., ZONOZI, R., GWINN, K., VAN DER BRUG, M., LOPEZ, G., CHANOCK, S. J., SCHATZKIN, A., PARK, Y., HOLLENBECK, A., GAO, J., HUANG, X., WOOD, N. W., LORENZ, D., DEUSCHL, G., CHEN, H., RIESS, O., HARDY, J. A., SINGLETON, A. B. & GASSER, T. 2009. Genome-wide association study reveals genetic risk underlying Parkinson's disease. *Nat Genet*, 41, 1308-12.
- SIMON, K. C., EBERLY, S., GAO, X., OAKES, D., TANNER, C. M., SHOULSON, I., FAHN, S., SCHWARZSCHILD, M. A., ASCHERIO, A. & PARKINSON STUDY, G. 2014. Mendelian randomization of serum urate and parkinson disease progression. *Ann Neurol*, 76, 862-8.
- SINGARAM, C., ASHRAF, W., GAUMNITZ, E. A., TORBEY, C., SENGUPTA, A., PFEIFFER, R. & QUIGLEY, E. M. 1995. Dopaminergic defect of enteric nervous system in Parkinson's disease patients with chronic constipation. *Lancet*, 346, 861-4.
- SINGH, B., NIKOOPOUR, E., HUSZARIK, K., ELLIOTT, J. F. & JEVNIKAR, A. M. 2011. Immunomodulation and regeneration of islet Beta cells by cytokines in autoimmune type 1 diabetes. *J Interferon Cytokine Res*, 31, 711-9.
- SINGLETON, A. B., FARRER, M., JOHNSON, J., SINGLETON, A., HAGUE, S., KACHERGUS, J., HULIHAN, M., PEURALINNA, T., DUTRA, A., NUSSBAUM, R., LINCOLN, S., CRAWLEY,

A., HANSON, M., MARAGANORE, D., ADLER, C., COOKSON, M. R., MUENTER, M., BAPTISTA, M., MILLER, D., BLANCATO, J., HARDY, J. & GWINN-HARDY, K. 2003. alpha-Synuclein locus triplication causes Parkinson's disease. *Science*, 302, 841.

- SMITH, W. W., JIANG, H., PEI, Z., TANAKA, Y., MORITA, H., SAWA, A., DAWSON, V. L., DAWSON, T. M. & ROSS, C. A. 2005. Endoplasmic reticulum stress and mitochondrial cell death pathways mediate A53T mutant alpha-synuclein-induced toxicity. *Hum Mol Genet*, 14, 3801-11.
- SMITH, W. W., PEI, Z., JIANG, H., DAWSON, V. L., DAWSON, T. M. & ROSS, C. A. 2006. Kinase activity of mutant LRRK2 mediates neuronal toxicity. *Nat Neurosci*, 9, 1231-3.
- SOLDNER, F., STELZER, Y., SHIVALILA, C. S., ABRAHAM, B. J., LATOURELLE, J. C., BARRASA, M. I., GOLDMANN, J., MYERS, R. H., YOUNG, R. A. & JAENISCH, R. 2016. Parkinsonassociated risk variant in distal enhancer of alpha-synuclein modulates target gene expression. *Nature*, 533, 95-9.
- SOTO-ORTOLAZA, A. I. & ROSS, O. A. 2016. Genetic susceptibility variants in parkinsonism. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*, 22 Suppl 1, S7-S11.
- SUN, M., LATOURELLE, J. C., WOOTEN, G. F., LEW, M. F., KLEIN, C., SHILL, H. A., GOLBE, L. I., MARK, M. H., RACETTE, B. A., PERLMUTTER, J. S., PARSIAN, A., GUTTMAN, M., NICHOLSON, G., XU, G., WILK, J. B., SAINT-HILAIRE, M. H., DESTEFANO, A. L., PRAKASH, R., WILLIAMSON, S., SUCHOWERSKY, O., LABELLE, N., GROWDON, J. H., SINGER, C., WATTS, R. L., GOLDWURM, S., PEZZOLI, G., BAKER, K. B., PRAMSTALLER, P. P., BURN, D. J., CHINNERY, P. F., SHERMAN, S., VIEREGGE, P., LITVAN, I., GILLIS, T., MACDONALD, M. E., MYERS, R. H. & GUSELLA, J. F. 2006. Influence of heterozygosity for parkin mutation on onset age in familial Parkinson disease: the GenePD study. *Arch Neurol*, 63, 826-32.
- SURENDRANATHAN, A., ROWE, J. B. & O'BRIEN, J. T. 2015. Neuroinflammation in Lewy body dementia. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*, 21, 1398-406.
- TAKAHASHI-NIKI, K., NIKI, T., TAIRA, T., IGUCHI-ARIGA, S. M. & ARIGA, H. 2004. Reduced anti-oxidative stress activities of DJ-1 mutants found in Parkinson's disease patients. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 320, 389-97.
- TAN, E. K., ZHAO, Y., SKIPPER, L., TAN, M. G., DI FONZO, A., SUN, L., FOOK-CHONG, S., TANG,
 S., CHUA, E., YUEN, Y., TAN, L., PAVANNI, R., WONG, M. C., KOLATKAR, P., LU, C. S.,
 BONIFATI, V. & LIU, J. J. 2007. The LRRK2 Gly2385Arg variant is associated with
 Parkinson's disease: genetic and functional evidence. *Hum Genet*, 120, 857-63.
- TANG, F. L., ERION, J. R., TIAN, Y., LIU, W., YIN, D. M., YE, J., TANG, B., MEI, L. & XIONG, W. C. 2015a. VPS35 in Dopamine Neurons Is Required for Endosome-to-Golgi Retrieval of Lamp2a, a Receptor of Chaperone-Mediated Autophagy That Is Critical for alpha-Synuclein Degradation and Prevention of Pathogenesis of Parkinson's Disease. J Neurosci, 35, 10613-28.
- TANG, F. L., LIU, W., HU, J. X., ERION, J. R., YE, J., MEI, L. & XIONG, W. C. 2015b. VPS35 Deficiency or Mutation Causes Dopaminergic Neuronal Loss by Impairing Mitochondrial Fusion and Function. *Cell Rep*, 12, 1631-43.
- TANSEY, M. G., MCCOY, M. K. & FRANK-CANNON, T. C. 2007. Neuroinflammatory mechanisms in Parkinson's disease: potential environmental triggers, pathways, and targets for early therapeutic intervention. *Exp Neurol*, 208, 1-25.
- TIAN, Y., TANG, F. L., SUN, X., WEN, L., MEI, L., TANG, B. S. & XIONG, W. C. 2015. VPS35deficiency results in an impaired AMPA receptor trafficking and decreased dendritic spine maturation. *Mol Brain*, 8, 70.

TITOVA, N., PADMAKUMAR, C., LEWIS, S. J. G. & CHAUDHURI, K. R. 2017a. Parkinson's: a syndrome rather than a disease? *J Neural Transm (Vienna)*, 124, 907-914.

- TITOVA, N., QAMAR, M. A. & CHAUDHURI, K. R. 2017b. The Nonmotor Features of Parkinson's Disease. *Int Rev Neurobiol*, 132, 33-54.
- TSUANG, D., LEVERENZ, J. B., LOPEZ, O. L., HAMILTON, R. L., BENNETT, D. A., SCHNEIDER, J. A., BUCHMAN, A. S., LARSON, E. B., CRANE, P. K., KAYE, J. A., KRAMER, P., WOLTJER, R., KUKULL, W., NELSON, P. T., JICHA, G. A., NELTNER, J. H., GALASKO, D., MASLIAH, E., TROJANOWSKI, J. Q., SCHELLENBERG, G. D., YEAROUT, D., HUSTON, H., FRITTS-PENNIMAN, A., MATA, I. F., WAN, J. Y., EDWARDS, K. L., MONTINE, T. J. & ZABETIAN, C. P. 2012. GBA mutations increase risk for Lewy body disease with and without Alzheimer disease pathology. *Neurology*, 79, 1944-50.
- VALENTE, E. M., ABOU-SLEIMAN, P. M., CAPUTO, V., MUQIT, M. M., HARVEY, K., GISPERT, S., ALI, Z., DEL TURCO, D., BENTIVOGLIO, A. R., HEALY, D. G., ALBANESE, A., NUSSBAUM, R., GONZALEZ-MALDONADO, R., DELLER, T., SALVI, S., CORTELLI, P., GILKS, W. P., LATCHMAN, D. S., HARVEY, R. J., DALLAPICCOLA, B., AUBURGER, G. & WOOD, N. W. 2004. Hereditary early-onset Parkinson's disease caused by mutations in PINK1. *Science*, 304, 1158-60.
- VALENTE, E. M., BENTIVOGLIO, A. R., DIXON, P. H., FERRARIS, A., IALONGO, T., FRONTALI,
 M., ALBANESE, A. & WOOD, N. W. 2001. Localization of a novel locus for autosomal recessive early-onset parkinsonism, PARK6, on human chromosome 1p35-p36. *Am J Hum Genet*, 68, 895-900.
- VAN DER ZEE, J., RADEMAKERS, R., ENGELBORGHS, S., GIJSELINCK, I., BOGAERTS, V.,
 VANDENBERGHE, R., SANTENS, P., CAEKEBEKE, J., DE POOTER, T., PEETERS, K.,
 LUBKE, U., VAN DEN BROECK, M., MARTIN, J. J., CRUTS, M., DE DEYN, P. P., VAN
 BROECKHOVEN, C. & DERMAUT, B. 2006. A Belgian ancestral haplotype harbours a
 highly prevalent mutation for 17q21-linked tau-negative FTLD. *Brain*, 129, 841-52.
- VAN DUIJN, C. M., DEKKER, M. C., BONIFATI, V., GALJAARD, R. J., HOUWING-DUISTERMAAT, J. J., SNIJDERS, P. J., TESTERS, L., BREEDVELD, G. J., HORSTINK, M., SANDKUIJL, L. A., VAN SWIETEN, J. C., OOSTRA, B. A. & HEUTINK, P. 2001. Park7, a novel locus for autosomal recessive early-onset parkinsonism, on chromosome 1p36. *Am J Hum Genet*, 69, 629-34.
- VILARINO-GUELL, C., RAJPUT, A., MILNERWOOD, A. J., SHAH, B., SZU-TU, C., TRINH, J., YU, I., ENCARNACION, M., MUNSIE, L. N., TAPIA, L., GUSTAVSSON, E. K., CHOU, P., TATARNIKOV, I., EVANS, D. M., PISHOTTA, F. T., VOLTA, M., BECCANO-KELLY, D., THOMPSON, C., LIN, M. K., SHERMAN, H. E., HAN, H. J., GUENTHER, B. L., WASSERMAN, W. W., BERNARD, V., ROSS, C. J., APPEL-CRESSWELL, S., STOESSL, A. J., ROBINSON, C. A., DICKSON, D. W., ROSS, O. A., WSZOLEK, Z. K., AASLY, J. O., WU, R. M., HENTATI, F., GIBSON, R. A., MCPHERSON, P. S., GIRARD, M., RAJPUT, M., RAJPUT, A. H. & FARRER, M. J. 2014. DNAJC13 mutations in Parkinson disease. *Hum Mol Genet*, 23, 1794-801.
- VILARINO-GUELL, C., WIDER, C., ROSS, O. A., DACHSEL, J. C., KACHERGUS, J. M., LINCOLN, S. J., SOTO-ORTOLAZA, A. I., COBB, S. A., WILHOITE, G. J., BACON, J. A., BEHROUZ, B., MELROSE, H. L., HENTATI, E., PUSCHMANN, A., EVANS, D. M., CONIBEAR, E., WASSERMAN, W. W., AASLY, J. O., BURKHARD, P. R., DJALDETTI, R., GHIKA, J., HENTATI, F., KRYGOWSKA-WAJS, A., LYNCH, T., MELAMED, E., RAJPUT, A., RAJPUT, A. H., SOLIDA, A., WU, R. M., UITTI, R. J., WSZOLEK, Z. K., VINGERHOETS, F. & FARRER, M. J. 2011. VPS35 mutations in Parkinson disease. *Am J Hum Genet*, 89, 162-7.

VINGERHOETS, F. J., SCHULZER, M., CALNE, D. B. & SNOW, B. J. 1997. Which clinical sign of Parkinson's disease best reflects the nigrostriatal lesion? *Ann Neurol*, 41, 58-64.

- VORONOV, S. V., FRERE, S. G., GIOVEDI, S., POLLINA, E. A., BOREL, C., ZHANG, H., SCHMIDT, C., AKESON, E. C., WENK, M. R., CIMASONI, L., ARANCIO, O., DAVISSON, M. T., ANTONARAKIS, S. E., GARDINER, K., DE CAMILLI, P. & DI PAOLO, G. 2008.
 Synaptojanin 1-linked phosphoinositide dyshomeostasis and cognitive deficits in mouse models of Down's syndrome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105, 9415-20.
- WANG, J. L., XIAO, B., CUI, X. X., GUO, J. F., LEI, L. F., SONG, X. W., SHEN, L., JIANG, H., YAN, X. X., PAN, Q., LONG, Z. G., XIA, K. & TANG, B. S. 2009. Analysis of SCA2 and SCA3/MJD repeats in Parkinson's disease in mainland China: genetic, clinical, and positron emission tomography findings. *Mov Disord*, 24, 2007-11.
- WEBBER, P. J. & WEST, A. B. 2009. LRRK2 in Parkinson's disease: function in cells and neurodegeneration. *FEBS J*, 276, 6436-44.
- WIRDEFELDT, K., ADAMI, H. O., COLE, P., TRICHOPOULOS, D. & MANDEL, J. 2011a. Epidemiology and etiology of Parkinson's disease: a review of the evidence. *Eur J Epidemiol,* 26 Suppl 1, S1-58.
- WIRDEFELDT, K., GATZ, M., REYNOLDS, C. A., PRESCOTT, C. A. & PEDERSEN, N. L. 2011b. Heritability of Parkinson disease in Swedish twins: a longitudinal study. *Neurobiol Aging*, 32, 1923 e1-8.
- WISSEMANN, W. T., HILL-BURNS, E. M., ZABETIAN, C. P., FACTOR, S. A., PATSOPOULOS, N., HOGLUND, B., HOLCOMB, C., DONAHUE, R. J., THOMSON, G., ERLICH, H. & PAYAMI, H. 2013. Association of Parkinson disease with structural and regulatory variants in the HLA region. *Am J Hum Genet*, 93, 984-93.
- WITJAS, T., KAPHAN, E., AZULAY, J. P., BLIN, O., CECCALDI, M., POUGET, J., PONCET, M. & CHERIF, A. A. 2002. Nonmotor fluctuations in Parkinson's disease Frequent and disabling. *Neurology*, 59, 408-413.
- WITOELAR, A., JANSEN, I. E., WANG, Y., DESIKAN, R. S., GIBBS, J. R., BLAUWENDRAAT, C., THOMPSON, W. K., HERNANDEZ, D. G., DJUROVIC, S., SCHORK, A. J., BETTELLA, F., ELLINGHAUS, D., FRANKE, A., LIE, B. A., MCEVOY, L. K., KARLSEN, T. H., LESAGE, S., MORRIS, H. R., BRICE, A., WOOD, N. W., HEUTINK, P., HARDY, J., SINGLETON, A. B., DALE, A. M., GASSER, T., ANDREASSEN, O. A., SHARMA, M., INTERNATIONAL PARKINSON'S DISEASE GENOMICS CONSORTIUM, N. A. B. E. C. & UNITED KINGDOM BRAIN EXPRESSION CONSORTIUM, I. 2017. Genome-wide Pleiotropy Between Parkinson Disease and Autoimmune Diseases. JAMA Neurol, 74, 780-792.
- XU, Q., LI, K., SUN, Q., DING, D., ZHAO, Y., YANG, N., LUO, Y., LIU, Z., ZHANG, Y., WANG, C., XIA, K., YAN, X., JIANG, H., SHEN, L., TANG, B. & GUO, J. 2017. Rare GCH1 heterozygous variants contributing to Parkinson's disease. *Brain*, 140, e41.
- YAMADA-FOWLER, N. & SODERKVIST, P. 2015. Coffee, Genetic Variants, and Parkinson's Disease: Gene-Environment Interactions. *J Caffeine Res*, 5, 3-10.
- YAN, W., TANG, B., ZHOU, X., LEI, L., LI, K., SUN, Q., XU, Q., YAN, X., GUO, J. & LIU, Z. 2017. TMEM230 mutation analysis in Parkinson's disease in a Chinese population. *Neurobiol Aging*, 49, 219 e1-219 e3.
- YAP, T. L., VELAYATI, A., SIDRANSKY, E. & LEE, J. C. 2013. Membrane-bound alpha-synuclein interacts with glucocerebrosidase and inhibits enzyme activity. *Mol Genet Metab*, 108, 56-64.
- YOKOYAMA, J. S., WANG, Y., SCHORK, A. J., THOMPSON, W. K., KARCH, C. M., CRUCHAGA, C., MCEVOY, L. K., WITOELAR, A., CHEN, C. H., HOLLAND, D., BREWER, J. B., FRANKE,

A., DILLON, W. P., WILSON, D. M., MUKHERJEE, P., HESS, C. P., MILLER, Z., BONHAM, L. W., SHEN, J., RABINOVICI, G. D., ROSEN, H. J., MILLER, B. L., HYMAN, B. T., SCHELLENBERG, G. D., KARLSEN, T. H., ANDREASSEN, O. A., DALE, A. M., DESIKAN, R. S. & ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE NEUROIMAGING, I. 2016. Association Between Genetic Traits for Immune-Mediated Diseases and Alzheimer Disease. *JAMA Neurol*, 73, 691-7.

- ZARRANZ, J. J., ALEGRE, J., GOMEZ-ESTEBAN, J. C., LEZCANO, E., ROS, R., AMPUERO, I.,
 VIDAL, L., HOENICKA, J., RODRIGUEZ, O., ATARES, B., LLORENS, V., GOMEZ TORTOSA,
 E., DEL SER, T., MUNOZ, D. G. & DE YEBENES, J. G. 2004. The new mutation, E46K, of
 alpha-synuclein causes Parkinson and Lewy body dementia. *Ann Neurol*, 55, 164-73.
- ZECCA, L., STROPPOLO, A., GATTI, A., TAMPELLINI, D., TOSCANI, M., GALLORINI, M., GIAVERI, G., AROSIO, P., SANTAMBROGIO, P., FARIELLO, R. G., KARATEKIN, E., KLEINMAN, M. H., TURRO, N., HORNYKIEWICZ, O. & ZUCCA, F. A. 2004a. The role of iron and copper molecules in the neuronal vulnerability of locus coeruleus and substantia nigra during aging. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 101, 9843-8.
- ZECCA, L., YOUDIM, M. B., RIEDERER, P., CONNOR, J. R. & CRICHTON, R. R. 2004b. Iron, brain ageing and neurodegenerative disorders. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 5, 863-73.
- ZHOU, Z. D., XIE, S. P., SATHIYAMOORTHY, S., SAW, W. T., SING, T. Y., NG, S. H., CHUA, H. P., TANG, A. M., SHAFFRA, F., LI, Z., WANG, H., HO, P. G., LAI, M. K., ANGELES, D. C., LIM, T. M. & TAN, E. K. 2015. F-box protein 7 mutations promote protein aggregation in mitochondria and inhibit mitophagy. *Hum Mol Genet*, 24, 6314-30.

ZIMPRICH, A., BENET-PAGES, A., STRUHAL, W., GRAF, E., ECK, S. H., OFFMAN, M. N., HAUBENBERGER, D., SPIELBERGER, S., SCHULTE, E. C., LICHTNER, P., ROSSLE, S. C., KLOPP, N., WOLF, E., SEPPI, K., PIRKER, W., PRESSLAUER, S., MOLLENHAUER, B., KATZENSCHLAGER, R., FOKI, T., HOTZY, C., REINTHALER, E., HARUTYUNYAN, A., KRALOVICS, R., PETERS, A., ZIMPRICH, F., BRUCKE, T., POEWE, W., AUFF, E., TRENKWALDER, C., ROST, B., RANSMAYR, G., WINKELMANN, J., MEITINGER, T. & STROM, T. M. 2011. A mutation in VPS35, encoding a subunit of the retromer complex, causes late-onset Parkinson disease. *Am J Hum Genet*, 89, 168-75.

ZIMPRICH, A., BISKUP, S., LEITNER, P., LICHTNER, P., FARRER, M., LINCOLN, S., KACHERGUS, J., HULIHAN, M., UITTI, R. J., CALNE, D. B., STOESSL, A. J., PFEIFFER, R. F., PATENGE, N., CARBAJAL, I. C., VIEREGGE, P., ASMUS, F., MULLER-MYHSOK, B., DICKSON, D. W., MEITINGER, T., STROM, T. M., WSZOLEK, Z. K. & GASSER, T. 2004. Mutations in LRRK2 cause autosomal-dominant parkinsonism with pleomorphic pathology. *Neuron*, 44, 601-7.

Chapter 6 German Summary

Parkinson-Krankheit ist die zweithäufigste neurodegenerative Krankheit in der Welt, wobei die Krankheitslastmit steigender Weltbevölkerung nur steigen wird. Die Entdeckung neuer genetischer Risikofaktoren durch eine Reihe von Methoden im Laufe der Jahre, hat zu einer langen Liste von genetischen Varianten geführt, die das PD-Risiko beeinflussen. Unser Verständnis der genetischen Varianten und der Mechanismen, durch die sie das PD-Risiko beeinflussen, lässt jedoch noch viel Raum für zukünftige Entdeckungen. Die Unvollständigkeit der Vererbungsmuster und die begrenzte Fähigkeit (bis zu 10%) der genetischen Varianten, PD-Fälle zu erklären, deuten auf komplexe und multifaktorielle Ursachen für PD hin. Daher versucht diese Arbeit einige der offenen Fragen zu beantworten.

Der erste Teil der Arbeit befasst sich mit dem ätiologischen Faktor der Proteinaggregation durch die Frage der Kreuz-Krankheit-Wirkung von Ataxie-Genen auf PD-Risiko. In einer groß angelegten Konsortium Studie fanden wir keinen Anstieg des PD-Risikos in Bezug auf die Existenz von repetitiven Zwischenexpansionen in SCA2, 3, 6 und 17, und somit keinen Hinweis darauf, dass der beobachtete familiäre Affekt sich auf die sporadische Parkinson-Krankheit ableiten lässt. Der zweite Teil der Arbeit behandelt das Thema Aggregation, nähert sich aber von seiten der Transportpfade. Angesichts der bekannten funktionellen Interaktion zwischen zwei Genen im Retromer-Signalweg untersuchen wir auch eine mögliche genetische Interaktion zwischen den beiden zuvor identifizierten Risiko-modulierenden Loci, PARK16 und LRRK2. In einer großen multizentrischen Studie fanden wir keine schlüssigen Beweise für eine starke genetische Interaktion zwischen den beiden Loci. Unsere Ergebnisse deuten jedoch darauf hin, dass aufgrund unserer positiven Trends in Subgruppen unserer Population weitere Untersuchungen mit größeren Stichproben erforderlich sind.

Immunantwort und mitochondriale Dysfunktion bestimmen den dritten Teil der These; Wir untersuchen die Unterschiede in den klinischen Ergebnissen zwischen Typ-1-Diabetikern mit PD und neurologisch normalen Patienten. Jüngste Studien haben geteilte Stoffwechselwege und

116

übereinstimmende Pathologien zwischen beiden Krankheiten, die auf eine gemeinsame Autoimmunfunktionsstörung zurückzuführen sind, gezeigt und gleichtzeitg HLA als Risiko-Loci für beide Erkrankungen entdeckt. Aufgrund der Vernetzung der beiden Erkrankungen war es uns wichtig, auch die klinische Pathogenese von PD-Patienten innerhalb einer typ 1 Diabetes Population zu untersuchen. Wir fanden mehrere signifikante Unterschiede bei T1D-Patienten mit und ohne PD, hauptsächlich Nierenversagen, Schlaganfall und Krankenhauseinweisungen, was auf eine Korrelation zwischen PD und bestimmten diabetischen Ergebnissen hindeutet.

Chapter 7 Declaration of contribution of others

The dissertation work was carried out at the Institute of Clinical Epidemiology and Medical Biometry, as a part of the Genetic Epidemiology group led by Dr. Manu Sharma, under the joint supervision of Dr. Sharma and Professor Dr. Martus.

The studies were designed in collaboration with Dr. Sharma. Data was contributed through the GEOPD consortium from member sites for the PolyQ and LRRK2/PARK16 interaction study. The individual sites collected and sequenced patient level case-control data. I planned, programmed, and carried out the statistical analysis of the two projects myself, with support from Manu Sharma, and Michael Heckman in the LRRK2/PARK16 study.

The DPV registry supplied the diabetes patient-level data. I co-wrote the manuscript with Nicole Prinz, co-first author of the study.

I confirm that I wrote the cumulative thesis myself under the supervision of Dr. Sharma and Professor Dr. Martus and that any additional sources have been cited.

Signed ______

On the 16th of January 2018 in Tuebingen

Index of Abbreviations, Tables, Figures

List of Abbreviations 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetra hydropyridine (MPTP) 1-methyl-4-phenyl pyridnium (MPP⁺) alpha-synuclein (SNCA) alpha-synucleinopathies (AS) Alzheimer's disease (AD) Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (AML) corticobasal degeneration (CBD) Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4-gammon (EIF4G1) F-box only protein 7 (FBXO7) Frontotemporal dementia-17 (FTD-17) Glucocerebrosidase (GBA) Genome wide association studies (GWAS) GTP cyclohydrolase (GCH1) Guanosine triphosphatase (GTPase) Human leukocyte antigen (HLA) Leucine-rich repeat kinase 2 (LRRK2) MAPT (microtubule-associated protein tau) Minor allele frequency (MAF) Multiple system atrophy (MSA N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDA) Parkinson's disease (PD) Pick's disease (PiD) Progressive surpranuclear palsy (PSP) PTEN-induced kinase 1 (PINK1) Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) Substantia nigra pars compacta (SNPc) Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus (T1DM) Vacuolar protein sorting 35 (VPS35) Whole-exome sequencing (WES) Whole-genome sequencing (WGS)

Tables

Table 1: Characteristic of sites and overall database. Table 1 from Wang et al, Neurology 2015
Table 2: Overall analysis irrespective of ethnicity and influence of between-study heterogeneity. Table 2 fromWang et al, Neurology 201536
Table 3: Distribution of allele frequency of SCA loci. Table e1-a from Wang et al, Neurology, 2015 44
Table 4: Overall effect estimates of SCA loci in Asian and Caucasian population. Table e2-b from Wang et al,Neurology, 2015
Table 5: Overall summary estimates for SCA2 stratified by ethnicity using repeat length cut-off of 25. Table e2-c from Wang et al, Neurology, 201544
Table 6: Descriptive statistics of individual sites. Supplementary Table 1 from Wang et al, Neurobiology ofAging
Table 7: Associations and Minor Allele Frequency (MAF) of individual <i>LRRK2</i> and <i>PARK16</i> variants with risk of PD in Caucasian and Asian Series. Supplementary Table 2 from Wang et al, Neurobiology of Aging
Table 8: Evaluation of interactions of LRRK2 rs1491942 and PARK16 variants with regard to susceptibility toParkinson's disease in the Combined Series. Supplementary Table 3 from Wang et al, Neurobiology of Aging
Table 9: Evaluation of interactions of <i>LRRK2</i> rs1491942 and <i>PARK16</i> variants with regard to susceptibility to Parkinson's disease in the Caucasian Series. Supplementary Table 4 from Wang et al, Neurobiology of Aging. 61
Table 10: Evaluation of interactions of <i>LRRK2</i> rs1491942 and <i>PARK16</i> variants with regard to susceptibility to Parkinson's disease in the Asian Series. Supplementary Table 5 from Wang et al, Neurobiology of Aging
Table 11: Stratified Analysis of Effect of LRRK2 rs1491942 on Carriers and Non-carriers of PARK16 rs11240572Minor Allele. Supplementary Table 6 from Wang et al, Neurobiology of Aging
Table 12: Evaluation of interactions of LRRK2 rs7133914 and PARK16 variants with regard to susceptibility to Parkinson's disease in the Caucasian Series. Supplementary Table 7 from Wang et al, Neurobiology of Aging
Table 13: Characteristics of study population, Median with interquartile range or proportion
Table 14: Diabetes therapy and outcome compared between type 1 diabetes with or without PD
Table 15: Age-stratified analysis for T1D with or without PD
Table 15: Post-hoc Leave-one-out analysis, Site column indicates dataset that was withheld

Figures

Figure 1: Forest plot of effect sizes of SCA2, SCA3, SCA6, and SCA17 loci in overall cohort. Figure 1 from Wang et al, Neurology 2015
Figure 2: Forest plot of effect sizes of SCA2, SCA3, SCA6, and SCA17 loci in Asian population, Figure 2 from Wang et al, Neurology 2015
Figure 3: Forest plot of effect sizes of SCA2, SCA3, SCA6, and SCA17 loci in Caucasian population, Figure 3 from Wang et al, Neurology 2015
Figure 4: Density plots comparing allelic distribution of repeat lengths for SCA2, SCA3, SCA6, and SCA17, complete cohorts , Figure e1 Figure from Wang et al, Neurology 2015
Figure 5: Forest Plot of LRRK2 rs1491942 and PARK16 rs1124072 in PD cases and controls in Caucasian, Asian, and combined series. Supplementary Figure 1 from Wang et al, Neurobiology of Aging 2017
Figure 6: PD prevalence rates between GP and T1D patients 81
Figure 7: Penetrance versus Frequency, Figure 1 adapted from Lill C 2016, Mol Cell Probes

Funding

Funding was provided through the Institute of Clinical Epidemiology and Biometry, the Institute of Medical Virology, the Center for Genetic Epidemiology, the Michael J. Fox Foundation, and the EU Joint Program on Neurodegenerative diseases (EU-JPND).

Acknowledgements

I would like to acknowledge Dr. Sharma for his guidance and support, without whom this thesis would not have been possible. I would also to thank acknowledge Prof. Martus for his support and wisdom. I would also like to thank Dr. Inka Montero for her help and guidance in navigating the process. Lastly, I would like to thank for my partner Stephan Rink, for helping me finding the patience to finish it, and my parents, for not asking too frequently regarding its progress.